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2021/22 Welcome 

I am incredibly proud to lead such a dedicated and committed team that is focussed on 
improving the health and wellbeing of Warrington’s communities. This year’s Annual Report 
further demonstrates how the people of NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
continued to rise to challenges brought by the ongoing pandemic. 

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, we have continued to maintain our high standards and have continued to 
deliver our vision and values while working closely with NHS Halton CCG and Warrington Borough Council.  

One of the biggest challenges of the year was undoubtedly the country’s response to the Omicron variant. We 
supported the system response to the booster vaccination programme following the urgent call on 12 December 
2021 for all eligible adults to be boosted by the end of 2021. Following the Prime Minister’s announcement, 
31,036 citizens in Warrington received a booster vaccination before 31 December 2021. This is an amazing 
number of vaccinations delivered in a two-week period – my sincere thanks to all those involved.  

Many of our CCG staff were redeployed to support the vaccination programme and I am extremely grateful for 
the commitment, willingness, and professionalism they showed. You can read more about our response in the 
year’s highlights section.  

Like other organisations, we’ve adapted to new ways of working. In line with national guidance and the lifting of 
restrictions, we’ve opened our offices to staff when it has been safe to do so while still enabling remote working 
where that is the preferred choice.  

As well as continuing to respond to the pandemic, we have continued to put plans in place for a smooth transition 
into the Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care System (ICS). This new way of working with partners will allow 
us to meet health and care needs across Warrington, coordinate services so we can improve population health 
and reduce health inequalities. You can read more about this in the Performance Overview.  

I’m extremely proud to say that, despite the challenges mentioned above, we have been able to maintain regular 
and meaningful communication with the community and partners in health and social care. We have also 
continued to work closely with our patient participation groups and, as always, I’m extremely grateful for their 
invaluable contributions.
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Everything that has been achieved this year has come through long hours of hard work and, in many cases, 
teams going above and beyond what would normally be required. I am proud to work alongside such a 
committed group of people.  

I am immensely proud of how our member GP practices continue to react and adapt to the challenges of COVID-
19. Centrally published appointment data shows that practices are now seeing more patients than they were pre-
pandemic with consultations undertaken face-to-face as well as remotely.  

GP practices, working in PCN groupings have offered flu and COVID-19 vaccinations to all patients identified by 
the Joint Council on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) whilst improving the provision of proactive and 
personalised health and social care for people close to home. 

Dr Ian Watson 
Chair  
NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 
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2021/22 Highlights and Achievements of the Year 

Vaccinations 
Our Primary Care Networks (PCNs), pharmacy, and hospital sites have continued to vaccinate residents aged as 
young as five against COVID-19.  

87% of the eligible citizens in Warrington are now fully vaccinated against COVID-19 thanks to the tireless work 
of the borough’s vaccinators. As well as the 31,000 boosters being administered between 14 December and 31 
December, 1,043 people came forward for their first dose and 1,278 people got their second jab during this 
period.  

Prime Minister Boris Johnson paid tribute to Dr Laura Mount and Warrington’s vaccinators in his national 
televised briefing, and invited Dr Mount and her team to a private video call in December.  

The Prime Minister said: “This Christmas will be significantly better than last year thanks to the work you 
do. I know you must be exhausted. It was a massive task that we asked of you, but you and the 
public have responded brilliantly. It’s an amazing thing you’re doing.”  

Our GPs will continue to invite and call forward those eligible for vaccination in line with guidance from the Joint 
Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI).  

Employer recognition scheme 
Together with NHS Halton CCG, we received the Bronze Award for the Defence Employer Recognition Award. 
The award means we are forces-friendly and open to employing reservists, veterans, cadet instructors and 
military partners. We’re proud to say we are already working towards the Silver Award. 

Pain management 
Together with NHS Halton CCG, we held a Complex Pain and Pain Management event. The event focussed on 
the ongoing work around improvements to patient experiences and outcomes for those living with chronic and 
complex pain.  
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Safeguarding 
The Designated Nurses are members of both adults and children’s National Safeguarding Networks and we have 
inputted into national agendas and influencing. 

For 2021/22 there has been Warrington Designated Nurse involvement in the Adult Safeguarding Network 
around equity and to support a national drive to influence the Department of Health and Social Care to review the 
gaps and lack of parity between health safeguarding processes that remain between adult and children: 

• continued support to primary care during the reporting year with specific areas of focus/ training sessions 
delivered at each practice’s safeguarding lead’s meeting 

• safeguarding quality indicators have been included in the Primary Care Quality Framework to underpin 
practice visits  

• the Designated and Named Nurse team developed level three training packages to enhance safeguarding 
knowledge and skills in primary care, sharing from local and national reviews as part of the training 
programme 

• the ICON programme (information about infant crying and how to cope) training has been delivered and 
rolled out across Warrington, with a recording template developed and inserted into EMIS and SystmOne 
electronic systems to enable primary care to contribute to the programme, as their contact with parents at 
six to eight weeks is significant 

• the small contracts framework is now in place and considered when commissioning new services to 
ascertain the level of safeguarding assurance required. Work has started in conjunction with NHS England 
and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) to develop an assurance framework for independent learning disability 
and mental health providers and individual placements.  
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Social media 

NHS Warrington CCG 
Facebook 

 

NHS Warrington CCG  
Twitter 
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2021/22 Performance Report 

2021 has again been an incredibly challenging year for all of us as we have continued to respond 
to the coronavirus pandemic, both in terms of the actions needed to protect our vital health 
service and ensure that we minimised illness and loss of life, but also the roll out of the COVID-
19 vaccination programme. 

I am immensely proud of the way in which we have 
worked collectively as a system, with our PCNs, local 
authority partners, providers, third sector colleagues 
and the army of volunteers that stood up to the 
challenge of delivering what has been the largest 
vaccination programme in our history. It is due to the 
incredible efforts of all those involved that the 
vaccination programme has been so successful and 
at the end of March a total of more than 166,000 
local people had received a vaccination, with 
thousands of people now being invited for their 
spring boosters. 

The pandemic has affected many of us over the last 
two years, and sadly many of us have lost loved 
ones. Regardless of this, I am incredibly proud of 
colleagues in the CCG and across health and care 
partners have continued to deliver quality health and 
care services across the town and I am humbled by 
the commitment and dedication demonstrated each 
and every day.  

This year has also been a year of preparing for 
change and the transition to the new Integrated Care 

Board and our evolving places. Working closely with 
our local authority partners, providers and third 
sector colleagues, our ‘Warrington Place’ partnership 
has continued to go from strength to strength, with 
the formal establishment of our Warrington Together 
Partnership Board and appointment of our local 
Place Director. 

Health inequalities also remains high on our agenda, 
and we have continued to work closely with our 
Public Health colleagues to prioritise resources 
towards those adversely at risk from inequality. This 
new impetus has built upon a strong culture of equity 
and equality that has been in place taking us forward 
at pace and with new focus. There is no 
complacency though and still much more to do 
together. 

The Annual Report captures the work of the year and 
demonstrates the mutual strength of our partnerships 
across the system. Inclusive partnerships between 
the statutory organisation and our strong voluntary, 
community and faith sectors. And most importantly 
with our patients, practices, and communities. 
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Collectively we have overcome the challenges of the pandemic and have successfully moved back to more 
normal recovery position, bringing services back on stream, but also taking the learning from the last two years to 
improve service delivery and transform the way services are delivered to keep people safe, well and cared for 
years to come. 

Dr Andrew Davies  
Accountable Officer  
NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 
22 June 2022 
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Statement of purpose and activities of the CCG 
What we do 

We are NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and we are responsible for the 
commissioning of NHS services used by our residents. With a £370 million budget allocation in 
2021/22, we work to get the best health outcomes we can for the 220,000 people who live in our 
town. 

Reporting to NHSE/I, we are a membership organisation, comprised of local general practices, and accountable 
to local people. We maintain our authorisation by demonstrating to NHSE how we are meeting our 
responsibilities through a detailed assurance process. 

We commission providers such as Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WHHFT), 
Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust (MCFT). and Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
(BCHFT) – as well as specialist services further afield. 

We pay for these services on behalf of Warrington residents and monitor providers to make sure they are 
delivering the right care at the right price. We study their figures, look at patient feedback and carry out checks. 
We also provide assurance to NHSE that quality and performance standards are met and in line with national 
healthcare policy.  

We are a clinically-led membership organisation of our 26 local GP practices. This approach means that health 
professionals with current patient experience and expertise are leading the decisions we make. 

We work closely with Warrington Borough Council to make sure health and social care are linked together 
whenever possible for the benefit of our communities. 

Everything we do has the people we serve at its centre. We actively seek out the views and experiences of the 
people of Warrington in order to shape our work. 
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Case study: Health Forum… our ‘sounding board’ 

The Health Forum is our strategic engagement forum and sounding board which reports directly to the 
Governing Body and Quality Committee. The public Chair of the Health Forum is also an integral member of 
our Governing Body and NHS Warrington CCG Quality Committee, which is a sub-committee of the Governing 
Body.  

More information including the group’s terms of reference can be found on our website. 

The Health Forum continued to meet virtually in 2021/22, following the amended ground rules and online 
meeting etiquette. The Health Forum remained extremely supportive of local NHS services and the continued 
prioritisation of COVID-19. The Health Forum continually thank not only NHS Warrington CCG but all involved 
in the NHS.  

During 2021/22 the Health Forum’s governance reporting changed due to the pressures facing committees 
because of COVID-19 and the transfer to the ICB. However, the patient voice remained an integral part of NHS 
Warrington CCG’s work and the forum feedback: when not reporting directly back to the Quality Committee, 
the Forum fed back to the relevant commissioner for action.  

Topics and discussions at the Health Forum throughout 2021/22 include:  

• Update on COVID-19 including the vaccination roll-out  

• GP Out of Hours procurement exercise 

• eConsult 

• Duty to Involve training 

• Operational Planning 

• System pressures 

• ICB and ‘place’ updates 

• Complex pain 

• A&E Streaming and Care Navigators 

• Workshop for patient/people voice for Warrington Together. 

https://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/how-we-listen-and-engage/how-we-listen-and-engage-in-warrington/health-forum
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The Chair of the Health Forum continues to be a valued member of NHS Warrington CCG’s Governing Body. 
This has not only strengthened the role of the Health Forum and the patient’s voice within our work but also 
assures the Governing Body that we are adhering to our legal obligations to involve patients and the public. 
This role has continued to evolve and ensures the voice of the patient is at the heart of all discussions and, 
more importantly, decision making.  

Patient Participation Groups (PPG) and the PPG Together (PPGT)  

We have continued to support virtual Patient Participation Group meetings by offering to supply Microsoft (MS) 
Teams links, user guides and support. Our PPG Together meetings continue to share best practices across 
PPGs and offer support and advice to newly formed groups.  
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If Warrington was a 
village of 100 people… 

Warrington has a population of 209,397 
people. This graphic uses statistics from 
Public Health England to show how many 
people in Warrington would have certain 
health conditions if it was a village of just 
100 people. 
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Organisational structure 
Our organisational structure is integrated with NHS Halton CCG. We have strong joint working 
arrangements, enabling us to share our skills with one another. Many staff continue to work from 
home as part of our new agile way of working and are also able to work from the new single 
premises for both CCGs at Lakeside. 
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NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG have worked collaboratively together for several years and have 
shared posts for the statutory positions of Clinical Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse. These 
roles form part of an Integrated Management Team arrangement that has been in place since June 2018 with 
lead officers and portfolios as detailed below in line with the CCGs statutory duties and work priorities. Integrated 
teams now work across both CCGs to deliver organisational priorities. 

The CCG staffing structure works across teams that have responsibilities in the areas of commissioning, quality, 
finance, contracts and performance, communications and engagement, information technology and corporate 
services (including risk and governance). Clinical expertise to commissioning activities is provided from a group 
of clinical leads, each with a defined remit and focus. 

Strategic objectives, visions and values  
The visions and values of an organisation provide direction for everything that happens.  

They:  

• keep everyone focused on where the organisation is going and what it is trying to achieve 

• encompass all our work: how we work with our staff, our patients and our partners, they should reflect all 
teams, all levels of governance and management and reflect how we work both externally and internally 

• contribute to the shared culture of NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG 

• bind people together as one team 

• provide people with a common language 

• contribute to the vitality and performance of NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG. 

Our values are everything we do from how we treat and engage with our staff, how we work with our partners 
and providers, and how we expect patients to be treated and cared for. 

The ‘message house’ diagram on the next page shows the vision of NHS Warrington CCG as the roof, supported 
by the strategic objectives, and underpinned by the values. 
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Our priorities and 
strategies 
In March 2021, NHS England (NHSE) 
issued the 2021/22 Priorities and 
Operational Planning Guidance. This 
document sets out the annual planning 
expectations of the NHS for 2021/22. As 
the local system leaders, NHS Warrington 
CCG produced a plan in response.  

This plan was produced by the commissioning 
team leads with support from the Programme 
Management Office (PMO) and the engagement 
of local stakeholders including, healthcare 
providers, the Health Forum, Warrington Borough 
Council, and primary care.  

Progress against the plan was assessed monthly 
at our Commissioning and Service Development 
Group (CSDG) and reported to the Governing 
Body on a quarterly basis. 

This section of the Annual Report will set out the 
key commissioning elements of the operational 
plan. 
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Background 

A House of Care has been developed previously and is updated according to each year’s operational guidance 
to visually illustrate the commissioning priorities. 

The ‘foundations’ of the House of Care set out the underpinning principles and expectations for health care 
delivery. These are crucial in supporting the delivery of and maximising the impact of our commissioning 
activities.  

The ‘pillars’ of the House of Care are the NHSE operational requirements, plus key local change programmes, 
developed to address significant unwarranted variation in activity, quality, and outcomes for people. 
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Each commissioning priority was assigned a lead commissioner to take responsibility for delivering the national 
requirements. Action plans and milestone targets were developed for each area as a means of ensuring delivery. 
The action plans are live documents and are reviewed by the Chief Commissioner and the relevant lead 
commissioners on a regular basis throughout the year. 

NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG receive progress updates each quarter through the joint PMO and 
these are monitored via a Joint Commissioning Oversight Group (JCOG) with clinical Oversight from a 
Commissioning and Service Development Group (CSDG). The CSDG reports key issues to the Governing Body 
via the Chief Commissioner’s reports. 

The CSDG and JCOG also report to: 

• The Integrated Management Team 

• Quality and Finance Committees 

• Performance Committees  

• and / or to the integrated agenda of the joint Quality and Finance and Performance Committee.  

Key issues reporting from the CSDG are reported to the Governing Body via the Chief Commissioner’s reports.  

Creating the right foundations 

In order to ensure the delivery of commissioning priorities for 2021/22 the original set of enabling foundations 
was further developed and are as follows: 

• Prevention and self-care 

• Primary Care Networks (PCNs)  

• Reducing health inequalities. 

These are outlined on the next page. 

Warrington Health and Wellbeing Board  

The Health and Wellbeing Board supports the delivery of the Warrington Health and Wellbeing Strategy vision: 
‘Warrington is a place where we work together to create a borough with stronger neighbourhoods, healthier 
people and greater equality across all our communities.’ 
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The CCG has been a key partner in the Health and Wellbeing Board and has supported the development of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The strategy has influenced local commissioning priorities and transformation 
programmes. The strategy also forms the basis of the developing Warrington Together Partnership Board. 

Our core outcomes 
• People will live longer and those years will be lived in good health (increased healthy life expectancy for 

all) 

• The gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived communities in the borough will be 
reduced. 

A lot of people in Warrington experience good health and wellbeing. Many follow healthy lifestyles, feel fit and 
healthy and enjoy the benefits of being part of an ambitious and prosperous borough. However, this is not the 
case for all. One of the biggest challenges facing Warrington is the inequalities caused by socio-economic 
deprivation and the impact this has on the health and wellbeing of individuals and communities. 
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Our key priorities 

Over the last 12 months, 
considerable work has taken 
place around the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA). This 
has looked at a number of 
different data sources that can 
support us with assessing 
localised needs and priorities. 
Services are then commissioned 
with the aim to tackle these 
priority areas within the town.  

The Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is currently being 
reviewed and refreshed. The 
emerging key priorities for the 
Health and Wellbeing ddddd are: 

• Living well 

• Food poverty 

• Mental health. 
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The commissioning cycle 

The commissioning cycle is an ongoing process 
that has patients and the public at the heart and 
is made up of a range of activities including 
quality assurance and monitoring. In line with 
our legal duty, we ensure the public is involved 
in the planning of services and the development 
and consideration of proposals for changes and 
decisions which, if implemented, would have an 
impact on service.  

We are fully committed to involving and 
engaging our patients and the public, not only to 
ensure we are meeting our legal duties but so 
we can be assured we have the best healthcare 
services that meet the needs of our diverse 
community. We have worked with our Health 
Forum and Patient Participation Group Together 
(PPGT) to listen to their feedback and use this 
insight to inform change. 
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NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board 
We all want the very best health and wellbeing for our families, friends, communities and for 
ourselves. And when we need to access health and care services, we want these to provide us 
with the best care and the best outcomes. 

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, we engaged extensively across our partnership to understand the key health 
and wellbeing issues for our people and communities. 

This engagement reinforced that we need to address several significant and well-documented challenges. These 
are not unique to Cheshire and Merseyside, although some problems are worse for us locally. 

Stroke, suicide, alcohol-related harm, and death from violent crime were all identified for targeted whole system 
action, together with better access to services in deprived communities. 

To achieve our vision, we will need to make 
some tough decisions. But we must be 
resolute in our ambition to collaborate to 
deliver improved health and wellbeing for the 
2.7 million people of all ages living across our 
communities. 

We have seen that it can be done. Throughout 
the pandemic, a shared purpose has enabled 
us all to fully appreciate each partner’s 
contribution. It’s vital to build on this as we 
consider our future ways of working. 

You can find out more about the ICB’s visions 
and objectives and the benefits of integrated 
working on the Cheshire and Merseyside 
Healthcare Partnership website.  

  

https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/ics-development/
https://www.cheshireandmerseysidepartnership.co.uk/ics-development/
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Key issues and risks 
The Corporate Risk Register is a joint register held across both NHS Halton CCG and NHS 
Warrington CCG. Identified risks are either place-based risks for Warrington or joint risks across 
both CCGs.  

As of 31 March 2022, there are several highly rated risks facing the CCG. In addition to the continuing impact 
from the COVID-19 pandemic and the CCG’s capacity to respond to manage the adverse effects on the local 
population, an additional risk has been managed to ensure the due diligence, safe transition and close down of 
the CCG. 

The high rated operational risks identified, managed and mitigated throughout the year are as follows: 

• Potential breach of contract caused by an immediate closure of a GP practice, resulting in reduced patient 
experience. Work was completed to ensure relevant arrangements were in place to monitor and oversee 
potential issues 

• Possible risk to the delivery of CCG objectives in terms of patient and public engagement, as a result of 
changes to the commissioning landscape and transition to Integrated Care Systems (ICS). Work is 
ongoing to mitigate this risk, particularly in respect of work at place-bases 

• Risk of loss of financial authority as a result of temporary financial arrangements. This risk has been 
closed in year following the establishment of robust arrangements including the development of a financial 
strategy and plan 

• Long-term absence has created a risk to the delivery of the CCG statutory function in relation to 
safeguarding. This risk remains open and under close surveillance and has been acknowledged to be a 
wider issue across CCGs in the Cheshire and Merseyside area 

• The recovery of elective activity to address lengthy waiting lists, following the declaration of the pandemic 
has increased the risk in avoidable harm and deterioration in patient’s conditions. This risk has been 
closed in year as is now closely monitored via relevant contract and quality group meetings with 
performance data regularly reported to the relevant committees 

• There is a continuing risk that there will not be sufficient capacity to support the CCG-related business with 
an ability to recruit and retain staff due to the transition from CCG to the Integrated Care Board (ICB). This 
risk remains open and is actively monitored and reported on 
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• A potential risk exists relating to data errors or misinformation for staff on the Electronic Staff Record 
(ESR). This risk remains open and is being reviewed and managed as part of the transition and close-
down arrangements in the CCG.  

The Governing Body regularly reviews key risks and assurances on how those risks are being mitigated. All risks 
are monitored via various management tiers, including committees and the Governing Body.  

The risks are described in more detail in the Governance Statement. 

System sustainability 
As previously reported, lead partners from across the health system in Halton and Warrington 
submitted a shared system recovery plan for NHS England in August 2019. This recovery plan 
demonstrated a commitment and an agreed approach for redressing the health economy’s 
financial challenge over the next five years. The plan aimed to deliver clinically and financially 
sustainable health care services for the population of Halton and Warrington by 2023/24.  

The original document set out revised arrangements for commissioners and providers to work together in 
recommending an overall strategic direction for the integration of health and care services for the Halton and 
Warrington population. The ethos of partnership working will underpin the programme of work while at the same 
time recognising that, on occasion, difficult decisions may be required for the benefit of the Halton and 
Warrington population. 

The original Chief Executive Oversight Group (CEOG) and the associated Collaborative Sustainability Group 
(CSG) led the development and implementation of the recovery plan supported by NHS Warrington CCG’s 
Programme Management Office (PMO). Due to the impact of COVID-19, and the associated pressures on the 
NHS, work around the recovery plan stalled.  

CEOG and CSG were subsequently replaced by a wider System Sustainability Group (SSG) with a revised 
Terms of Reference (TOR) and membership. The new group continues to recognise the primacy of place and will 
engage with place-based structures and local change programmes to achieve effective delivery of their 
objectives.  
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The System Sustainability Group (SSG) will ensure delivery of our commitment to achieve a sustainable health 
and care system by enacting an agreed work plan.  

The scope of the System Recovery Plan is:  

• NHS Warrington CCG 

• NHS Halton CCG 

• Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

• Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  

• Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust 

• Warrington Borough Council 

• Halton Borough Council. 

The primary focus of the SSG work plan continues to be the development of secure sustainable health services 
in Halton and Warrington. This will be achieved through the transformation of service provision and step-change 
improvements in service quality. The work plan demonstrates a shared aim to keep people well and happy in 
their own homes wherever possible. The Group will adhere and apply, where applicable, the system recovery 
principles set out in the group TORs in transforming services.  

Through its revised membership and refreshed terms of reference, the SSG will provide oversight and direction, 
collaboratively identifying system-wide priorities to ensure long-term sustainability across the Health and Care 
system. This way of working creates shared solutions to jointly owned problems, rather than organisational fixes 
to siloed issues. The latter is often disruptive to system goals and more limited in terms of resolving collective 
deficits. 
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Response to COVID-19  

COVID-19 primary care assessment service 

As part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic, NHS Warrington CCG commissioned a COVID-19 face-to-
face assessment service for Warrington residents. The service was provided by a Community Interest Company 
(CIC) known as Quay Healthcare (formerly known as Warrington Health Plus).  

The service covered all 26 practices and ensured that anyone with COVID-19 or suspected of having COVID-19 
with a primary medical need could still be seen face-to-face by a healthcare professional. 

COVID-19 Assessment Units or ‘hot hubs’, as they were sometimes known, reduced infection risk to general 
practices by ensuring COVID-19-positive or COVID-19 symptomatic patients were seen in a limited number of 
locations.  

This service enabled practices in Warrington to optimise their own services for patients without COVID-19 while 
reducing the potential for infectious patients entering the building, thereby protecting patients and staff.  

Patients initially contacted their own practice and had a telephone/video consultation, which, if required, was 
followed by a face-to-face appointment or a home visit. The assessment was undertaken primarily by 
paramedics, who would then advise the patient as to the next steps.  

As the world started to open up and primary care returned to pre-pandemic ways of working, some practices set 
up ‘hot zones’ in their own buildings. Most practices, however, have continued to commission a telephone-based 
approach for their COVID-19-positive or COVID-19 symptomatic patients, providing follow-up home visits if 
necessary.  
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Patients responded positively to our COVID response with comments such as: 

“Very happy. Professional and 
quickly sorted.” 

“Thank you. Really nice doctor, made my son feel at ease and was 
very clear with information.” 

Comments from practices included:   

“Overall good service and helpful. 
Thank you for all your hard work and 
help lessen the pressure on primary 
care. Your service is valued.” 

“Very happy with the service. Had some sensible conversations with 
the Paramedics who have come across as motivated competent 
practitioners. I feel they have hugely benefitted Warrington Primary 
care and the Warrington populace. Well done to everyone involved.” 

 

Case study: Oximetry at home 

The COVID-19 Oximetry at Home service is in place across Warrington. Pulse oximeters are provided to 
patients to support and monitor people at home who have been diagnosed with coronavirus and are most at 
risk of becoming seriously unwell. Pulse oximetry can help with earlier detection of silent hypoxia, where 
people have low oxygen levels in the absence of significant shortness of breath. This can help ensure more 
timely hospital treatment if required. 
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COVID-19 vaccination 
programme 

The graphs below show the amount of 
first and second doses of COVID-19 
vaccinations which have been 
administered in Warrington. This data 
has been provided by the National 
Immunisation Management Service 
(NIMS) within the reporting period. 

For statistics on the COVID-19 
vaccination uptake, visit the NHS 
England website 

COVID-19 vaccinations in 
Warrington at 31 March 2022 

Dose Number (%) 

At least 1 dose 
(aged 12+) 

166,050 (91.9%) 

At least 2 doses 
(aged 12+) 

157,647 (87.5%) 

At least 3 doses 
(aged 16+) 

125,491 (73.8%) 
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http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/covid-19-vaccinations/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/covid-19-vaccinations/
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Case study: Spreading the vaccine, not the virus 

One year of COVID-19 vaccinations  

In December 2021, we celebrated Warrington’s COVID-19 
vaccination programme’s one-year anniversary. The first 
person to receive a COVID-19 vaccination in Warrington 
was Dr Philip Leech, who received his jab just one week 
after Margaret Keenan became the first person in the world 
to receive the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 jab following its 
clinical approval. 

By 7 December 2021, as many as 147,000 people in 
Warrington had had both jabs and more than 45,000 had 
received the booster jab. Watch a video of Dr Laura Mount 
reflecting on one year of COVID-19 vaccinations. 

The COVID-19 vaccination programme is the biggest and most 
complex vaccination programme undertaken by the NHS. Multi-
agency teams have worked extremely hard to deliver this 
programme over the last year and continue to do so. 

Get Boosted Now  

In response to the Omicron variant, the Prime Minister announced 
that all those aged 18 and over would have the chance to get their 
booster by the end of 2021. 

Working closely with partners, stakeholders and local media, we 
developed a suite of materials to promote the region’s various 
walk-in vaccination centres and to remind residents of the 
importance of getting vaccinated.  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nDlfMaf4ahs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nDlfMaf4ahs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nDlfMaf4ahs
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We asked local residents why they were choosing to get their jab as soon as possible. You can listen to their 
reasons in this short video.  

Prime Minister hails tireless vaccinators  

The Prime Minister paid tribute to the extraordinary efforts of Warrington’s COVID-19 vaccinators and in 
particular the work done to reduce health inequalities. 

In a private video call, Boris Johnson and his wife Carrie met with Dr Laura Mount and her vaccination team, 
including Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, to find out more about Warrington’s vaccination programme and 
to thank staff for their tireless work.  

During the call, Boris Johnson thanked the vaccinators for their “exhausting work” in protecting the people of 
Warrington. He said: “This Christmas will be significantly better than last year thanks to the work you do. I know 
you must be exhausted. It was a massive task that we asked of you, but you and the public have responded 
brilliantly. It’s an amazing thing you’re doing.” 

Performance Overview 

Financial performance summary 

As of 31 March 2022, NHS Warrington CCG delivered a £0.1 million surplus, delivering the 2021/22 control totals 
(break-even) for the two halves of the financial year. This position is reported following the allocation of 
significant non-recurrent funding to support the NHS’ response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCG’s underlying 
financial position remains challenging. 

The Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) has been achieved, with £40.934 million reported expenditure, at 
an increase of 4.86% (allocation growth 4.09%) on prior year-related expenditure. 

Statutory financial duties 

Expenditure limit 
Expenditure in a financial year must not exceed income £0.07 million surplus 

https://twitter.com/WarringtonCCG/status/1484828241365975043?s=20&t=Hz8cGLNvxXcrhmoEiFwo1g
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Revenue Resource limit 
Revenue resource use must not exceed the amount specified by NHS 
England 

£0.07 million surplus

Capital Resource Limit 
Capital resource use must not exceed the amount specified by NHS England  Breakeven

Running costs 
Revenue administration resource use must not exceed the amount specified 
by NHS England 

Breakeven

Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) 
The CCG must invest, above CCG programme allocation growth percentage, 
in mental health services 

Compliant

Operational performance summary 

This performance overview provides information about who we are, what we do, our achievements this financial 
year and how well we have performed in addition to detailing our key risks and how we manage them. 

The report includes several key statements supporting the financial year-end reporting and the annual 
accounting requirements for the whole of the NHS and is subject to audit review. 

As covered elsewhere in this report, we have continued to work closely with our local Primary Care Networks, 
local authority partners, providers and third sector colleagues to the evolving challenges and priorities of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  

Whilst the pandemic meant some of our plans were paused in 2020, we have still been able to progress work to 
continue to improve services for local people. 

We would like to take this opportunity to extend our sincere gratitude to all our staff, member practices, partners, 
providers, third sector colleagues and the many volunteers across Warrington who continue to work tirelessly in 
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response to the pandemic. It is through their commitment and hard work going above and beyond that we have 
been able to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and deliver an incredibly successful vaccination programme. 

Contract Performance Notices 
Continuing Healthcare Contracts 

During 2021/22, Contract Performance Notices were issued to Harbour Healthcare (The Old Vicarage Nursing 
and Residential Care Centre – September 2021) and Heart to Heart Care NW Limited (December 2021) 
following a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection where the provider was rated as ‘inadequate’.  

Service improvement plans were developed for both providers to address the concerns regarding safety and 
leadership raised by the CQC. Both Warrington Borough Council and NHS Warrington CCG Quality Assurance 
teams continue to work in collaboration with these providers to support them in making the required 
improvements and receive assurances about progress made. 

In December 2021, a Contract Performance Notice that was in place with London and Manchester Healthcare 
Limited (Gainsborough House Nursing Home) was closed following a CQC re-inspection in November 2021 with 
a rating of ‘requires improvement’. NHS Warrington CCG’s Quality Assurance team continues to support the 
home as required. 

Duty to reduce health inequalities 

Reduction of inequalities under section 14T of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 has been challenging for the 
NHS both nationally and locally and working within the restraints of a global pandemic. There continues to be 
significant pressure on our health and social care system and a challenging financial position. However, we 
continue to work to reduce health inequalities and ensure NHS services are fit for the long term.  

The Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities area of the NHS Oversight Framework includes oversight 
metrics to demonstrate that we are improving the health and wellbeing of our population and addressing health 
inequalities, where appropriate with our partners. 

We have embedded reducing health inequalities in all aspects of its commissioning processes and there is the 
requirement to consider the impact on health inequalities more fully in its business cases. The Quality Impact 
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Assessment and Equality Impact Assessment processes are now firmly embedded in the commissioning cycle 
and governance. 

NHS Warrington CCG actively uses data to identify any inequalities in access, provision, or outcomes. NHS 
Warrington CCG has been a key partner in the review and refresh of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA). This has outlined a number of key themes and priorities.  

The emerging key priorities for the Health and Wellbeing Board are living well, food poverty and mental health. 

NHS Warrington CCG has further developed work around Population Health Management (PHM). A variety of 
data sources have been used to outline key transformation strands where outcomes locally are significantly 
below the national average. Key areas of transformation are respiratory, healthy livers/gastro, frailty (now 
expanded to wider ageing well), cardiovascular disease (CVD) and coronary heart disease (CHD), and complex 
pain. Right Care data has been used to support this enabling us to outline new pathways to improve provision, 
access and outcomes. 

As we move towards the establishment of an Integrated Care System (ICS), NHS Warrington CCG is part on the 
national ICS Population Health and Place Development Programme. This focuses on transforming services and 
pathways across care settings – adopting an improvement approach rooted in population needs and addressing 
inequalities.  

The programme adopts an approach which traverses organisational boundaries and clinical pathways, and: 

• spreads progress on data and digitally enabled care and frictionless workforce models 

• supports an understanding of risk within the population and wider drivers of ill-health and hospitalisation, 

which may have been exacerbated during the pandemic 

• enables the shift from reactive to proactive health and wellbeing management, underpinned by enabling 

governance and delivery models 

• capitalises on the cultural shift and social movement around population health and PHM 

• uses insight to drive inclusive restoration and target unmet needs, maximising out of hospital care models 

across place-based teams 

• puts the citizen and needs of communities at the heart of local partnerships and decisions, and unites 

teams around common purpose and vision. 
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Module C of the programme focuses on supporting local health and care professionals in establishing practical 
PHM interventions and providing proactive and preventative care centred around the whole person. The local 
focus is around pre-frailty. 

NHS Warrington CCG supported work to protect the most vulnerable from COVID-19, with enhanced data 
analysis and community engagement. This helped mitigate the risks associated with relevant protected 
characteristics and social and economic conditions, and better engaged those communities who need most 
support.  

Building on analysis of local inequalities data, the Halton and Warrington Communication and Engagement 
system group have worked collaboratively to extend the reach of communication and engagement activities 
across the community. The priority was to ensure that messages around COVID-19 were accessible and shared 
with more vulnerable and harder to reach communities. For COVID-19 vaccinations specifically, a Health 
Inequalities Plan was developed to ensure all citizens could easily access vaccines.  

To compliment the data, NHS Warrington CCG has been collaborating with local authority partners and third 
sector organisations. We appointed Community Champions to work with specific communities to understand their 
concerns and barriers to accessing the vaccination programme.  

We have undertaken health inequalities training with CCG staff to strengthen the importance and understanding 
of health inequalities and the impact when commissioning services. To support the training, a document was 
produced with the support of our CSU provider colleagues. This was called ‘Knowing Our Patch’ – exploring our 
local demographics and health inequalities data. 

Dr Andrew Davies, Clinical Chief Officer is our named executive board member. In addition, three GP 
representatives from our Governing Bodies sit on the Northwest Regional BAME (Black, Asian, and Minority 
Ethnic) Strategic Advisory Board. Our Governing Body has undertaken equality and inclusion training, and an 
action plan been developed with regards to a five-year plan to achieve BAME representation at Board and Senior 
level. 

Equality, diversity and human rights commitment  

Promoting equality is at the heart of our core values, ensuring that we commission services fairly and that all 
communities are involved and engaged in the changes that are made to health services to meet the challenges 
the NHS faces, as outlined in the Five Year Forward View and NHS Long Term Plan.  
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We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community and voluntary sector, and 
other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity and meet the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED).  

NHS Warrington CCG’s Health Forum is the ‘sounding board’ for patient and public engagement, reporting 
directly to NHS Warrington CCG’s Joint Quality Committee, which is a sub-committee of the Governing Body. 
The Health Forum’s membership includes representation from the community, third sector, and voluntary groups, 
in addition to Healthwatch Warrington and public governors from the main provider organisations. This group 
strengthens our model for engagement, involvement, and consultation, and provides more robust scrutiny of our 
work and management of risks.  

Due regard to the Equality Act 2010 

We are required to pay ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined by the Equality Act 
2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial, and reputational risks.  

The key functions that enable us to make commissioning decisions, and monitor the performance of our 
providers, must demonstrate that the needs of protected groups have been considered in:  

• commissioning processes  

• consultation and engagement  

• procurement functions  

• contract specifications  

• quality contract and performance schedules  

• governance systems.  

We are required to meet our PSED across a range of protected characteristics, including age, disability, gender, 
gender reassignment, race, sexual orientation, religion/belief, marital/civil partnership status and 
pregnancy/maternity status. We also consider other characteristics such as homelessness, carers, low income, 
and military veterans.  

‘Due regard’ is a legal requirement and means that the decision-makers of NHS Warrington CCG have to give 
advanced consideration to issues of ‘equality, inclusion, and discrimination before making any commissioning 
decision or policy that may impact people who share protected characteristics. It is crucial to consider equality 
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implications as integral to all the work and activities across NHS Warrington CCG, particularly during these 
difficult and challenging times.  

We continue to carry out equality impact assessments (EIAs). These assessments test the proposal and say 
whether it meets PSED and ultimately complies with the Equality Act 2010. Failure to carry out equality 
considerations could be grounds for judicial review and may result in poor outcomes and widen health 
inequalities. As many as 20 Equality Impact Assessments have been undertaken this year on our services.  

Some examples of our Equality Impact Assessments are: 

• GP Safeguarding Policy 

• Emergency and urgent care 

• COVID-19 vaccination programme 

• Online consultations 

• Maternity Review.

Equality and Inclusion mandatory training 

In 2021, our target was to increase the compliance rate for Equality and Inclusion training to 85%. We have 
exceeded this and our completion rate for staff is currently 88.7%. In addition, staff members have had access to 
Equality Impact Assessment training, Invisible Disability training and Unconscious Bias training. Equality and 
Inclusion is also addressed in the support, supervision, and appraisals for staff. 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)  

NHS Warrington CCG has completed WRES reporting to NHS England and published our WRES action plans. 
The data is reported to NHS England, which combines with larger data sets across England to analyse 
representation and experiences across NHS organisations – including CCGs.  

Due to relatively low numbers of staff employed by NHS Warrington CCG, the data sets on staff is potentially 
identifiable and therefore we are unable to publish this. We are able to publish our WRES action plan for 2021/22 
which provides the direction for improving our equality performance for our workforce.  

The main highlights are: 

• Ongoing support to staff via risk assessments and agile working checklists 

https://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/images/WRES_action_plan_2021-22.pdf
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• Staff Survey questions had a focus on equality and inclusion 

• Health Inequalities and Unconscious Bias training undertaken. 

Equality Delivery System (EDS2)  

Due to the transition to the ICB, NHS Warrington CCG will be producing an EDS2 closing-down report. The 
report will provide a summary and progress of the EDS2 activity and gradings as part of the closure of NHS 
Warrington CCG. This will then transfer into the ICB for their consideration. EDS3 will be launched by NHSE in 
2022. 

Accessible Information Standard (AIS) 

The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that people who have a disability, impairment, or 
sensory loss can access information they can understand, along with any communication support they need from 
health and care services. NHS Warrington CCG has produced its AIS Compliance Report for 2021/22.  

The report aims to give assurance regarding: 

• All NHS Warrington CCG employees with specific responsibility for producing accessible information are 
well informed about their roles and responsibilities 

• All NHS Warrington CCG employees are well informed Accessible Information Standard  

• Provider organisations are aware of the standard and meet the requirements of the standard in the 
provision of healthcare services to members of the public living in the NHS Warrington CCG area  

• NHS Warrington CCG is aware of how its resources and website complies with the Accessible Information 
Standard and Web Accessibility Guidelines and can identify any areas for improvement. 

  

https://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/images/Accessible_Information_Standard_Report_2021-2022.pdf
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Equality objectives 

The Quality Committee and the Governing Body at NHS Warrington CCG approved the Equality Objectives Plan 
(2019-23) in April 2019.  

NHS Warrington CCG’s equality objectives are to:  

• make fair and transparent commissioning decisions  

• improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience disadvantage  

• improve the equality performance of our providers through robust monitoring and collaboration  

• empower and engage our workforce.  

Key progress and highlights against our equality objectives over the past year include: 

• continuing to monitor and drive improvements in equality and public law  

• compliance across all key NHS providers through the quality contract schedule.  

Key highlights are:  

Military veterans  

We are proud that NHS Warrington CCG has signed the Armed Forces Covenant and registered at the bronze 
level of the Employer Recognition Scheme. The Defence Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) encourages 
employers to support defence veterans and inspire others to do the same. The scheme encompasses bronze, 
silver, and gold awards for employer organisations that pledge, demonstrate or advocate support for the defence 
and armed forces communities, and align their values with the Armed Forces Covenant. 

There is currently a small task and finish group who have been working on the application for the silver award, 
which is due in April 2022. A staff Teams channel has been created so that veterans, serving personnel and 
family members have a place to discuss anything relevant to their or their families’ service. An example of the 
silver award criteria is below: 

• The employer must proactively demonstrate that service personnel/armed forces community are not 
unfairly disadvantaged as part of their recruiting and selection processes 

• Employers should employ at least one individual from the AFC category that the nomination emphasises. 
For example, an employer nominated to support reserves must employ at least one reservist 

https://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/
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• The employer must actively ensure that their workforce is aware of their positive policies towards defence 
people issues. For example, an employer nominated for support to the reserves must have an internally 
publicised and positive HR policy on reserves 

• Within the context of reserves the employer must have demonstrated support to mobilisations or have a 
framework in place. They must demonstrate support to training by providing at least five days’ additional 
unpaid/paid leave (but wherever possible not to reservist employees’ financial disadvantage) 

• The employer must not have been the subject of any negative PR or media activity. 

Equality Champions 

The main responsibility of an Equality Champion is to raise the profile of Equality and Diversity and to act as a 
driver to enable positive action on equality issues within NHS Warrington CCG. Champions will be a catalyst to 
improve services or a specific rea of equality. Equality Champions are involved in completing EIAs and raising 
the profile of E&I in their teams. 

Each year, our Quality team reviews provider quality indicators in relation to equality and human rights. These 
are aligned to the NHS Contract and ensure that providers meet their statutory duties in relation to equality 
reporting.  

The Quality team also ensure the following standards are adhered to: 

• Accessible Information Standard 

• Equality Delivery System 

• Workforce Race Equality Standard 

• Disability Workforce Equality Standard.  

We will continue to address health inequalities within our commissioning, our partnership work and decision 
making and improvement planning. 
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Improving quality – quality assurance 

In a step to continue to reduce the burden on NHS organisations and to release capacity in the system in 
response to COVID-19, NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I) continued with the informed changes to 
governance, reporting and assurance. Further patient safety COVID-19 guidance was published on anticipated 
changes affecting some quality and patient safety functions, which included further updates as the year 
progressed. 

We conducted risk assessments of the implications and incorporated them into our quality surveillance and 
oversight governance. All clinical quality and performance meetings of commissioned services continued in 
virtual form and we worked across the system to ensure quality, safety, and a high-standard patient experience. 

We place quality at the core of the way we commission and monitor services. We do this by making clear and 
measurable expectations and then monitoring these standards closely.  

The Quality team has reviewed its Quality and Safeguarding Strategy and we have five key elements that drive 
this work: 

Patient safety  Patient experience Clinical 
effectiveness 

Responsiveness Being well led 

This is outlined in the Quality and Safeguarding Strategy.  

  

https://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/1862-nhs-halton-ccg-and-nhs-warrington-ccg-quality-and-safeguarding-strategy-2021-2022
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Performance against Care Quality Commission standards 

Organisations from which we commission care must meet essential standards of quality and safety, as defined 
by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

The current CQC ratings for NHS hospital and community provider trusts are as follows: 

NHS Trust Inspection date Domain results Overall inspection rating 

St Helens and 
Knowsley Hospitals 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

July-August 2018 Safe – Good  
Effective – Good 
Caring – Outstanding  
Responsive – Good  
Well Led – Outstanding 

Outstanding 

Warrington and 
Halton Teaching 
Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

March-May 2019 Safe – Good  
Effective –Good  
Caring – Good  
Responsive – Good  
Well Led – Good 

Good 

Mersey Care NHS 
Foundation Trust 

February 2020 Safe – Good 
Effective – Good 
Caring – Good 
Responsive – Good 
Well Led – Outstanding 

Good 

Bridgewater 
Community 
Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

September 2018 Safe – Requires Improvement  
Effective – Good  
Caring – Good  
Responsive – Good  
Well Led – Requires Improvement 

Requires Improvement 
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The current CQC rating for primary care GP services are as follows: 

Central and West Warrington Healthcare 
Network 

Causeway Medical Centre Good 

Dallam Lane Medical Centre Good

Eric Moore Partnership Good

Folly Lane Medical Centre Good

Guardian Medical Centre Good

Helsby Street Medical Centre Good

Penketh Medical Centre Good

 

East Warrington Network 

Birchwood Medical Centre Good 

Fearnhead Cross Medical 
Centre 

Good

Padgate Medical Centre Good

 

 

Warrington Central East Network 

Cockhedge Medical Centre Good 

Fairfield Surgery Good

Greenbank Surgery Good

Holes Lane Surgery Good

Manchester Road Surgery Good

 

Warrington South Network 

Brookfield Surgery Good 

The Lakeside Surgery Good

Latchford Medical Centre Good

Stockton Heath Medical 
Centre 

Good

Stretton Medical Centre Good
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Warrington Innovation Network 

Four Seasons Medical Centre 
(Dr Anita Malkhandi) 

Good 

Chapelford Medical Centre Good

Culcheth Medical Centre Good

Park View Medical Practice Good

Springfields Medical Centre Outstanding

Westbrook Medical Centre Good 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Full inspection reports can be viewed on the CQC website. 

The CQC has introduced the Emergency Support Framework which is an interim measure to be used in all 
health and social care settings registered with CQC during the pandemic with a new framework being developed 
for a period afterwards. Our Chief Nurse has remained in continuous contact with the CQC inspectors (via six 
weekly video conferencing meetings) to ensure that we have oversight of, and to discuss, any concerns. This has 
provided an opportunity to gather information and continue a transparent dialogue to ensure quality and safety 
oversight is maintained. 

We have developed a Quality Surveillance and Improvement Framework 2020-24. This is in line with the NHS 
Long Term Plan (Chapter 3), which sets out a clear vision for how the quality of services and outcomes is 
expected to improve over the next decade. 

Across our system, we strive to consistently commission a high level of service provision and delivery. The 
quality of services received by our local population and the experience of service-users are important factors in 
how we operate. With increasing pressure on health and social care services nationally it is crucial to ensure high 
standards of care are maintained and improvements are evidenced. 

https://www.cqc.org.uk/directory-care/search/find-compare-care-services
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/how-we-inspect-regulate/emergency-support-framework-what-expect
https://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/images/Docs/HCCG__WCCG_Quality_Surveillance_Process_2020_PDFA.pdf
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As well as framing the process for routine quality assurance and improvement, the Quality Surveillance and 
Improvement Framework describes the process for managing and escalating quality concerns and risks, usually 
associated with decreasing assurance. It also outlines the necessary steps to follow where providers of concern 
are identified. 

The framework sets out the drivers and our statutory duties regarding continuous quality improvement and 
ensures we are improving quality under Section 14R of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. It also sets out the 
governance process that will be required for routine quality surveillance and enhanced quality surveillance, 
through the contract quality meetings, collaborative forums, NHS Warrington CCG’s Quality Committee, 
Governing Body, and system oversight via the Cheshire and Merseyside Quality Surveillance Group. 

The Chief Nurses across the Warrington and Halton commissioning and provider system have worked hard to 
establish a shared vision of quality, safety, effectiveness, and experience and have an open dialogue approach 
to improvement. 

In addition, for all commissioned services, quality, safety, and patient experience are key components of all 
service specifications. To achieve this quality, equality and privacy impact assessments are undertaken 
regarding any material service changes. In many cases, we set quality standards for our providers that are above 
these essential requirements and use the quality schedule and key performance indicators to improve standards 
of care (although paused during 2020/21 due to COVID-19). We work closely with our acute, mental health, 
community, and primary care services throughout the year to ensure that they meet these standards as well. This 
includes requesting assurance where the care provided is not as expected. 

We have implemented the 2021 updated Host Commissioner guidance for the independent providers and have 
developed a quality schedule and reporting arrangements. This has been challenging due to the complex 
commissioning arrangements for individual patients, however positive progress has been made.  

This experience is being shared at a regional and national level to influence the new model going forward. During 
the pandemic, we commissioned a new service to deliver consistent and equitable stoma care across the 
Cheshire and Merseyside footprint. The provider was supported to produce safe and robust policies and 
protocols, including incident and safeguarding pathways with the rollout of the service completed on 5 November 
2021. The service is monitored monthly and the initiation phase has highlighted the high quality and safe delivery 
to the Halton and Warrington population.  
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We also found there was a need to review and 
change the method of service delivery. One example 
of this is the British Pregnancy Advisory Service 
(BPAS), which implemented the Pills by Post 
scheme. The scheme had no serious incidents 
identified locally and has produced positive feedback 
from service users. 

NHS Warrington CCG is committed to supporting our 
providers to minimise patient safety incidents and 
drive improvements in safety and quality. As directed 
by the NHS Patient Safety Strategy 2019, NHS 
Warrington CCG has identified two Patient Safety 
Specialists who are collaborating and supporting 
colleagues across the system with the 
implementation of the strategy’s various features.  

NHS Warrington CCG has successfully responded 
promptly to the release of the first two levels of the 
new Patient Safety Syllabus Training with the 
modules being available to staff for mandatory completion within one month of national launch.  

NHS Warrington CCG took the proactive approach of making the training mandatory, reinforcing NHS Warrington 
CCG’s commitment to patient safety. To date, 72% of staff have completed the foundation level 1 training 
module. This will provide every member of staff with a consistent, standardised understanding of the 
fundamentals of patient safety. Work is underway to support the independent sector, including care homes and 
general practice, in rolling this out within their area. Awareness-raising continues across all aspects of the Patient 
Safety Strategy within NHS Warrington CCG’s Staff Bulletin, Care Home newsletter, GP Bulletin, and local 
Hospice Patient Safety Specialist meetings, in order to prepare our colleagues for the imminent changes. 

A patient safety bulletin has been collated to allow for anonymised lessons to be shared across NHS Warrington 
CCG localities, including all commissioned services and the wider system. As the new serious incident reporting 
framework is developed nationally, it will be incorporated into practice locally. 
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We have enhanced quality improvement within individually commissioned care by investing in two quality 
improvement nurses, who work closely with local authority partners. Furthermore, we established a Care Quality 
Network across Halton and Warrington. The aim of the network is to provide a forum for sharing information, 
good practice, and improving quality of care provision for people in residential homes, their own homes, or in 
supported living settings. 

Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has continued to meet the demands of the 
population with the patient’s safety being paramount. The Trust is reviewing all breaches of the 12-hour target 
with an emphasis on patient care, safety, and no harm, which has resulted in wider system support. The Quality 
team supported a Quality Visit to the Trust following healthcare-acquired COVID-19 infection outbreaks, which 
identified positive effective practice and excellent clinical support. 
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Infection, prevention and control 

Infection prevention and control has been a considerable challenge during the COVID-19 pandemic. We have 
worked with our providers of services to ensure staff training has continued on a rolling programme as we have 
learned how the COVID-19 virus has affected the population in areas such as: 

• Use of personal protective equipment (PPE) 

• ‘Hands, face and space’ measures 

• Environmental adjustments 

• Communication materials in different formats and languages 

• COVID-19 vaccinations 

• COVID-19 testing. 

Infection prevention and control in healthcare settings 

Healthcare facilities should apply several types of measures to minimise the risk of transmission of COVID-19: 

 

Vulnerable people 
in nursing homes 
and other long-term 
care facilities need 
to be shielded 
because of the 
large number of 
COVID-19 cases 
and deaths in this 
setting. 

 

Personal protective 
equipment should 
be available and 
appropriately used 
to safeguard the 
healthcare workers 
providing care. 

 

In areas with 
community 
transmission of 
COVID-19, frontline 
healthcare workers 
should wear a 
medical mask when 
caring for patients 
or residents during 
all routine activities. 

 

In areas with 
community 
transmission, staff, 
visitors and patients 
should apply 
physical distancing 
and hand hygiene, 
and wear a face 
mask when physical 
distancing is not 
possible. 

 

Gloves and gowns 
should always be 
changed after each 
patient contact. 

Adapted from information at: www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/infographic-infection-prevention-and-control-primary-care 

http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/infographic-infection-prevention-and-control-primary-care
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Together, NHS Warrington CCG and the system have been working to improve infection rates with all identified 
infections reviewed for learning and good practice. All reviews have been shared to support best practice across 
the system. The CCG-led Halton and Warrington system have focussed on Infection Prevention Control and 
have refreshed the action plan to focus on prevention from a Public Health perspective through to actual 
healthcare practice.   

A major success in 2021/22 is leading on the development of a Catheter Passport for Cheshire and Merseyside 
with a successful implementation across all local providers. An action plan is in place to support all work and to 
continue to promote best practice. 

E Coli and Clostridium Difficile cases in Warrington 

E Coli 

97 cases 2021/22  

Clostridium Difficile 

21 cases 2021/22  

What we have been committed to: 
• a reduction of gram-negative blood stream infections (BSI) by 50% by 2024. We aim to continue to reduce 

infection by following our action plan and work with the Cheshire and Merseyside E Coli bacteraemia 
group on evidence-based practice. It is important that this continues to be addressed across the system 
health economy 

• reduction of the incidence of Clostridium Difficile infection by working closely with NHS Warrington CCG’s 
Medicines Management team (MMT) and providers to reduce inappropriate antimicrobial prescribing 

• a reduction of incidence of methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia by continuing 
education with all healthcare professionals regarding standard infection control precautions when dealing 
with clients 

• NHS Warrington CCG has continued to implement the NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG 
system gram-negative BSI action plan, and this has been presented to the Cheshire and Merseyside Anti-
Microbial Resistance (AMR) Board and recognised as good system practice. 
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Incidents and serious incidents monitored across partner organisations 
including primary care 

Serious incident monitoring of commissioned services has continued during the COVID-19 pandemic. A root 
cause analysis is completed to ensure learning and changes in practice. Following this, we encourage good 
practices to be shared alongside themes and trends. This open and transparent approach creates a culture of 
learning and results in positive improvements for Warrington patients.  

Areas identified in 2021/22 have included pressure ulcers within BCHFT and community equipment issues. 

Safeguarding  
Safeguarding children 

Over the last reporting period, NHS Warrington CCG Safeguarding team has focussed primary care priorities 
with national priorities for safeguarding children and the priorities of the Warrington Safeguarding Children 
Partnership.  

Safeguarding activity undertaken has taken into account any key changes to national legislation and learning 
from local and national safeguarding children reviews. The team’s core business is to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and young people by fully understanding the outcomes we want to achieve together and 
continually reflecting on how well we do things. We have supported primary care to work with our partners and 
be in a position to evidence the impact our work makes on the lives of children, young people and adults by 
keeping the individual at the centre.  

Training on the ICON programme (information about infant crying and how to cope) has been delivered across 
Warrington, including primary care and local providers. Primary care contact with parents at the 6-8 week 
postnatal check is a significant opportunity to discuss the ICON message. A recording template has been 
developed and inserted onto the EMIS and System One electronic information systems to enable primary care 
practitioners to deliver and contribute to the programme. 

The Named Nurse Safeguarding Children has continued to support primary care in their contribution to 
Warrington Safeguarding Partnership working. This has included participation in multi-agency learning (including 
audits, learning circles and Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews), the shaping of local partnership strategies 
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(through Task and Finish Groups such as neglect, harmful sexual behaviour and domestic violence), and joint 
agency response meetings following the unexpected death of a child.  

The Safeguarding team has represented primary care at operational meetings, including the Warrington 
Safeguarding Partnership Practitioner’s Forum, Warrington Safeguarding Partnership Impact Group, Warrington 
Safeguarding Partnership Training Pool, Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC), Channel Panel 
and Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA).  

Safeguarding training opportunities for primary care practitioners have been delivered through a number of ‘lunch 
and learn’ workshop sessions. Invitations to these sessions have also been extended to our colleagues in Halton. 
A range of contemporaneous safeguarding issues have been covered, including perplexing illness and fabricated 
illness (including the new Pan-Cheshire and Mersey Guideline), child sexual abuse awareness, and learning 
from Safeguarding Children Practice Reviews. The knowledge and expertise of local Designated Leads have 
been utilised to facilitate these sessions.  

Safeguarding adults 

NHS Warrington CCG has maintained GP safeguarding leads meetings over a virtual platform and provided 
regional and national updates as required.  

All safeguarding information has been cascaded via the Staff and Primary Care Bulletins on a regular basis from 
a place and national level. Training has been provided through the Friday Primary Care meetings and this has 
covered the Mental Capacity Act (MCA), and the role of the Warrington Safeguarding Adults Board.   

Warrington Borough Council multi-agency training programmes have been shared with primary care with regular 
flyers for training information cascaded. 

The Integrated Care Board (ICB) safeguarding model and workforce requirements include Cheshire and Mersey-
side Primary Care representation to ensure future primary care safeguarding needs are reflected in the model 
being developed. 

Resources and updates from the Liberty Protection Safeguards Forum, NHS England and NHS Improvement are 
frequently disseminated to GP Safeguarding Leads. 

NHS Warrington CCG has included safeguarding indicators within the primary care dashboard to support 
contractual assurance. 
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There is currently one Domestic Homicide Statutory Review (DHR) and an Individual Management Review (IMR) 
underway by a Warrington GP practice. 

There are a number of Statutory Safeguarding Adult Reviews in Warrington that will require input and 
recommendations for primary care.  

There have been Court of Protection cases flagged that require funding for legal fees by NHS Warrington CCG 
which relate to COVID-19 vaccination decisions. A process has been developed and implemented to ensure an 
appropriate timely response.  

Medicines management and optimisation 

During the last year, the NHS Warrington CCG Medicines Management team (MMT) have provided essential 
pharmaceutical oversight and clinical support to the COVID-19 vaccination programme, embedding high 
standards of quality to ensure the vaccine is safe and effective for our local population.  

The MMT has continued to support all GP practices to ensure safe, high quality and cost-effective management 
of medicines. This has included support around controlled drug monitoring, clinical incidents, STAMP, 
antimicrobial stewardship, end-of-life prescribing and self-care.  

The MMT has also continued to work to deliver QIPP savings including interventions made by NHS Warrington 
CCG’s Medicines team, practice medicines co-ordinators, Optimise Rx® implementation and rebate schemes.  

Additional key areas of focus during 2021/22: 

• The safe prescribing of high-dose opioids and medications of potential abuse, including supporting NHS 
Warrington CCG’s Complex Pain Programme and development of prescribing guidelines for symptom 
management in the dying patient 

• The launch of a community stoma service as part of the Merseyside and Region Stoma Service (MARSS) 

• Reviews to ensure safe prescribing of oral anti-coagulants 

• Pilot of a practice-based Medicines Management Dietetic Service 

• Development of system-wide Polypharmacy and Deprescribing guidance 

• Sustainability work around low carbon ‘greener’ inhalers – initially developed in one practice and now 
being rolled out to the rest of the practices 
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• Point of Care Testing pilot to support prescribers in decision making around antibiotic prescribing and 
improving patient care for patients with diabetes and high cholesterol levels.  

Staff engagement 

Our people are our most valuable assets, and our staff remains at the centre of what we do. During the year we 
have strengthened our staff engagement processes to support staff wellbeing during the pandemic and with the 
transition to the ICB. 

A virtual whole NHS Warrington CCG staff brief continues to take place weekly, led by the Clinical Chief Officer, 
where staff members receive an update from the Integrated Management Team, in addition to the latest COVID-
19 related information, place updates and team updates.  

A weekly staff e-bulletin is also produced to keep everyone informed and includes the Integrated Management 
Team update and key updates in terms of policies, guidelines and other key information.  

All staff continued to work from home until February 2022, when NHS Warrington CCG’s new hybrid model was 
launched. The model offers flexible working to support work-life balance.  

Occupational health services are key in supporting staff when needed and all staff has access to a full range of 
occupational health support and other wellbeing packages. 

As well as NHS Warrington CCG initiatives, staff have been supported by the Cheshire and Merseyside HCP We 
Are One activities, including live staff briefs with questions and answers, staff bulletins, Connect newsletter and a 
staff hub.  

NHS Warrington CCG is actively included in the Workforce and Organisational Development workstream and the 
Wellbeing and Organisational Development subgroup to ensure consistency across the CCG and to ensure that 
staff wellbeing is considered with the transition.  

The Audit Committee has a focus on staff engagement and staff wellbeing with monthly reports. 

NHS People Plan 

Preserving and protecting the health, safety, and wellbeing of our staff has been critical whilst responding to the 
COVID-19 outbreak and in the new phase of recovery.  
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We recognise the importance of supporting the physical and mental wellbeing of our staff and our aim is to 
enable all staff to stay healthy and protect themselves, colleagues, patients, and families as we continue to 
deliver services through this challenging period. It is also important that staff, whilst working from home, continue 
to feel part of their team and NHS Warrington CCG.  

Our Staff Engagement Group has been vital in ensuring that staff engagement and their health and wellbeing is 
maintained, as well as the already established communication mechanisms.  

We developed a staffing plan in response to the pandemic with the aim of ensuring:  

• all HR management is taken into consideration and staff at risk are considered and protected 

• staff members feel supported to be able to continue to do their job to the best of their ability, whilst 
recognising that these are unprecedented times and ensuring no additional pressure is put onto staff 

• all members of staff are included in engagement and communication work as effectively as possible, 
especially considering the new working arrangements of being a dispersed team 

• staff health and wellbeing is taken seriously, with mechanisms for staff to feel involved, valued, and 
listened to – staff should be able to share happy and funny moments together 

• that when we return to normal working arrangements and are business as usual, there is a recovery and 
wellbeing plan in place for staff.  

With the ongoing commitment of the ‘We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action for us all’, and the 
publication of the NHS Health and Wellbeing Strategic Overview, we are committed to developing and building 
on the 2019/20 action to support transformation across the NHS. We will continue to ensure we look after each 
other and foster a culture of inclusion and belonging.  

Looking after our people – with quality health and wellbeing support for 
everyone 

In 2021/22, wellbeing activities included:  

• Ongoing virtual wellbeing activities  

• Staff Development Sessions with a focus on wellbeing, resilience, and self-compassion  

• Continued Health and Wellbeing Conversations for all staff every six months. October 2021 conversations 
had a focus on a return to office working and NHS Warrington CCG’s hybrid working  
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• The Staff Engagement and Wellbeing Microsoft Teams channel continues to be used for support 
information including occupational health information, and local and regional mental health and wellbeing 
support 

• Continued promotion of our Mental Health First Aiders  

• Encouraged staff to undertake the Working from home checklist – a review of staff home working 
environment to assess health and safety factors, implications, and actions, to ensure that staff members 
are still safe whilst working from home 

• Introduction of a Carers Passport to support any staff with caring responsibilities.  

In July 2021, we undertook a staff survey across both NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG, there was a 
response rate of more than 50%. The feedback was overwhelmingly positive with staff feeling supported and 
engaged. 

From November 2021, NHS Warrington CCG agreed to use the HCP staff survey as their main mechanism for 
staff feedback. Four staff surveys were carried out. Actions that were implemented due to feedback included:  

• Rolling out our six-monthly Health and Wellbeing Conversations to all staff, including our Carers Passport 
to ensure carers are supported in the workplace. Included in the conversations is a reminder about the 
importance of staff self-reporting on ESR 

• Focusing on wellbeing and resilience in monthly staff development sessions (facilitated by the HCP. 
Sessions included feedback from the previous staff surveys to show the importance of wellbeing and 
resilience 

• Review of our HWB conversation template and our new starter forms to include more information about 
resilience and an I resilience questionnaire 

• Health and wellbeing support, resources and information is included as a standard item in our weekly staff 
bulletin (including HCP support). 
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Belonging in the NHS – with a focus on tackling the discrimination that some 
staff face  

Belonging in the NHS actions, very much relate to NHS Warrington CCG Workforce Race Equality System 
(WRES).  

Below are the highlights of the activities we have undertaken from our WRES action plan:  

• Ongoing support for staff via risk assessments and agile working checklists 

• Staff Survey questions had a focus on equality and inclusion 

• Health Inequalities training rolled out 

• Unconscious Bias training is undertaken by the Governing Body and rolled out to all staff. 

New ways of working and delivering care and growing for the future  

Our staff have risen to the challenge and have been flexible and adaptable, with many staff continuing to work 
outside their normal scope of practice and new teams created around people’s experience and capabilities rather 
than their traditional roles.  

Many staff volunteered to support the COVID-19 booster programme in December 2021 and were fully supported 
by NHS Warrington CCG. Risk assessments were undertaken and staff completed a redeployment discussion 
which discussed any impact for them on the redeployment.  

There is an ongoing Personal Development Review (PDR), one-to-one and a health and wellbeing conversation 
to ensure that all staff members are supported in their roles and their skills are being used effectively. 

Performance management 

In recent years, it has become increasingly clear that the best way to manage NHS resources to deliver high-
quality, sustainable care is to focus on organising health at both system and organisational levels. This has led to 
the implementation of a new single oversight framework monitoring performance across the system. NHS 
Warrington CCG operational performance continues to be monitored using the NHS England Single Oversight 
Framework. 
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We are committed to ensuring performance against constitutional measures and outcomes is consistently and 
rigorously maintained. However, during 2021/22 the NHS Warrington CCG’s normal regime of performance 
management was continued to be suspended in line with national guidance, due to the NHS’ focus on 
responding to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Formal contract monitoring meetings were suspended for a large part of the year except for clinical quality 
meetings, with the exception of those with primary medical providers, which were maintained to ensure that the 
safety and quality of commissioned services were not compromised.  

Performance in terms of serious incidents, infections, and mixed-sex accommodation (MSA) continued to be 
monitored and quantified.  
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Progress against commissioning priorities 
In response to the operational planning guidance, NHS Warrington CCG developed its 
commissioning priorities for 2021/22. During 2021/22, NHS Warrington CCG has continued to 
progress key elements of these priorities as outlined below. 

Communities are strong, well connected, and able to influence the 
decisions that affect them 

We strive to make sure all voices, including those of the most vulnerable, are heard. This is achieved by 
undertaking specific engagement activities with various groups, including Warrington Speak Up, Warrington 
Disability Partnership, Warrington Parents and Carers, WIRED carers, Home-Start Warrington, and St Rocco’s, 
amongst others.  

Engaging virtually 

We continued developing our digital strategies to support patients and volunteers to remain involved with our 
work. We now have a digital toolkit to support staff and the public in organising and attending digital events. The 
toolkit includes the following: 

• The potential of digital events 

• The challenges of digital events 

• Pre-event organisers checklist 

• Digital Event plan template 

• How-To Guides for Delegates.  

Health Online 

We undertook a health online engagement activity to support a Digital Inclusion Strategy for Primary Care. This 
is part of our continuing digital strategies work, which started in 2019/20 and supports patients and volunteers to 
remain involved with our work and healthcare. The work involved engagement with equality groups including 
people with learning disabilities and working with four Third Sector organisations to train cohorts of the 
community on eConsult and the NHS app.  
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Evaluations then took place on the effectiveness of the training as a method to increase confidence. 
Recommendations from this work will be fed into NHS Warrington CCG’s primary care teams and the PCNs for 
further work in 2022/23.  

Support to primary care 

The team continues to offer a comprehensive programme of support to our Primary Care colleagues around 
patient engagement methods. 

The following activities have been completed/are ongoing: 

The team has delivered a series of masterclasses to the Practice Managers and PPGs, these have focused on: 

• Volunteer recruitment and retention  

• Volunteer management  

• Digital volunteering  

• The practicalities of volunteering in a post-pandemic world. 

Supporting the PCNs to develop a patient voice is ongoing. The outcome of this work will inform the development 
of a comprehensive support pack for all PCNs. The support pack will include a step-by-step guide, templates, 
relevant policies and procedures. This will enable all PCNs to progress the development of PCN level 
engagement and establish a PCN-wide engagement network. 

Housing and the environment enable people to make healthy choices 

We are a signatory of the Warrington Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy. A key aim of which is to ensure that 
housing and the wider environment promote health and healthy choices. As such, we are an active member of 
the Warrington Housing and Homelessness Action Partnership, the aims of which are to ensure: 

• the development of healthy places and homes 

• we have sufficient, stable, appropriate accommodation that meets the needs of our residents 

• that future growth provides adequate quality and accessible open spaces and facilitates active travel. 

As such, Warrington has successfully bid for Town Deal funding to support some of these aspirations, with NHS 
Warrington CCG being represented on both the Warrington Town Deal Strategic Board and key delivery groups. 
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There are low levels of crime and people feel safe 

The statutory Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is the local multi-agency partnership established to tackle 
community safety issues within Warrington. It has a statutory obligation under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
(and subsequent legislation) to work in partnership to address issues of the following: 

• Crime and disorder 

• Anti-social behaviour 

• Behaviour adversely affecting the environment 

• Substance misuse 

• Reducing re-offending. 

Its priorities and delivery plans are determined by a statutory annual Community Safety Strategic Assessment, 
and links to Cheshire’s Police and Crime Commissioner’s Plan. 

NHS Warrington and NHS Halton CCGs work around safeguarding and community safety is embedded in the 
partnerships and meeting work plans and activities which link to the relevant boards as per the diagram on the 
next page to support preventing, reducing and protecting communities and adults at risk from harm. 

We are committed to working towards the multi-agency responses to changes in crime, disorder patterns and the 
vulnerabilities created through COVID-19 and identified through data and intelligence gathered from key partners 
through its various subgroups and meetings. 
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We work together to safeguard the most vulnerable 
ADHD service 

NHS Warrington CCG has commissioned a primary care-led ADHD service, delivered by Warrington Primary 
Care CIC. It is a two-year pilot and is a nurse-led service that is supporting the development of GPs with a 
special interest in ADHD to increase capacity as well as resilience to the service. 

The service is working closely with commissioners and Quality team leads, to shape and form the pilot which is 
subject to evaluation in 2023. 

The service is working through a lengthy, inherited waiting list but is also open to new referrals. The model is 
supported by a 2021 paper written by Professor Philip Asherson: ‘Mainstreaming adult ADHD into primary care in 
the UK: guidance, practice and best practice recommendations’. 

Improving the lives of people with a learning disability (LD) and/or autism 

NHS Warrington CCG and Warrington Borough Council are working closely with local housing and care 
providers to develop a variety of local good quality housing. The overall aim is homes that meet the needs of 
individuals with a Learning Disability and or autism thus preventing out-of-area placements. 

Stopping the over-prescribing of psychotropic medication (STOMP) 

The Warrington Medicines Management team completed a STOMP audit in all NHS Warrington CCG practices 
(carried out from June to September 2019) which identified 589 patients on the learning disability (LD) register 
prescribed a psychotropic drug.  

Of these, 41 patients were referred to the GP for a clinical review. 67 patients had no record of a medication 
review in the last 12 months, 173 patients had no record of an annual health check in the last 12 months, and for 
62 patients whether they should/should not (or it was unsure) be on LD register.  

Due to ongoing work by practices on annual health checks and medication reviews for LD, the re-audit is now 
planned for 2022/23. 

 



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

62 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

Case study: Learning disability mortality review 

Any death, irrespective of the circumstances, is a sad event for the families and the carers of the person who 
has passed away. NHS Warrington CCG is committed to robust local learning to understand how to help 
people with learning disabilities live longer lives, with good experiences of health and care services, so that 
they and their families have positive outcomes. 

Since 2019, NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG have agreed to take a combined approach to the 
delivery of the LeDeR programme. We have implemented a panel multi-agency approach to the completion of 
the LeDeR reviews. Since implementation, the panel methodology has worked well with reviews being 
completed within the expected timeframe, subject to robust review and local learning identified. Engagement in 
the panel and information sharing for the reviews by local partners has been good. 

Local learning is shared and progressed via a quarterly Learning into Action Forum, and national / regional 
learning is supported through membership of the Cheshire/Merseyside LeDeR steering group. We are 
currently working with a local advocacy service to develop a video for people with a learning disability to raise 
awareness of the importance of regular health checks. 

As we move into new arrangements in the NHS through 2021 and into 2022, local integrated care systems 
(ICSs) will become responsible for the delivery of LeDeR and local learning to reduce health inequalities and 
premature mortality. For Cheshire and Merseyside ICS, a delivery model for LeDeR has been agreed and 
governance arrangements are in development. We have actively supported the transition work and are a 
member of the implementation group. 

• Sarah was supported at home throughout her illness with lots of positive input from the Community team 
and MacMillan 

• Fred was 75 years old and had a diagnosis of a learning disability. Fred previously lived in an institution 
and when this closed, he was supported in a specialist home for people with a learning disability. Fred 
received services from the learning disability team which included, psychiatry, occupational therapy, 
speech and language therapy, physiotherapy, and nursing. Fred was a very sociable man and would let 
people know if he was not happy about something and would express his wants and needs very well. 
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Starting well: Children and young people get the best start in life in a 
child friendly environment 
Maternity services 

NHS Warrington CCG has established and chairs a ‘Local Maternity Services System Meeting’ with key 
stakeholders from across Halton and Warrington. The focus of this group has been the delivery of National 
requirements including Ockenden, the Cheshire and Mersey Local Maternity Services Network requirements, 
COVID recovery and our local delivery plan. NHS Warrington CCG is also represented on the local Maternity 
Voices Partnership Board. 

A requirement of NHSE/I in 2021/22 is that women have continuity in terms of the person caring for them during 
pregnancy, birth, and postnatally. Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is currently 
achieving more than 75%, which is well above the National Target of 50% of women in 2021/22. This has been 
supported by the new Midwifery Teams model now fully embedded at the Trust which includes specialisms such 
as a vulnerable women’s team. 

Other key elements of the NHS Operational with regards to Maternity services locally are as follows: 

Saving Babies’ Lives 

• This continues to be successfully implemented at Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (WHHFT) 

• NHS Warrington CCG has included this requirement within the existing specification for local and 
associate Maternity Contracts and is to be included again in the 2022/23 refreshed Service specification 

• Performance is reported monthly via a dashboard and monitored 

• A new electronic patient record system is now being rolled out in Maternity Services and has improved 
communication between the Trust and partner agencies. 
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Continue improving choice and personalisation  

• Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has established a Co-located 
Midwifery Led Union-site ‘The Nest’, which is performing well and popular with local women 

• All women now have a personalised care plan 

• A Maternity Services specification for 2022/23 has now been developed in conjunction with Maternity 
Services leads, Public Health Commissioners, Local Authority Early Help, and Community Nursing 
leaders to ensure that, as a system, we deliver the National requirements including those following the 
Ockenden Report (2020), the aspirations of the Cheshire and Mersey Local Maternity Services Network 
and improve outcomes and experiences for our local women and families. 
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Children and young people’s mental health 

The 2021/22 Warrington and Halton children and young people’s ‘Local Transformation Plan’ was a continued 
reflection of the commitment locally to improving the mental health and wellbeing of our children and young 
people. The Plan was endorsed by the Warrington Health and Wellbeing Board in February 2021 and reflects the 
strength of local partnerships. This diagram highlights the priorities and our progress across the life of the 
programme and towards the end of 2022.  
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Progress in 2021/22: 

• enhanced Future in Mind programme with schools 

• utilised Anna Freud programme feedback to inform wider schools mental health programme 

• develop information resources for schools to understand what support is available 

• responded to workforce challenges through commissioning additional capacity from wider sector partners 

• progress reports to health scrutiny 

• extended 24/7 Crisis Offer in place 
local CAMHS and Mid-Mersey Eating Disorder Services have managed significant increases in demand 
and have been supported through further CCG investment 

• complex Needs Hub Programme work underway across system partners aiming to prevent avoidable 
admissions to hospital care and custody 

• neuro-Developmental Pathway embedded now in place 

• healthwatch commissioned to undertake engagement with children, young people, families/carers, and 
professionals to understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, effectiveness of current mental health 
offer and what could help. 

Going forward, there will be no requirement for places to have a Local Transformation Plan, however, Warrington 
intends to maintain this approach which will reference the following drivers that will inform our local plans: 

• The Northwest C&YP Mental Health Strategy 

• The Cheshire and Mersey Children’s Programme Board – Mental Health Subgroup Priorities 

• The Northwest CAMHS Review Priorities 

• Warrington’s local needs analysis and priorities. 
  



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

67 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

Key areas of focus and improvement in 2022/23 will include: 

• ensure children and young people can access help when they need it through the expansion of the 24/7 
Crisis Offer 

• improve the mental health of parents and ensure strong attachment through the implementation of our 
local Perinatal Offer 

• maintaining complex children and young people in their homes and communities and avoiding admissions 
to care, custody and into mental inpatient or acute paediatric settings 

• improving mental health outcomes and experiences for children and young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND), Neuro-developmental conditions, and learning disabilities 
through ensuring equitable access to mental health services 

• extend our partnership programme of work with schools to increase the access to mental health 
professionals for education staff and children and young people in settings 

• ensure children, young people and families/carers have timely access to evidenced-based interventions 
and help, alongside ensuring professionals can access training and support to ensure they can identify 
and support children and young people effectively 

• ensure improved outcomes and experience for children and young people with tics and Tourette’s through 
the development of a standardised Cheshire and Mersey pathway of care. 
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Living well: there is a strong, system-wide focus on promoting 
wellbeing, preventing ill-health and addressing inequalities 
Prevention and self-care 

During 2021/22, even with the constraints of the NHS’s response to COVID-19, the CGG has continued to 
support key elements of the prevention and self-care agenda across Warrington. 

NHS Warrington CCG, as a member of the Warrington Health and Wellbeing Board, is actively engaged in large-
scale transformational programmes of work that are bringing about the shift towards an increasingly whole-
system approach to tackling deprivation and prioritising prevention. 

An example is NHS Warrington CCG support of Warrington Wellbeing; this is our multi-agency, coordinated 
approach to preventing ill-health and promoting wellbeing. Warrington Wellbeing is not just about specific health 
issues or lifestyle behaviours.  

Evidence shows that income, education, employment, and housing all have a significant impact on wellbeing, 
and ultimately affect health outcomes. Warrington Wellbeing offers a collaborative approach to addressing needs 
in a holistic way, and means we are far more likely to be able to address underlying issues that impact 
individuals’ capacity to adopt healthier lifestyles or take greater control of their wellbeing. 

An example of our support of Warrington Wellbeing is the commissioning of a High-Intensity User (HIU) service. 
The HIU service was commissioned in 2019 by NHS Warrington CCG, to provide non-medical support to 
individuals who frequently attend Warrington Hospital Accident and Emergency department. It is currently 
commissioned until September 2022 with a view to extending further. 

Evaluation of the service in 2021 highlighted that ED attendances, NEL admissions and bed-days reduced for the 
identified cohort meaning an indicative saving of £231k has been made (although due to block contract 
arrangements this is not an actual cash saving).  

NHS Warrington CCG is also a key stakeholder in the Borough’s Living Well Programme. During 2021 the Living 
Well Sub-Group (comprising Public Health, Voluntary and Community Sector, NHS Warrington CCG, Adult 
Social Care and others) developed Community Led Support for Birchwood that included ‘Talking Well’ sessions 
for local residents. Work is ongoing to confirm the branding for the Live Well programme and the development of 
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the Wellbeing Hub. By doing this work we will reduce demand on statutory services, reduce dependency and 
increase individual and community resilience.  

During 2021/22 NHS Warrington CCG has supported the Borough Council on the Carers Partnership board and 
with delivering the Warrington Carers Strategy. The Warrington Carers Partnership Board has a strategic role in 
overseeing the development, joint commissioning and implementation of services for people who are unpaid 
carers irrespective of their age, to achieve the vision for carers. The strategy covers adult carers, young carers 
and parents of children with disabilities and sets out how we respond to our responsibilities and duties to carers. 
A key strand of the strategy is to support carers to maintain their own health – both in preventing the 
development of health conditions, and in accessing timely treatment and support.  

Reducing health inequalities 

One of the biggest challenges facing Warrington is the inequalities caused by socio-economic deprivation and 
the impact this has on the health and wellbeing of individuals and communities. Emerging evidence is that this 
may have been adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. It has been apparent from the early stages of 
the pandemic that some groups are at a much higher risk of catching and dying from the virus than others. 
Factors such as age, gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic deprivation are all known to be important. Critically, 
these factors combine in complex ways to put some people at much greater risk. 

In addition, the measures taken to control the spread of the virus are having unequal socioeconomic impacts, 
which are likely to deepen health inequalities in the long term. 

As identified in the recently refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy, inequalities in health outcomes are most 
starkly demonstrated by the gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived areas of the borough. 
An example of the system approach to reducing health inequalities is the establishment of Alcohol Care teams so 
that better traction can be gained across all sections of secondary care with a better connection back to 
community support for substance misuse.  

The system has considered the latest recommendation around Alcohol Care teams, including models of delivery, 
funding and methodology. This work will further develop and enhance the work on ‘Repeat Attendees’ for alcohol 
to ensure those who are known to the hospital receive the appropriate intervention and advice and will build on 
the learning and impact of the 2019/20 Risky Behaviours CQUIN and the introduction of the High-Intensity Users 
model in Warrington. 
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During the COVID-19 pandemic period the significance and impact of diabetes was noted. In response to this, 
the National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) was regularly promoted and made accessible to people in 
Warrington, through primary care or by direct referral. We have also made Continuous Glucose Monitoring 
(CGM) available to all pregnant women with Type 1 diabetes. 

During 2021/22 NHS Warrington CCG developed a cancer screening coordinator role, the purpose of which is to 
increase uptake of cancer screening within primary care and support GP Practice across Warrington. The 
ambition is to find 75% of cancers within stage 1 or 2 by 2028. 

Cancer staging is the process of determining the extent to which cancer has developed by growing and 
spreading this is a progressive stage from 0 to 4. This year we have set up a PCN cancer screening ambassador 
course for non-clinical staff within our GP practices (65% complete). This course provides practice staff with the 
tools, confidence and knowledge to implement change and break down barriers from our patients who attend the 
screening. We have also set some community training and have delivered several courses raising awareness 
with teams such as the lifestyle team, dietitian assistants and volunteers.  

To support this, we have invested in some cancer awareness banners and these have been put on display at the 
vaccination centre. We are about to launch a cervical cancer reminder text messaging service in partnership with 
the Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer alliance. 
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Integrated commissioning 

There has been ongoing work to support the move towards greater health and care integration in Warrington:  

• development of the Place Partnership Board is progressing well and is now formerly known as the 
Warrington Together Partnership Board (WTPB) 

• although the start date of the formal commencement of Integrated Care Boards (ICB) has been pushed 
back to 1 July 2021, partners are still working hard to develop the Warrington partnership, which included 
a Board development session on 18 November 2021, at which, with support from Hill Dickinson, the final 
Draft of the Partnership Memorandum of Understanding and the Board Terms of Reference have been 
developed prior to approval at the next WTPB in February 2022 
A survey of partners on the ‘maturity’ of the Warrington Together Partnership has been conducted and has 
been used to drive the Warrington Together Organisational Development (OD) Plan. Our self-assessment 
and OD Plan have been shared with the Cheshire and Merseyside ICB and were used as a discussion 
point for the Warrington Place meeting with the Chair and Chief Executive Officer of the ICB in December 
2021 

• the OD plan will be supported by the involvement of the Warrington Partnership in the National Population 
Health Management (PHM) Development Programme, which supports a Place to deliver the best possible 
value to population health segments in specific neighbourhoods 

• the Warrington Together Transformation Manager is now in post and, with support from partners, is 
starting to develop the Warrington Together Programme Office. This post is jointly funded through the 
place-based budget and key initial tasks include the development of governance arrangements, 
supporting the Warrington Together OD Plan and ensuring our involvement in the PHM Development 
Programme is optimised 

• this post-holder will also support the development of; the WTPB work programmes, such as Ageing Well; 
the governance sub-committees such as Quality and Safety; and enabling groups such as the Warrington 
Together Digitisation Enabling Group. 
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ICS population health and place development programme 

Partners across the Warrington system have been taking part in the ICS Population Health and Place 
Development Programme, which is providing support during the transition to the ICB. This programme supports 
ICS and Place leaders across all regions, enabling systems and nominated Places (of which Warrington is one) 
to deliver the best possible value to population health segments in specific neighbourhoods.  

There are four modules being undertaken as part of this programme: 

• Ambition, vision and leadership 

• Governance, functions and finance 

• Population health management and integrated transformation 

• Digital, data and analytics. 

There is a sustained focus on addressing lifestyle risk factors and 
protecting health 

Local change programmes were identified in 2021/22 and were driven by evidence of significant unwarranted 
variation in spend, quality and outcomes for people in Warrington. These programmes are highlighted below. 

Respiratory 

An ICS level Respiratory Programme has been implemented across Cheshire and Merseyside during 2021/22. 
Key work programmes have included:  

• Long COVID Assessment and Reablement Service 

• Quality Assured Diagnostic Spirometry (Early and Accurate Diagnosis) 

• Pulmonary Rehabilitation 

• Medicines Management – Inhalers/Greener NHS 

• Prevention 

• Data 

• COVID Oximetry@Home Pathways 

• Pilot of respiratory virtual wards for COVID and non-COVID diagnoses. 
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Healthy livers 

A Gastro-Heptobiliary/Alcohol work programme was established in 2019. The pandemic has impacted progress 
in this workstream, however, the Alcohol Care team has been funded for a further period to support the 
programme to reduce the impact of alcohol on individuals and promote access to supporting services. 

The Alcohol chapter in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides additional insight into local needs.  

Work has also taken place at a Cheshire and Merseyside ICS level around the ambition for a standard alcohol 
care pathway in acute trusts.  

Complex pain 

The following diagrams and notes describe the process, products, and outcomes of the Complex Pain 
Programme in 2021/22 and our plans going forward into 2022/23. 

Working in conjunction with our medicines management team to understand the data and opportunities that exist 
to reduce the number of high opioid users and levels of prescribing further work has been undertaken with 
Primary Care as part of the protected learning time sessions with primary care in 2021/22. The impact of this 
work can be seen in the Halton and Warrington data below that highlights a steady reduction in high dose opiate 
usage, but with a corresponding increase in the prescribing of gabapentin. This mirrors the national trend for both 
drugs, however, Warrington and Halton are higher when compared with similar NHSE/I Rightcare peer 
comparators and the national average. 
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Programme suspension and restart 

 

Warrington’s complex pain programme commenced in 2019/20. However due to system constraints during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the programme was suspended in 2019/20. In spring 2021, discussions commenced 
regarding restarting the programme – leading to a whole-system event in September 2021. 
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Timeline pre COVID-19 

2019 

Complex pain 
‘story board’ 
developed in 
collaboration 
with NHS 
RightCare, local 
analysts and 
Medicines 
Management in 
CCG. 

2019 

Complex pain 
‘GP – Clinical 
Lead’ appointed 
and secondary 
care leads 
identified. 

Nov 
2019 

Complex pain 
PID signed off 
at COG. Shift 
from ‘project’ to 
‘programme’ 
(now includes 
Medically 
Unexplained 
Symptoms). 

2020 

Halton and 
Warrington 
cross-sector 
‘complex pain’ 
steering 
group 
established. 

March 
2020 

Whole system 
‘complex pain’ 
engagement 
event. 

+ First national 
COVID-19 
lockdown. 

2020 

Bio / psycho / 
social approach 
confirmed and 
initial programme 
of work 
established 
across Halton and 
Warrington (PMO 
Workbook in 
place). 

Timeline of programme restart  

Key:  Primary care  Secondary care  Tertiary care  Self-care 

COG 
 
 

May 
2021 

Sign off 

CDSG 
 
 

June 
2021 

Sign off 

 

Jun 2021 

Core 
working 
group 

 

June 2021 

Programme 
refresh 

 

July 2021 

Secondary 
care 

 

July 2021 

OCATS 

July 2021 

Primary 
care PLT 

Aug / 
Sept 2021 

System 
partner 

Oct 2021 

Whole 
system 
event 
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Whole system pain event 

At our September 2021 pain management event, key stakeholders discussed the context, drivers and 
opportunities around complex pain. As part of these discussions, stakeholders were asked to reflect on the 
priority areas of focus and opportunity – which then informed our plans going forward for 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
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Whole system pathway model and priorities 

Following the whole-system event in September, a multi-agency steering group has been established to take 
forward work on a whole-system pathway for complex pain – centred around self-care and developing a 
graduated and coordinated response. 

The two main areas for focus in 2022/23 shown in the early and still-developing representation of the pathway 
below will be our self-care offer and our intermediary care offer. 
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Coronary heart disease  

The Cheshire and Merseyside Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Board has ambitions to increase the detection of 
hypertension to 80% of the predicted prevalence over the 10-year period (2019-29). For Warrington, this requires 
the identification and diagnosis of a further 10,000 people across the town.  

A local primary care Enhanced Service (ES) is in place to support both identification and management of 
hypertension. The Cheshire and Merseyside Blood Pressure Quality Improvement (BPQI) Programme has been 
actively rolled out to practices to enable support and evidence-based practice. 

Blood pressure at home (BP@Home) Services were further developed during 2020/21 to support people who are 
shielding who have poorly controlled hypertension. Pathways have been established and remote monitoring is in 
place across the footprint to support this vulnerable, often shielding cohort to stay well. This pathway and model 
has been further embedded during 2021/22 with all practices having deliveries of BP monitors to support this 
work. 
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Both mental health and physical health are promoted and valued 

The Warrington Adult Mental Health Strategy 2021-23 has been developed from the NHS Long Term Plan and 
local priorities.  
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Key areas are:  

• perinatal mental health 

• young adults and the transition to adult services 

• improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT)  

• community mental health services 

• personality disorder services  

• mental health crisis response. 

Mental health, dementia, learning disability and autism 
Mental health services during the pandemic 

We are proud that our commissioned mental health services have continued to adapt in response to COVID-19 
and adopt safe ways of working to ensure they support the population of Warrington. Both primary and 
secondary care mental health services have remained open throughout, and we want to encourage people to 
continue to seek mental health support when they need it.  

Plans for 2022/23 are to continue to learn from the new ways of working and continue to adapt services to 
ensure maximum accessibility in a safe way. Partners continue to deliver against the Mental Health Long Term 
Plan (LTP) and Warrington’s local Mental Health Strategy has been refreshed, with the involvement of key 
stakeholders, to support LTP ambitions at pace. 

Primary care mental health services 
Mental Health Workers in Primary Care Networks  

Mental Health Practitioners were added to the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) from April 
2021, and this is part of a wider transformation of community mental health services* for adults and older adults 
that seeks to bridge the divide between primary care and secondary mental health care, and physical and mental 
health services. The NHS England target was that 33% of PCNs would have these roles in place by March 2022.  

Warrington has been an early implementer across Mid Mersey and there is 50% coverage of PCNs at end of 
January 2022, with 70% set to be covered by March 2022.  
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The post holders focus on the transition between primary care and secondary care mental health services and 
offer timed interventions based on a stepped model of care (see below). As part of the model, GPs have direct 
access to psychiatry and pharmacists. 

    Who is 
responsible 
for care? 

What is the 
focus? 

What do they do?     

   
1 

GP Mild 
depression / 
anxiety 

Assessment, watchful waiting, 
guided self-help, exercise, referral to 
social prescriber – local IAPT team 
for brief psychological interventions 

    

  2 
GP / PCN 
Mental Health 
Nurse 

Persistent mild 
depression / 
anxiety 

Provide advice and guidance to 
support GP’s assessment and 
treatment plan – joint consultations 

   

 3 
PCN Mental 
Health Nurse 

Moderate or 
severe 
depression 

Assessments, medication, 
psychological interventions, social 
support 

  

4 
PCN specialist 
team via 
NHS.net 
referral 

Severe or 
complex 
mental health 
presentations – 
no significant 
risk 

Access to secondary services, 
medication, complex psychological 
interventions, combined treatments 

 

Early indication is that this development is delivering positive impacts across the system. Patients have fed back 
that they feel more at ease knowing there is support for their mental health at their GP as previously they have 
felt they needed to be in a crisis to access support for their mental health. 
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Military veterans 

We continue to work to improve our offer to military 
veterans (i.e. anyone who has served in Her Majesty’s 
Armed Forces for one day or more). NHS Warrington 
CCG, in conjunction with Halton CCG, has achieved 
bronze accreditation for the Armed Forces Covenant 
Employer Recognition scheme and is currently working 
towards silver accreditation. 

We continue to strive to improve the identification of 
veterans in primary care so they can be offered priority 
access to services where applicable. As part of this, 
NHS Warrington CCG has worked with Chester 
University and Forces in Mind Trust (FIMT), across six 
Warrington GP practices, as part of ‘Where are all the veterans’, research study. The six-month study increased 
the identification of veterans significantly though the actual increase will be confirmed when FIMT publishes the 
research results later in 2022. 

Secondary care mental health services  
Park House 

This three-bedded, 24/7 crisis house, welcomes ‘guests’ from both Halton and Warrington, who are in a low-level 
mental health crisis and would benefit from some ‘time out’ but in a non-clinical setting. Park House now accepts 
referrals directly from Talking Matters Warrington (the IAPT service), not just specialist secondary mental health 
services. Park House continues to deliver in terms of preventing inappropriate hospital admission for the majority 
of its guests, most of whom present with social issues. 

24/7 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment  

The Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team supports individuals in mental health crisis. They offer short-term 
intensive assessment and treatment interventions. The team works with individuals in their own home or 
sometimes other places of convenience. It can provide an alternative to admission. Throughout 2021, the team, 
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working with partner agencies, supported individuals during the pandemic and operated a 24/7, 365 days a year 
service. 

In Warrington, 794 referrals were received from April 2021 to January 2022, which resulted in more than 3,500 
face-to-face contacts. 

The crisis team is a pivotal mental health service and aligned to aspirational NHSE investment and strategy will 
develop initiatives to enhance the clinical offer, inclusive of further alternatives to admission such as crisis cafes 
and inter-agency working with other emergency services such as the police and NWAS. 

Core 24 mental health liaison at A&E 

COVID-19 led to providers having to work in challenging conditions, 
with staff being redeployed to frontline services. As a result, the 
potential of having a Core 24 mental health liaison team in 
Warrington Hospital has not yet been fully realised. 
Notwithstanding, staff from Warrington Hospital and Mersey Care 
have forged robust working relationships, agreed on care pathways 
and undertaken recruitment to teams. As we slowly move out of the 
pressures of the pandemic, the steering group which will oversee 
the development of the service has now been re-established. 

In terms of very high-level activity, there were 1,500 referrals into 
the service, between April 2021 and January 2022. 

The Haven, Virtual Crisis Café 

This is a one-year pilot for people who call the 24/7 crisis line and 
need extended time on their call. Referrals are made from those 
working on the crisis line. Reasons for needing the extended period 
of support include anxiety, isolation, suicidal ideation, depression. 
Initial feedback remains very positive. 
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Severe mental illness (SMI) and physical health  

Access to primary care has been significantly hampered due to COVID-
19, meaning physical health checks of people with SMI have been 
limited. This was impacted further with the priority for booster vaccine 
rollout whereby QoF (which includes SMI physical health) was 
postponed for this year.  

In order to support the physical health of those with SMI and primary 
care: 

• we continue to commission the SMI health facilitation team, 
based within Mersey Care. This team facilitates the engagement 
of patients and ensures all primary care SMI registers remain 
accurate. An additional post from the outreach team was funded 
to support attendance at health checks and subsequent 
interventions, for example smoking cessation and weight 
management programmes 

• non-Recurrent funding from NHSE was used to provide ‘booster’ 
health checks by local PCNs and CIC, both in and out of hours. 
These additional checks were performed by non-core members of 
the primary care team, thus reducing the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on performance 

• an NHS Warrington CCG template (based on the gold standard 
Bristol template) was introduced and promoted for use in all 
surgeries. This included direct referral links for local services, to 
ensure interventions are made in a timely fashion. 

Community mental health transformation 

The Mental Health Long Term Plan describes a variety of transformational 
developments. In addition to the ARRS roles mentioned above, there have 
been exciting developments that will improve the personality disorder 
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pathway, services for people with eating disorders and, those people seeking employment, via the Individual 
Placement Service (IPS). 

Spending review and service development fund opportunities 

COVID-19 led to the allocation of additional funding to support the pressures resulting from the pandemic. 
Warrington’s voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector have worked with NHS Warrington CCG 
to develop some innovative opportunities, some of which are noted below: 

• Get Warrington Talking (Warrington Speak Up)* 

• Good neighbour scheme (Warrington Voluntary Action) 

• High-intensity user scheme Warrington Wellbeing) 

• Dementia Care Navigators (Warrington Wellbeing) 

• Neuro-observational training (Bridgewater – not VCSE). 

The above photos show Get Warrington Talking at the Tour of Britain in Bank Quay Park for the end of the 
cycling stage, the street five-a-side chessboard and the ‘Battling Suicide’ bus. All of these will be evaluated in 
2022. 

Self-care is supported, with more people managing their own 
conditions 
Moving people into the community and reducing reliance on inpatient care  

The local LD Service model in both Warrington and Halton aligns with the white paper and the national service 
model ‘Building the Right Support’. Pathways are being developed locally to reflect national good practices in 
working together to support preventable admissions. Looking forward, NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton 
CCG are in discussion regarding investing in the Intensive Support Function following the reduction in 
commissioned bed days. 

Care and treatment reviews (CTRs)  

Both NHS Warrington and NHS Halton CCG have embedded the CTR policy into practice. CTRs, ‘Blue Light’ 
meetings, pre-admission CTRs and dynamic support database (DSD) meetings are conducted weekly, in 
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accordance with the national CTR Policy framework. All these processes are logged and reported to NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I). NHS Warrington CCG is currently 100% compliant with inpatient 
CTRs for individuals who meet the criteria. 

Annual health checks 

Physical health checks remain a priority for both NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG. Both CCGs have 
been working with Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust and GP practices to maintain the uptake of annual health 
checks, recognising the difficulties COVID restrictions have posed. In the latter half of the year, face-to-face 
appointments for these checks have been restored offering a more meaningful and positive experience for the 
individuals, and a higher level of quality. 

Case study: 24/7 mental health crisis response 

Development of the 24/7 crisis response pathway is now complete with a robust range of services available. 
These include the 24/7/ mental health crisis line, Core 24, Park House, a Home Treatment team and the 
Haven, a virtual crisis café. 

The 24/7 Mental Health Crisis Line went live in April 2020 and continues to provide urgent mental health 
support for people of all ages, including children and young people. It is a free NHS telephone number (0800 
051 1508).  

NHS England is evaluating the service, and the report is due in March 2022. 

2,506 calls 

In Warrington from April 2021 to 
January 2022 

1,738 women 768 men 
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We launched the ‘Let’s Do It Together’ campaign at the beginning of November 2021, alongside mid-Mersey 
partners to encourage people to access the right health services at the right time.  

Each year, the NHS is faced with increased activity and pressures on services especially during the winter 
months.  

To highlight these challenges, the local NHS in Warrington, Halton, Knowsley and St Helens as well as 
Warrington Borough Council and Halton Borough Council came together to give people a glimpse of life at the 
front line of a range of NHS services. 

Included in the ‘Let’s Do It Together’ campaign was a week 
of action on social media platforms which went behind the 
scenes at NHS 111, A&E, urgent care centres, pharmacies 
and GP practices across Halton, Knowsley, St Helens and 
Warrington. Each day, colleagues shared important 
messages about local NHS services. 

We also worked in partnership with Newsquest to run an 
extensive social media advertising campaign to share our 
video content with a larger and much more diverse 
audience. View the full video. 

The campaign generated some impressive engagement figures:  

556,063 

Views of the content 

6,009 

Click-throughs to relevant websites 

1.08% 

Click-through rate 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=58O_c3SYT_k
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=58O_c3SYT_k
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The best care is provided in the right place at the right time 
Cancer 

NHS Warrington CCG continues to work collaboratively with the Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance to 
maintain and develop high-quality service provision across the full range of clinical providers and pathways.  

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the delivery of the constitutional standards relating to cancer care. Cancer 
care has been prioritised, and collaborative working across providers and the independent sector has supported 
the maintenance of timely clinical care. 

During 2021/22, referral levels were maintained above-expected levels as people felt confident to present with 
clinical symptoms. Local and national communications raised public awareness and encouraged people to seek 
medical assistance. 

Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance has worked with the system to safely deliver diagnostic tests. For 
example, Independent Sector sites were used to increase capacity for some diagnostic tests, including the 
delivery of some aerosol-generating procedures, like endoscopy and computerised tomography (CT) Colon.  

Faecal Immunochemical Testing (FIT) testing was implemented during the pandemic across the full waiting list, 
including surveillance and lower risk cohorts. This enabled the stratification of the endoscopy waiting list, so that 
access was prioritised and maintained for people with the greatest diagnostic need. This has now been 
mainstreamed and will be part of clinical pathways on a permanent basis.  

Waiting lists continue to be monitored and proactively managed with additional input from Increasing Capacity 
Framework contracts with Independent Sector providers.  

Collaborative working across the system ensures patient pathways are managed efficiently and effectively, 
supporting the system delivery of cancer waiting times. Service re-design is utilised as required to improve 
outcomes and experiences of those affected by cancer. For example, Cancer Support Worker roles originally 
funded by Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance are now funded recurrently. These roles are integral to the 
delivery of cancer services for improved patient outcomes and experiences, supporting earlier diagnosis and 
development and delivery of risk-stratified follow-up care.  

Recognising the need to improve Screening uptake rates, NHS Warrington CCG has substantively appointed to 
a Cancer Screening Co-ordinator post. This role is viewed as critical to increasing screening uptake rates and will 
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expand on work with the Cancer Alliance, Cancer Research UK and primary care colleagues to deliver 
improvement in cancer screening uptake for prevention and early detection of cancer across the three cancer 
screening programmes (cervical, bowel and breast).  

NHS Warrington CCG has a commissioned Cancer and Wellbeing Programme. Referrals have continued during 
the pandemic period and work is progressing to ensure that people are able to access services and support. 

Urgent and emergency care 

2021/22 has been an unprecedented year for urgent and emergency care services. The pandemic has put even 
more pressure on the system’s ability to achieve the constitutional standards for urgent care.  

At the end of 2020/21, Warrington had seen one of its most challenging periods for several years. NHS 
Warrington CCG had experienced unprecedented demand for Critical Care services due to COVID-19, higher 
occupancy due to increased length of stay and significant waits for discharge due to capacity challenges in 
receiving services such as social care.  

In the same time frame, we have seen a continued decreasing trend in the overall number of arrivals by 
ambulance but patients arriving were more poorly due to COVID-19 and the complications of the pandemic.  

The focus for the year was supporting the hospital to maintain safety and capacity for critical care patients with or 
without COVID-19. To achieve this, we worked with partners to increase all potential capacity, supporting 
patients on discharge including social care services.  

During 2021/22 following the introduction of NHS 111 First in 2019/20 the number of people who have contacted 
NHS 111 and subsequently sent to A&E has reduced significantly from a high of 68% in June 2020 to a low of 
28% in December 2021. 
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The purpose of NHS 111 First remains the same: 

To: prevent nosocomial infection 
We need to: avoid congregation in Emergency Department (ED) 
waiting rooms 

By ensuring that:  

• patients who do not need to attend ED are directed to the appropriate setting 

• patients go directly to the correct department NOT via ED 

• our community services are robust 

• ED is reserved for emergency patients. 
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The Warrington Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) has seen an increasing number of patients with a high 
proportion remaining at home without the need to access A&E. Prior to the CAS, the only option for these 
patients open to NHS 111 would have been a referral to A&E. 

The winter planning process was once again a whole system approach. This year the process led with a 
Cheshire and Merseyside (C&M) regional footprint. The C&M plan was submitted and approved by NHSE. 

The number of ambulances arriving at our hospital continues to reduce.  

In 2021/22 the Combined Assessment Unit mobilised, operating 24/7 to support admission avoidance. Moving 
into 2022/23 the mobilisation of the A&E plaza will mean an expanded space for assessment and direct access 
from primary care removing the need for patients to travel through and wait in A&E. 

The local Rapid Community Response Service expanded its offer to seven days per week from 8am to 8pm. The 
service is seeing more and more people referred via GPs, NWAS, community services and self-referral offering 
assessment within two hours and support up to 72 hours to avoid the need for admission to hospital. Looking into 
2022/23 we aim to expand this service even further. 

Transforming elective care  

The Long-Term Plan aspiration to transform Outpatient Services incorporating a reduction of 30% of face-to-face 
attends over five years has been accelerated through the COVID-19 pandemic due to necessity but has enabled 
significant and long-lasting change to be tested and embedded.  

NHS Warrington CCG has fully engaged with commissioned providers and the Cheshire and Merseyside Elective 
Care Programme, which has had workstreams to support the increased opportunities and use of: 

• virtual consultations, including the use of the Attend Anywhere video consultation platform 

• advice and guidance services 

• patient-initiated follow up (PIFU)  

• tele-dermatology. 

The maintenance of effective referral pathways will continue through robust review, monitoring, and liaison 
(Referral Assistance Gateway). This process ensures patient choice is prioritised and offered equitably across 
the population. This service has been maintained during the COVID-19 pandemic in working consistently across 
the system and working with e-Referral Service (eRS) to allow flexibility of booking approaches when required.  
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Innovations such as RAS (Referral Assessment Service) clinics have been utilised to ensure that people were 
managed in-line with their clinical needs and priority to receive timely and safe care. 

Referral levels during 2021/22 were routinely monitored throughout the year. Cancer and urgent referral levels 
were restored to pre-pandemic levels during 2020/21, however routine referrals have steadily increased 
throughout 2021/22.  

 

Typically, and in previous years, NHS Warrington CCG would achieve the Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
standard, exceeding the 92% national threshold. During 2021/22 the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has 
resulted in performance being reduced to 71.8% (October 2021 position).  

In October 2019, NHS Warrington CCG had 0 people waiting more than 52 weeks to access an elective 
procedure, however, this had increased to 949 by October 2021.  

Cheshire and Merseyside commissioners and providers have met weekly during 2021/22 regarding the recovery 
of elective care. Plans and improvement trajectories are in place at provider and ICS level. Developments to 
support the system such as mutual aid, use of independent sector, bids for capital developments, use of green 
sites and surgical hubs are developed, mobilised and evaluated through this forum. 
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Commissioned providers have participated in the Waiting List Validation scheme and all people on the waiting list 
have been appropriately clinically assessed and assigned a clinical priority in line with national guidance.  

The ICS system has worked collaboratively across NHS providers and Independent Sector providers to ensure 
that high-priority cancer, urgent surgery and people experiencing long waiting times for surgery have been 
maintained throughout the pandemic period.  

Collaboration and joint working with commissioned providers has remained consistently strong during the 
pandemic period. Clinical Quality meetings have remained active, with task and finish groups implemented when 
required to support key areas, for example, phlebotomy service provision. 

Palliative and end of life 

‘Palliative care’ describes the physical, psychological, and social care and support given to people who have an 
illness or disease that cannot be cured, aiming to achieve the best possible quality of life for patients to ‘live as 
well as they can for as long as they can’.  

Unfortunately, data showed many patients in their last year of 
life experience unplanned, and often unnecessary emergency 
admissions and long hospital stays which are frequently not 
conducive to good quality living, dying, and normal grieving. 

NHS Warrington CCG and Macmillan Cancer Support 
undertook a two-year development programme during 2018/19 
and 2019/20 to improve care for people who are receiving 
palliative or end-of-life services. 

2021/22 has been an important year for reflection and to 
review end of life and palliative care in terms of developments 
that have evolved following COVID-19 and to ensure that 
improvements are sustained into the future. 
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Supportive Care Register 

In a given population 1% of people will die every year, 30% from a cancer cause, and 70% from a non-cancer 
illness. Primary care teams have continued to identify and proactively manage people through a Supportive Care 
Register and team meetings held involving many different healthcare professionals to coordinate care for those 
with changing needs. Before the project, 361 people in the borough were on the register but now, after making 
these changes, this has increased to approximately 10,309 (4.6%) people. 

The single point of contact and palliative care hub continue to embed and deliver an effective model of care 
which is easier for patients and their loved ones to access and negotiate. 

A bid to develop a Palliative Care Virtual Ward has been successful and operates under the governance of the 
Regional Scaling Programme. This exciting project is in the planning stage with further work to continue during 
2022/23. 

Care homes 

The engagement plan continues to ensure there is public involvement in the development of a new model for 
enhanced care home support. The plan included: 

• patient and carer representative involvement from WIRED Carers 

• involvement from Healthwatch Warrington 

• planned one-to-one interviews and case studies with patients and carers 

• feedback from primary care and care homes. 

We have continued to work in partnership with Warrington Borough Council in supporting the residents and care 
homes to ensure quality and safe care is maintained during the COVID-19 pandemic and onwards. 

Our partnership working with the local authority and other stakeholders has developed a vision and plan for the 
further development of care homes across the borough.  

Whilst quality site visits remained limited in the early part of the year due to the ongoing COVID-19 restrictions, 
these were recommenced as restrictions eased.  
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Our Quality Improvement Nurse has supported the quality visits and this has strengthened links in working 
across NHS Warrington CCG’s, community services and local authority to improve quality surveillance and 
oversight and provide clinical and professional support to nurses working within care homes. 

NHS Warrington CCG’s partnership working with local authority and Community Enhanced Care Home Support 
team colleagues in the form of a weekly forum, provided an opportunity to share information and offer responsive 
support to care homes in a timely manner.  

Additional support provided was facilitated through: 

• access to training to support care home in their use of electronic devices and through establishing links 
with Barclays ‘Digital Eagles’ 

• maintaining support for equipment purchased by NHS Warrington CCG 

• access to NHS email for 100% of care homes and home care services in the borough 

• further roll out of RESTORE2 tool is supporting homes in their identification of deterioration and providing 
them with the communication tools to support clinical decision making when liaising with primary care and 
other health clinicians 

• a package of health and wellbeing resources has been made available to support care home staff during 
the pandemic – recognising many have experienced bereavement inside and outside the work 
environment 

• further developments within the Capacity Tracker has enabled a robust response to delivering the COVID-
19 vaccination programme for care home residents and staff. Having access to the data provided a 
greater level of intelligence to offer additional help to care homes who may require it 

• building on the alignment of all care homes to GP practices, has strengthened relationships and 
communication through the establishment of regular MDTs in line with the implementation of the primary 
care Directed Enhanced Service (DES). 
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Host commissioner 

NHS Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG provide Host Commissioner oversite for three local inpatient 
facilities through compliance with the national Host Commissioner policy. NHS Warrington CCG has written to all 
placing CCGs and stakeholders to inform them about the local process. A local database has been established 
for each provider to collate any concerns in relation to quality, safety and safeguarding. Placing CCGs have 
started to use the database and there has been a regular oversite Host Commissioner meeting with all placing 
CCGs that is chaired by the Host Commissioner Chief Nurse. 

Ageing well 
Ageing well and anticipatory care 

The Warrington Frailty Programme has now been moved within the Warrington Ageing Well Programme. It will 
build on the work of the Warrington Frailty Programme and will take a wider life course approach to incorporate 
the Cheshire and Merseyside Ageing Well Framework, which include Urgent Community Response, Enhanced 
Health in Care Homes and Anticipatory Care.  

The current Frailty Programme includes four system-wide workstreams:  

1. living independently at home for as long as possible 
2. awareness, education and training 
3. supporting people to make the most of their medications 
4. effective discharge and discharge to assess. 

Within these four workstreams, the priority areas that will be central to the Ageing Well Programme of work are:  

• development of integrated community teams across Warrington to improve population health outcomes, 
staff experience of delivering care and people’s experience of care 

• targeted and structured medication reviews to optimise medication and reduce polypharmacy in the elderly 
where appropriate 

• to ensure system alignment with one purpose of seamless flow through the community, intermediate care 
and acute setting. This would entail placed based multidisciplinary approach, rapid community response 
when needed and optimising discharge to assess.  
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The Ageing Well Programme will align to the Cheshire and Merseyside programme and therefore focus on three 
streams to transform community services:  

• Urgent Community Response: Provision of services that improve the quality and capacity of care for 
people through the delivery of urgent, crisis response care within two hours and/or reablement care 
responses within two days 

• Enhanced Care in Care Homes: Facilitating proactive, personalised care and support for individuals both 
in care homes and those living in the community requiring support 

• Anticipatory Care: Targeting people living with frailty, multimorbidity and/or complex needs to help them 
stay in their own setting for as long as possible. To this effect, below are the ongoing programmes and 
projects. 

Intermediate care 

Intermediate care supports a broad range of people, many of whom are living with frailty, as they transfer 
between home and hospital. This has been a core tenet of maintaining hospital bed capacity during long periods 
of sustained, escalated demand during 2021/22. A new model has been designed collaboratively to develop this 
service for the future, with an expanded Intermediate Care at Home offer and a review of the bed base. 

Urgent Community Response 

During 2021/22, NHS Warrington CCG has continued as one of seven national Urgent Community Response 
(UCR) Accelerator sites, supported by NHS England. Colleagues from health and social care have worked 
together closely to design and implement an enhanced ‘rapid response’ service.  

The service deploys a combination of health and care colleagues to people’s homes to provide immediate 
support in a crisis within a two-hour period. Care is provided for up to 72 hours and is designed to help people 
remain at home where this is the most appropriate place for them. The service now operates seven days a week 
from 8am to 8pm.  

Focus is now on expanding the number of entry points into the service to allow more people to receive urgent 
care within their own homes. Care homes, NHS 111 and NWAS are now key partners in this work. 
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Frailty 

The frailty programme was identified as critical during the pandemic and to the system and was maintained 
throughout 2021/22. 

Frailty in Warrington has a singular focus – supporting those living with frailty to live independent, high-quality 
lives at home, for as long as possible. This, in turn, prevents avoidable non-elective and elective hospital 
admissions, avoidable entry to long-term care, and any subsequent associated negative impact on the individual, 
their family and the system as a whole. 

 

We measure this by counting the number of days the whole population, over the ages of 65, 75 and 85, live at 
home – out of 365 days. This measure is meaningful and makes a difference to our population. It is aspirational, 
but realistic. 
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The whole system in Warrington, from proactive care in integrated community teams, through intermediate care 
and secondary care, operates as ‘one system, one purpose’ – our population living with frailty, as some of the 
most vulnerable in our society, continue to be our priority. 

Within this system, our Living Well with Frailty programme has four key workstreams, governed by a system-wide 
programme board: 
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Our approach to cohort identification 

The Electronic Frailty Index (EFI) provides a trigger for general practice to review their patient cohort; following 
patient consultation, the patient receives a Rockwood score. A score between four and seven represents people 
for whom we can make the biggest difference. This is used across our system, helping us to develop our target 
cohort, for whom we can make the biggest difference. 

All partners working together as true peers – all parties – health, social care, experts with lived experience, 
providers, suppliers – have a valid and powerful part to play in supporting those living with frailty. We recognise 
and embrace the value of local knowledge, awareness of the nature and needs of our population, and have 
assembled a locally based team of peers, each working equally together to meet the needs of the population, 
regardless of their organisation. It is outcome led for the people we are making a difference for. 

We are striving to do the basics brilliantly 

The evidence, data and insight leads to the conclusion that it is the ‘simple’ things that, were they to be better, 
would deliver the outcome, that’s where the work is. 
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This is particularly apparent in our major focus on proactive care delivery through our integrated community 
teams, which we are leading under the Anticipatory Care programme. 

  

We have brought together health, social care and external provider data, at patient level, to understand where: 

• there are overlapping services which duplicate unnecessarily, missing services needed to support an 
individual 

• there is a material risk of increased acute admission, based on both Acorn profiling, and historic service 
attendance and admission 

• there are deficits in the eight ‘fundamental indicators’ which, when they go wrong, avoidably take away 
somebody’s independence. These are shown in the diagram above. 
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Raising standards of awareness, education, and training 

Improving ownership of and identifying and addressing early issues at the earliest point for those living with frailty 
is everybody’s business – regardless of technical area of expertise. Together, we are shifting our mindset as a 
system away from ‘reacting to a concern or crisis’ to instead thinking the following: 

We are working to create a broadly-skilled and developing workforce who have the authority and freedom to 
operate beyond their ‘job profile’, avoiding referring on for ‘simple’ things that we can all do – have a conversation 
with local colleagues to sort it together, if you can’t sort it yourself. Colleagues only seek to ‘refer on’ where 
something is needed beyond the scope of normal multidisciplinary, joint working. This developing approach is 
shown in the diagram below. 

Throughout 2021/22, the COVID-19 pandemic has further strengthened the need to support those most 
vulnerable in society, and the approach we are taking to support those living with frailty is only made more 
important due to the pandemic. 

The focus over the coming period remains on our outcome – improving independence at home for those living 
with frailty, who are at materially increased risk of potentially avoidable loss of independence, through the 
structured programme of delivery. 

We envisage that awareness, education and training will continue to be a high priority, to continue to strengthen 
the skills of all frontline colleagues across health, social care and VCFSE partners as peer members of our 
group. 

In line with the development of integrated care systems nationally, the recent publications ‘Integrating Care: Next 
steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems across England’, and the White Paper on health 
and social care, our integrated community teams will endeavour to bring together health, social care and VCFSE 
colleagues as one system, working proactively to support those with frailty to live independently in their own 
settings. 
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Intermediate care 

Intermediate care supports a broad range of people, many of whom are living with frailty, as they transfer 
between home and hospital. This has been a core tenet of maintaining hospital bed capacity during long periods 
of sustained, escalated demand during 2021/22. A new model has been designed collaboratively to develop this 
service for the future, with a number of digital patient engagement forums being held. 
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Urgent Community Response 

We have been one of seven national Urgent Community Response (UCR) Accelerator sites, supported by NHS 
England. Colleagues from health and social care have worked together closely to design and implement an 
enhanced ‘rapid response’ service, which deploys a combination of health and care colleagues to people’s 
homes, to provide immediate support in a crisis, within a two-hour period. Care is provided for up to 72 hours and 
is designed to help people remain at home where this is the most appropriate place for them. 

Care at Home (also referred to as domiciliary care) 

Support and specialist input has been provided to the new Care at Home service specification design, as part of 
the frailty programme, to strengthen the new care at home offer and ensure that this will play a greater part in 
supporting those receiving care, who are often living with frailty, to remain at home living independently. 

Supporting people to make the most of their medicines 

Significant work is underway across both community and hospital services, to support people to make the most 
of their medicines. Initiatives include carrying out regular reviews of medications for people living with frailty to 
make sure medications are working as expected. We have supported and taken the lead on the polypharmacy 
and deprescribing workstream within the Warrington frailty and integrated care work programmes. A number of 
resources including a toolkit are being developed to bring all of these together to support clinicians across both 
secondary and primary care with a consistent and safe approach to deprescribing and polypharmacy reviews. 

Returning home from hospital effectively 

Following a hospital stay, several initiatives are underway which help to ensure that people living with frailty are 
able to return to living independently at home in as smooth a manner as possible. Discharge to Assess pathways 
have been developed across health and social care to enable people to return home earlier, with a ‘home first’ 
mindset. 
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Primary care 
Be Kind 

Staff in general practices across the country work 
extremely hard to keep people safe while facing 
huge demand for their services. The autumn of 
2021 was looking like one of their busiest ever 
periods before winter had even arrived. 

We worked closely with Primary Care teams to 
develop a local campaign to tackle the rise in 
abuse of primary care staff.  

As part of the ‘Be Kind’ campaign, we produced 
and shared a suite of materials which included 
social media assets and website copy. The aim of the campaign was to highlight how primary care was working 
differently during the pandemic, ensuring people were aware of the important changes. We also engaged with 
local media to secure coverage of our key messages. 

Primary Care Networks  

All 26 practices continue to be members of a Primary Care Network (PCN). Helsby Street Medical Centre 
became a member of the Central and West Warrington PCN in 2021/22 – moving from Central East Warrington 
PCN. The Primary Care Commissioning Committee approved this move, and agreed that Central East 
Warrington PCN remained a viable PCN. 

In terms of the PCN DES service specifications: 

• the Medicine Optimisation specification remained in place 

• the Early Cancer Diagnosis service specification remained in place 

• the Enhanced Health in Care Homes service specification remained in place 

• a social prescribing link worker service, funding via the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) 
is in place across all PCNs. 
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Two new service specifications commenced: Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Diagnosis, and Tacking 
Neighbourhood Inequalities. 

In November 2020, the British Medical Association (BMA) General Practitioners’ Committee in England agreed 
with the NHSE/I general practice COVID-19 vaccination enhanced service. This service was commissioned in 
line with agreed national terms and conditions as an enhanced service, which all practices accepted and 
commenced the delivery of COVID-19 vaccinations in December 2020.  

Practices have coordinated and delivered COVID-19 vaccinations at scale and through pop-up and practice 
based models. This has ensured that eligible patients are vaccinated in the minimum amount of time, in 
accordance with the guidance from the JCVI. The CCG has developed plans with the PCNs to ensure that 
moving into 2022/23 access to vaccines remains. 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) and Governing Body have been kept fully appraised of the 
implementation and actions linked to core primary care, the PCN DES, and the COVID-19 response. 

Immunisations and screening 

The NHS Long Term Plan aims to support people to live longer, healthier lives by helping them to make the right 
lifestyle choices and treating illness at an early stage. Our aim is to work with our partners to prevent disease or 
injury before it occurs. 

Vaccines are the most effective way to prevent an infectious disease, they prevent up to three million deaths 
worldwide each year. Immunisations have been maintained through COVID-19, and uptake rates are maintained 
due to continued promotion and signposting appropriately. There is a cohort of individuals who have declined the 
vaccination programme consistently. Working in collaboration with local authorities, acute trust, community 
pharmacy and wider support agencies ideas and initiatives have been suggested, discussed and promoted with 
the continued option for individuals to access appropriate eligible vaccinations. 
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Case study: Transfer of services from NHS Warrington CCG 
to Primary Care Networks 

Throughout 2021/22, work has continued with the Primary Care team and the PCN Clinical Directors to make 
an early transfer of the commissioning responsibility and funding of the extended access service and to review 
and look at options for service redesign of the CCG commissioned enhanced care home support service.  

The date of transfer of the extended access service has been confirmed as 1 October 2022, however the CCG 
and the PCNs adopted a project management approach and piloted the delivery, at PCN level, of an extended 
access service.  Information from the pilot will ensure that a robust and informed consultation with patients can 
be held to enable the full service to be transferred on 1 October 2022.   

The CCG has agreed to continue to fund the PCN delivered service as this will increase access to primary care 
appointments. This is in addition to the current service which following appropriate governance steps will be 
transferred to the PCNs in 2022. Once the budget has transferred to the PCNs, NHS Warrington CCG will 
have an assurance rather than a commissioning role. 

NHS Warrington CCG historically commissioned Enhanced Care Home Support services from Bridgewater 
Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust as one of the legacy services of the Prime Minister’s Challenge 
Fund (funding awarded to Warrington practices in 2014). The PCNs in Warrington are keen to work with the 
current provider to redesign the service taking account of the new specifications within the PCN direct 
enhanced service. Throughout 2021/22, the PCNs have undertaken engagement with care homes and worked 
to look at how working collaboratively the service can be changed to improve the care for residents in care 
homes for older people and to reduce admissions to hospital. 
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Flu vaccination 

The influenza (flu) vaccine is offered every year on the NHS to help protect people at risk of flu and the 
complications it brings. During 2020/21, the cohorts for the flu vaccine were amended making the immunisation 
readily available to all over-50s.  

A weekly influenza immunisation meeting was initiated in September 2020 with social care providers to discuss 
uptake, areas of low acceptance and good practice and consistent communication across the whole system. 
Liaising with practice nurses and health care assistants on a monthly basis allowed supportive conversations and 
an awareness of dilemmas that may have impacted upon the delivery of the flu programme as well as 
highlighting individual choices and concerns. Virtual and face-to-face update training sessions were facilitated by 
NHS Warrington CCG. They were well attended and evaluated.  

Multi-agency provider meetings have also been initiated to ensure collaborative working to deliver COVID-19 
vaccinations.  

NHS Warrington CCG influenza uptake statistics (sourced from IMMFORM) 

>65 years ‘At risk’  
<65 years 

Pregnancy Two years 
(on 31/08/21) 

Three years 
(on 31/08/21) 

81.9% 52.7% 37.6% 45.2% 51.9% 

 

  



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

109 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

Sustainable development 
The CCGs’ sustainable development plans were put on hold due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
However, staff are able to continue to work from home in line with our agile working 
arrangements, thus reducing carbon emissions.  

The CCG will contribute as part of the Cheshire and Merseyside sustainable development programme to further 
enhance this work. This includes CCG staff taking part in the Cheshire and Merseyside Carbon Literacy Training 
programme. 

Going Concern 
The Public Audit Forum issued guidance, late in 2020, on how auditing standards should be 
applied in the Public Sector. This updated guidance, approved by the Financial Reporting 
Council, explains that where the applicable financial reporting framework provides that the 
anticipated continued provision of services is a sufficient basis for ongoing concerns, then this 
should determine the extent of the auditor’s procedure’s ongoing concerns. This is the case in 
the NHS, with the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) Group Accounting Manual 
(GAM), where this definition applies. 

This means that, for the 2020/21 year-end onwards, while management in NHS bodies still needs to document 
their basis for adopting the going concern basis, this assessment should solely be based on the anticipated 
future provision of services in the public sector. 

The basis of assessment for the CCG has been outlined as per the following, and this is recommended for 
inclusion with the reported financial statements: The CCG’s financial accounts are prepared under a direction 
issued under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

On 12 February 2021, the Government issued a White Paper proposing legislative change that would lead to the 
restructuring of the NHS and the abolition of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). On 1 July 2022, the 
services undertaken and commissioned by NHS Halton CCG, together with the assets, liabilities, and staff will be 
transferred to a new NHS organisation, the NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board, that will 
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absorb its statutory duties. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of services in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in 
published documents. Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of 
going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial 
statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 

The CCG will also produce, alongside NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board, a financial plan for 
2022/23 that considers how the system will work collaboratively, and collectively, to manage the system position 
into sustainable financial balance. The transitional arrangements will also be considered within this financial plan, 
which will be shared with NHS North West. 

For non-trading entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, 
as evidenced by the inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents, is normally sufficient 
evidence of going concern. 

Therefore, based on the above, the accounts will be prepared on a going concern basis recognising that: 

• Healthcare services will continue to be provided for residents of Warrington 

• NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board system will produce a collective financial plan, in 
collaboration with partners, that will be issued to NHS North West 

• The CCG has been notified of its financial allocation for the remaining period of its existence during the 
first quarter of 2022/23. 
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Corporate Governance Report 
The purpose of the Corporate Governance Report is to explain the composition and organisation 
of NHS Warrington CCG’s governance structures and how they support the achievement of NHS 
Warrington CCG’s objectives. 

Members’ report  

Members profiles 

 

Dr Ian Watson, Clinical Chair 

Ian was GP in Warrington at Fearnhead Surgery for 34 years before retiring from general 
practice in 2021. He also worked in dermatology services at Warrington Wolves for a 
number of years and joined the Governing Body of NHS Warrington CCG in 2015. Ian 
was appointed as Chair of NHS Warrington CCG in 2019. 

 

 Dr Andrew Davies, Clinical Chief Officer 

Andy worked as a GP in Warrington for over 10 years. He has worked in GP practices in 
Warrington and Runcorn since graduating from Liverpool University in 1997. Andy holds 
a joint Clinical Chief Officer role across both NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington 
CCG. Andy is Vice Chair of the Urgent and Emergency Care work programme, in support 
of the Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership.   
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 David Cooper, Chief Finance Officer 

David was appointed as Chief Finance Officer in March 2015. He is a full member of the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA). Prior to joining NHS Warrington 
CCG, David had worked in the NHS across both provider and commissioning 
organisations and has accrued over 20 years’ experience of working in different roles in 
NHS finance. 
 

 Michelle Creed, Chief Nurse 

Michelle was appointed as Chief Nurse at NHS Halton CCG in 2017 and took on a joint 
role including NHS Warrington CCG in April 2018. Michelle is a Registered Nurse and 
Specialist Practitioner and has a BA (Hons) in Health Studies and an MSc in Health 
Studies. Michelle is passionate about the quality, safety and patient experience of 
services commissioned and delivered to the population. Michelle retired from her post on 
31 March 2022 after over 44 years’ service working across health and social care, locally, 
regionally, and nationally.  

 

Julie Langton, Secondary Care Doctor 

Julie was a consultant obstetrician and gynaecologist at St Helens and Knowsley NHS 
Trust. She retired in 2015 from clinical practice and took up the role of secondary care 
doctor initially at NHS Halton CCG. The role is now a joint role across both NHS Halton 
CCG and NHS Warrington CCG. 
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Dr Golam Chowdhury, GP Member Representative. South Warrington PCN 

Golam is a GP from Fearnhead Cross and Longford Street Medical Centres which is part 
of the East Warrington PCN. He is a GP trainer and has a keen interest in medical 
education in Warrington. 

 

 

Kevin Goucher, Patient Representative (non-voting member) 

Kevin retired in 2011 after holding senior positions in the retail sector over a period of 48 
years. Kevin held the position of Director of Buying for the Home area of three major high 
street chains, where he was responsible for a budget in excess of £180 million, which 
covered sales, profit and merchandising.  

Following retirement, Kevin felt he could give something back to the community which 
would utilise his experience to the benefit of others. Kevin chairs his local Patient 
Participation Group (PPG) and NHS Warrington CCG Health Forum and believes that 
without patient involvement, the commissioners cannot understand fully how their 
decisions affect patients. 

 

Dr Sangeetha Steevart, GP Member Representative. Central and East PCN 

Sangeetha is a GP at Helsby Street Medical Centre which is part of the Central and West 
Warrington PCN. She is also the GP clinical lead for primary care at NHS Warrington 
CCG. Sangeethya is a GP trainer who trains GPs, foundation doctors and medical 
students, with a professional speciality in women’s health. Sangeetha worked for the 
COVID-19 assessment service during 2021/22. 
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Ruth Austen-Vincent, Lay Member 

Ruth is Lay Member for Engagement and has worked to support patient voice and 
develop diversity and inclusion in services throughout her working life, having started out 
in youth and community work. In addition to the CCG role, Ruth works for the Multiple 
Sclerosis Society across a large part of the UK including Cheshire and Mersey and co-
chairs the Cheshire and Merseyside Neurological Alliance. 

 

Gareth Hall, Lay Member 

Gareth is a recently retired Chartered Banker with some 40 years’ experience in 
Commercial Finance and Compliance, with the latter five years exclusively within the 
healthcare sector. Gareth has also worked for the NHS, in a non-executive capacity, for 
approximately 15 years. Following retirement, Gareth is now building up his portfolio of 
interests in the public sector across a number of complementary roles that support the 
resident service users’ voice across the health and social care sectors. 

 

Dilys Quinlan, Lay Member 

Dilys is one of our Lay Members with a particular focus on primary care having spent 20 
years as an NHS senior manager working in diverse roles in and across primary and 
secondary care. Dilys left the NHS in 2011 and has steadily brought together a portfolio 
of discrete roles which includes non-executive work for several local CCGs, criminal 
justice public appointments at HMP Liverpool, is a voluntary Independent Advocate to 
Looked After Children for Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council and currently a Director at 
Healthwatch St Helens. 
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Nick Atkin, Lay Member 

Nick is a Yorkshire man, but has been a Warrington resident who has made the town his 
home for the last 24 years. After 14 years as the Chief Executive at Halton Housing Nick 
joined Yorkshire Housing, as Chief Executive in 2019. Nick has a track record of leading 
organisations through transformational change, driving performance improvement, with a 
focus on maximising the untapped potential from businesses and people. Nick has driven 
the transformational change of Yorkshire Housing to enable it to be best placed to meet 
the future opportunities and challenges. 

 

Thara Raj, Director of Public Health, Warrington Borough Council 

Thara Raj was appointed as the Director of Public Health for Warrington Borough Council 
in August 2020. She has held positions in local public health for Derbyshire, Sheffield, 
and the London Borough of Newham, covering the period of the 2012 London Olympics, 
when she was a drummer in the opening ceremony! Her last position before joining 
Warrington was as Consultant in Public Health in Bristol, with responsibility for the covid 
health protection response. She also held a joint position as Consultant in Health 
Protection for Public Health England, South West, and was involved in the Novichok 
incidents.  

Thara has held national roles for the Health Education Authority, Health Development 
Agency and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) developing 
methods and partnerships to tackle health inequalities and a regional role ensuring 
immunisation services across London were secured and effective when responsibility 
shifted from local NHS to national NHS England. 
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Dr Aparna Rao, GP Member Representative. South Warrington PCN 

Aparna has been a GP for over 20 years, having qualified from the University of 
Newcastle Upon Tyne in 1994. She represents the Teaching Federation on our 
Governing Body and currently works at Brookfield Surgery. Her special interests include 
teaching and she has been a GP trainer for over 10 years. 

 

Dr Lalit Sakhi, GP Member Representative. Central and East PCN 

Lalit qualified as a GP over 13 years ago and has been working in Warrington since 
2013. He works as a GP Principal at Dallam Lane Medical. 
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Member practices 

NHS Warrington CCG is a membership organisation. All practices which provide primary medical services to a 
registered list of patients under a General Medical Services, Personal Medical Services, or Alternative Provider 
Medical Services contract in our area are eligible for membership of NHS Warrington CCG.  

The practices which make up the membership of NHS Warrington CCG are listed below: 

Practice name  Address 

Birchwood Medical Centre 15 Benson Road, Birchwood, Warrington, WA3 7PJ 
Brookfield Surgery Whitbarrow Road, Lymm, Warrington, WA13 9DB 

Causeway Medical Centre 166-170 Wilderspool Causeway, Warrington, WA4 6QA 

Chapelford Primary Care Santa Rosa Boulevard Great Sankey, Warrington, WA5 3AL 

Cockhedge Medical Centre 7 Cockhedge Way, Cockhedge Shopping Centre, Warrington, WA1 2QQ 

Culcheth Medical Centre Jackson Avenue Culcheth, Warrington, WA3 4DZ 

Dallam Lane Medical Centre 20 Dallam Lane, Warrington, WA2 7NG 

Eric Moore Partnership Medi-Centre Warrington, 1 Tanners Lane Bewsey, Warrington, WA2 7NJ 

Fairfield Surgery 278 Manchester Road, Warrington, WA1 3RB 

Fearnhead Cross Medical Centre 25 Fearnhead Cross, Fearnhead, Warrington, WA2 0HD 

Folly Lane Medical Centre The Medical Centre, Folly Lane, Bewsey, Warrington, WA5 0LU 

Four Seasons Medical Centre Orford Jubilee Health Centre, Jubilee Way, Orford, Warrington, WA2 8HE 

Greenbank Surgery 274 Manchester Road, Warrington, WA1 3RB 
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Guardian Street Medical Centre Guardian Street, Warrington, WA5 1UD 

Helsby Street Medical Centre 2 Helsby Street, Warrington, WA1 3AW 

Holes Lane Surgery 28 Holes Lane, Woolston, Warrington, WA1 4NE 

Lakeside Surgery Lakeside Road, Lymm, Warrington, WA13 0QE 

Latchford Medical Centre Thelwall Lane, Latchford, Warrington, WA4 1LJ 

Manchester Road Surgery The Surgery, 280 Manchester Road, Warrington, WA1 3RB 

Padgate Medical Centre 12 Station Road, Padgate, Warrington, WA2 0RX 

Parkview Medical Centre Jubilee Way, Orford, Warrington, WA2 8HE 

Penketh Health Centre Honiton Way, Penketh, Warrington, WA5 2EY 

Springfields Medical Centre Bath Street Health and Wellbeing Centre, Bath Street, Warrington, WA1 
1UG 

Stockton Heath Medical Centre The Forge, London Road, Stockton Heath, Warrington, WA4 6HJ 

Stretton Medical Centre 5 Hatton Lane, Stretton, Warrington, WA4 4NE 

Westbrook Medical Centre 301/302 Westbrook Centre, Westbrook, Warrington, WA5 8UF 
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Membership engagement 

Throughout 2021/22, weekly meetings via MS Teams have been held with all member practices led by the 
Clinical Chief Officer and the Chief Primary Care Officer. The meetings include an update for primary care and 
where required or requested an educational or training element. The educational and training elements are 
delivered by primary care clinical leads and consultants/colleagues from the system. These updates and the 
training will continue until 30 June 2022. The calls provide an opportunity to ask direct questions to the two 
officers and to contribute to actions in relation to the coronavirus pandemic and core primary care. 

In addition to the Friday educational sessions, several virtual protected learning events via MS Teams were held 
in the first half of the year. Due to system pressures and a request from the A&E Delivery Board, the programme 
was paused until March 2022 when the full schedule was reinstated. Moving forward each place will have 
separate events so that any system pressures that may result in practices being closed are minimised. Protected 
learning is essential for member practices and their teams to remain up to date with statutory and mandatory 
training. 

Feedback from member practices, the Local Medical Committee, and other clinicians in terms of our engagement 
during the pandemic has been extremely positive – often citing the Friday calls as an excellent method of 
communication. Looking to the next year, as the CCG is dissolved and the Integrated Care Board is established, 
plans will remain to ensure that engagement with our primary medical colleagues and the positive learning from 
our communications is maintained.  
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Composition of Governing Body 

NHS Warrington CCG is made up of our member practices and the Governing Body is accountable to our 
members. NHS Warrington CCG is legally required to have a Governing Body in place and our Governing Body 
provides the necessary challenges and assurance that our accountabilities are being met effectively, efficiently 
and economically, and in accordance with NHS Warrington CCG’s principles of good governance. 

Name  Role 

Dr Ian Watson  Chair  
Nick Atkin Lay Member 

Ruth Austen-Vincent  Lay Member 

Dr Golam Chowdry GP member representative 

David Cooper  Chief Finance Officer 

Michelle Creed  Chief Nurse 

Dr Andrew Davies  Clinical Chief Officer 

Kevin Goucher (non-voting member) Patient representative 

Gareth Hall Lay Member 

Julie Langton Secondary Care Doctor 

Dr Aparna Rao GP member representative 

Dilys Quinlan  Lay Member 

Dr Lalit Sakhi GP member representative 

Dr Sangeetha Steevart GP member representative 
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Others in regular attendance include: 

Name  Role 

Maria Austin  Chief of Public Affairs and Engagement 
Pam Broadhead Chief Primary Care Officer 

Rebecca Knight  Head of Assurance and Risk 

Carl Marsh Chief Commissioner 

Thara Raj (non-voting) Director of Public Health (Warrington) 

Committees, including Audit Committee 

NHS Warrington CCG is required by statute to have an Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee as a 
minimum. NHS Warrington CCG is also required to establish a Primary Care Commissioning Committee, due to 
having delegated commissioning responsibility for primary care commissioning.  

Whilst not required by legislation, the CCG established additional committees to deliver its objectives and provide 
an appropriate level of assurance and scrutiny. 

Following the declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, CCGs were asked by several letters up to 
January 2022 to reduce burden and release capacity for NHS providers and commissioners to manage the 
response to the pandemic. 

As a result of this request, NHS Warrington CCG stood down its Quality Committee and Finance and 
Performance Committee and established an Urgent Issues Committee for urgent decision-making and assurance 
purposes. During 2021/22, the Urgent Issues Committee met on two occasions in April and May 2021, prior to 
the Quality Committee and Finance and Performance Committee being re-established.  

At the Governing Body meetings held on 10 November and 8 December 2021, the Governing Body agreed to the 
recommendation to delegate all duties and functions to the Joint Committee of CCGs in Cheshire and 
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Merseyside other than those which cannot legally be delegated and any CCG specific arrangements. In addition, 
it was agreed that sub-committees of the Joint Committee would be established and that the assurance 
committees at CCG level would be stood down. 

The committees that have been place include: 

• Audit Committee 

• Remuneration Committee 

• Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

• Quality Committee (meetings held between 30 June and 24 November 2021)  

• Finance and Performance Committee (meetings held between 30 June and 24 November 2021) 

• Urgent Issues Committee (meetings held on 28 April and 26 May 2021) 

• Legacy Issues Committee (meetings held between 26 January and 23 March 2022) 

• Joint Committee of the Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs (first public meeting held on 28 September 2021. 
The three sub-committees are Finance and Resource, Performance, and Quality). 

The membership of the Audit Committee is as follows: 

Name  Role 

Gareth Hall Lay Member, Committee Chair 
Ruth Austen-Vincent  Lay Member 

Nick Atkin  Lay Member 

Dilys Quinlan  Lay Member 

Further information, including the functions of the committee and a summary of the committee work can be found 
later in this report. 
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Register of Interests 

The CCG Standards of Business Conduct including Conflicts of Interest Policy was updated and approved in 
March 2020. It is a joint policy across NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG.  

As a publicly-funded organisation, we have a duty to set and maintain the highest standards of conduct and 
integrity. We expect the highest standards of corporate behaviour and responsibility from Governing Body 
members and all officers. As a commissioner of healthcare services, CCGs are committed to managing conflicts 
of interest in a way that demonstrates transparency, probity, and accountability.  

All staff are required to make declarations in the following circumstances:  

• On appointment with the CCG  

• When staff move to a new role or their responsibilities change significantly  

• At the beginning of a new project or piece of work  

• As soon as circumstances change and new interests arise (for example, in a meeting when interests staff 
hold are relevant to the matters in discussion).  

We review all committee papers prior to them being circulated, to ensure that they are not shared inappropriately 
with committee members, by allowing any advantage to influence any decision, because of a declared interest. 
We have continued with the requirement for all staff to undertake the full suite of e-learning modules available 
relating to conflicts of interest, in addition to decision-making staff.    

The register of interests can be found on the website www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk   

The Standards of Business Conduct including Conflicts of Interest Policy can be found on the website, as well as 
details of any breaches that have been found. To further strengthen scrutiny and transparency of the CCG’s 
decision-making processes, we have a Conflicts of Interest Guardian. This role is undertaken by Gareth Hall, Lay 
Member and Audit Committee Chair.  

  

http://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/
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Modern Slavery Act 
NHS Warrington CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery 
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and 
Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

Personal data related incidents 
Our arrangements for Information Governance are described in the Governance Statement.  

There were no confidentiality breaches during the year 2021/22. 

Statement of disclosure to auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms: 

• So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor is 
unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report 

• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or herself aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.   
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning 
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Dr Andrew Davies to be the 
Accountable Officer of NHS Warrington CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment 
Letter. They include responsibilities for:  

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable 

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with 
the requirements of the Accounts Direction) 

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money 

• Ensuring NHS Warrington CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to 
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

• Ensuring that NHS Warrington CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical 
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set 
out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of 
Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year. 
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In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis 

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and take 
personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining 
that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Warrington CCG’s auditors are aware of that information. So 
far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. 

Disclosures 

I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which NHS Warrington CCG’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Warrington CCG’s auditors are 
aware of that information.  

Dr Andrew Davies 
Accountable Officer 
NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 
22 June 2022  
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NHS Warrington CCG is a corporate body established by NHS England (now NHS England and 
NHS Improvement on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  

The CCG statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s 
general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in 
England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent 
as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of the population.  

Scope of responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my 
CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this governance 
statement.  
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.  

The CCG is accountable to its members, the public, its stakeholders and NHS England and NHS Improvement.  
The CCG demonstrates its accountability through its statutory requirements and through holding regular 
engagement events, working alongside Mid-Mersey Local Medical Committee (LMC), Healthwatch and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board – and providing information to the public at large.  

As a membership organisation, it is vital that we engage with our member practices; not only those GPs who are 
members of our Governing Body but also our Clinical Leads and our primary care staff, including practice nurses 
and practice managers.   

Throughout 2021/22, weekly meetings via MS Teams have been held with all member practices led by the 
Clinical Chief Officer and the Chief Primary Care Officer. The meetings include an update for primary care and 
where required or requested an educational or training element. These updates will continue until 30 June 
2022. The calls provide an opportunity to ask direct questions to the two officers and to contribute to actions in 
relation to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

In addition to the Friday educational sessions, several virtual protected learning events via MS Teams were held 
in the first half of the year. Due to system pressures, the programme was paused until March 2022 when the full 
schedule was reinstated. Moving forward, each place will have separate events so that any system pressures 
that may result in practices being closed are minimised. 

Feedback from member practices, the Local Medical Committee, and other clinicians in terms of our engagement 
during the pandemic has been extremely positive – often citing the Friday calls as an excellent method of 
communication. Looking to the next year as the CCG is dissolved and the Integrated Care Board is established, 
plans will remain to ensure that membership engagement and the positive learning from our communications is 
maintained.  

NHS Warrington CCG updated its Constitution early in 2020, in line with the model Constitution. The Governing 
Body recommended the updated Constitution for approval in March 2020, prior to submission to NHS England 
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and NHS Improvement. The update followed extensive engagement with member practices about any proposed 
amendments. However, as a direct result of the declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic, the updated Constitution 
was not taken forward for final approval at that time and was not progressed for approval until January 2021 
following further engagement with member practices and the LMC.  

Further communication from NHSE/I confirmed that approval of Constitutions was not taking place, unless it is 
considered to be business critical. NHSE/I has confirmed that the updated version is not considered to be 
business critical. An audit log of governance issues has been developed to capture such decisions. 

The CCG members retain decision-making powers in relation to the strategic direction of the CCG and the 
composition of the membership. Powers in relation to investment decisions, managing performance and other 
commissioning issues have been delegated to the Governing Body up to the end of November 2021 whereby a 
decision was made to delegate those duties and functions to the Cheshire and Merseyside Joint Committee of 
CCGs. These decision-making powers are set out in the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 
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Governance arrangements during the COVID-19 pandemic 

Following the declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement wrote to all NHS trusts and CCGs on 28 March 2020. The letter outlined the need 
to reduce burden and release capacity for NHS providers and commissioners to manage the 
response to the pandemic.1 

Areas identified in the letter which were implemented immediately including the following:  

• Both CCGs continued to hold Governing Body meetings but streamlined papers, focused agendas and 
held virtually not face-to-face 

• Membership engagement was limited to COVID-19 purposes 

• While having regard to their constitutions and agreed internal processes, an Urgent Issues Committee was 
established to allow timely and effective decision-making. The usual assurance committees were stood 
down with all business taking place via the Urgent Issues Committee 

• Guidance issued regarding Constitution standards was implemented 

• Data reporting to NHS Digital was suspended  

• Enactment of business-critical roles as per the Business Continuity Plan. 

Arrangements during 2021/22 have flexed depending on service needs. Committees have continued to meet 
virtually in the main as have engagement forums. Further information can be found in the Committees section 
later in this statement. 

  

 

1 Letter template (england.nhs.uk) 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/03/C0113-reducing-burden-and-releasing-capacity-at-nhs-providers-and-commissioners.pdf


NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

131 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

Members of the Governing Body, committees and senior 
managers 
The members of the Governing Body are listed on pages 120-121 (Corporate Governance 
section of this report). 

During 2021/22, the Governing Body has met six times in public and five times in private. In addition, the 
Governing Body undertook development sessions on six occasions privately. The average attendance of 
Governing Body members at the public meetings was 88%, and 97% for private meetings. 

NHS Warrington CCG has an ongoing requirement to review the CCG’s governance arrangements to ensure 
they reflect the principles of good governance. In 2021/22, NHS Warrington CCG continued to monitor its joint 
working arrangements with NHS Halton CCG and also with the Cheshire and Merseyside Joint Committee of 
CCGs. This included scrutinising the arrangements for identifying and managing conflicts of interest and ensuring 
that all decisions made are in accordance with the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.   

The development sessions have focussed on transition to the Integrated Care System, inclusive decision making 
and unconscious bias, a Good Governance training programme held over two sessions, and the mandatory 
annual Information Governance refresher. 

Committees 

The CCG Governing Body established a number of committees to deliver its objectives and provide an 
appropriate level of assurance and scrutiny. The CCG Governing Body has delegated responsibility to a number 
of committees, as per its Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. In November 2021, duties and functions were 
delegated (where possible), in line with other CCGs, from the Governing Body to the Cheshire and Merseyside 
Joint Committee. 

The Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee were established as Committees in Common aligned with 
NHS Halton CCG at the end of 2019/20. The Primary Care Commissioning Committee remains as a place-based 
committee in Halton.  

The table below provides an illustration of the committees in place during 2021/22. 



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

132 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

NHS Warrington CCG Governing Body Cheshire and Merseyside Joint Committee of 
CCGs 

Audit 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 

Committee 

Finance and Resources Sub-Committee 

(Operational from 9 December 2021) 

Joint Quality Committee 

(Operational to  
24 November 2021) 

Joint Finance and 
Performance Committee 

(Operational to  
24 November 2021) 

Performance Sub-Committee 

(Operational from 21 December 2021) 

Joint Urgent Issues 
Committee  

(Operational to  
26 May 2021) 

Legacy Issues Committee  

(Operational from  
26 January 2022) 

Quality Sub-Committee 

(Operational from 7 December 2021) 

Each committee regularly report reports to the Governing Body for assurance purposes. These Key Issue 
Reports are available in each Governing Body agenda and can be accessed at 
www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-bodies-and-committees/halton-governing-body  

  

http://www.haltonwarringtonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-bodies-and-committees/halton-governing-body
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Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee plays a key role in supporting the Governing Body by critically reviewing and reporting on 
the relevance and robustness of the governance structures and assurance processes on which the Governing 
Body places reliance.  

Membership of the committee includes four lay members (all lay members in place working across both NHS 
Warrington CCG and NHS Halton CCG). The Chair is also the Conflict-of-Interest Guardian.  

The purpose of the committee is to receive assurance on the following areas:  

• Risk management, including the Assurance Framework and cyber risk  

• Integrated governance  

• Internal control  

• Internal and external audit  

• Financial reporting  

• Counter fraud  

• Procurement arrangements  

• Whistleblowing / freedom to speak up arrangements  

• Conflicts of interest arrangements  

• Due Diligence, Transition and Close Down Assurance in readiness for the Integrated Care System, due to 
be implemented on 1 July 2022. 

The Audit Committee met nine times during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 69%. 
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Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee has the function of making recommendations to the Governing Body about the 
exercise of its functions in relation to: 

• determining the remuneration, fees and allowances payable to employees (non-agenda for change 
employees) of the CCG and to other persons providing services to it 

• determining allowances payable under pension schemes established by the CCG. 

Membership of the committee includes two Lay Members, Secondary Care Doctor and a Governing Body GP 
member. The committee is chaired by a Lay Member. The Committee is operated under a Committees in 
Common model in collaboration with NHS Halton CCG.    

Remuneration Committee met three times during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 60%. 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) 

As the CCG has delegated responsibility for primary care commissioning, it is required to have a PCCC.  The 
functions being exercised by the Committee are NHSE/I functions, which means that they cannot be 
further delegated, and they cannot be delegated to a joint committee.   

The Committee enables members to make collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of 
primary care services in Warrington.  

Membership of the committee includes two Lay Members, Clinical Chief Officer (or deputy), Chief Finance Officer 
(or deputy), Chief Nurse (or deputy), two clinicians (GPs and Secondary Care Doctor). The committee is chaired 
by a Lay Member.  

The purpose of the committee is to:  

• take decisions on the commissioning of primary medical services in the CCG’s geographical area  

• receive information on the quality of commissioned primary care medical services and identify any actions 
needed to address concerns  

• plan, including needs assessment, primary care medical services, in the geographical area  

• undertake reviews of the primary care medical services in the geographical area   
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• co-ordinate a common approach to the commissioning of primary care medical services  

• manage the budget of the commissioning of primary care medical services.  

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met six times during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 
83%. 

Joint Quality Committee 

The Joint Quality Committee provided assurance to the Governing Body on all aspects of service quality, within 
the remit of the CCG. This includes clinical effectiveness, safety and service user experience. The Committee 
had delegated authority from the Governing Body to secure continuous improvements in the quality of 
commissioned services.  

The committee was established as a Joint Committee in collaboration with NHS Halton CCG in September 
2020. Terms of reference were updated, approved and implemented in September 2020.  

From 1 April to 29 June 2021, the Urgent Issues Committee covered essential committee business. This was in 
response to the Government’s request under ‘reducing burden and releasing capacity’.  

The Quality Committee then operated from 30 June to 24 November 2021. From 25 November 2021 to 31 March 
2022, its responsibilities were passed to the Cheshire and Merseyside Quality Sub-Committee or to Legacy 
Issues Committee (where decisions related to Halton only). 

Membership of the committee included two Lay Members, two Governing Body GPs (one each from Halton and 
Warrington), Secondary Care Doctor, Chief Nurse and Deputy Chief Nurse, Clinical Quality Leads (one each 
from Halton and Warrington), Healthwatch representative (one each from Halton and Warrington), patient 
representative (one each from Halton and Warrington).   

The committee was chaired by a Lay Member.    

The Joint Quality Committee met five times during 2021/22 and average attendance was 60% 
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Joint Finance and Performance Committee 

The Joint Finance and Performance Committee provided assurance to the Governing Body on all aspects 
of finance and performance within the remit of each CCG. This includes CCG finances, delivery of CCG 
operational performance and the performance of commissioned services.   

From 1 April to 29 June 2021, the Urgent Issues Committee covered essential committee business. This was in 
response to the Government’s request under ‘reducing burden and releasing capacity’.  

The Joint Finance and Performance Committee then operated from 30 June to 24 November 2021. From 25 
November 2021 to 31 March 2022, its responsibilities were passed to the Cheshire and Merseyside Quality Sub-
Committee or to Legacy Issues Committee (where decisions related to Halton only). 

Membership of the committee includes two Lay Members, two Governing Body GPs (one each from Halton and 
Warrington), Chief Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Chief Commissioner (each from Halton and 
Warrington). The committee was chaired by a Lay Member.  

The Joint Finance and Performance Committee met five times during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 
83%. 

Urgent Issues Committee 

The Urgent Issues Committee was established as a temporary committee arrangement to support urgent 
decision making during the COVID-19 period. The remit of the committee related to matters previously under the 
remit of the Quality Committee and Finance and Performance Committee.   

The committee was initially established as a Committees in Common, in collaboration with NHS Halton CCG but 
updated terms of reference in January 2021 changed the arrangement to a Joint Committee model. Further 
changes relating to the committee membership were made on 14 April 2021. 

Membership of the committee included all Lay Member representatives (one of whom chaired), two GP 
Governing Body Members (Halton), two GP Governing Body Members (Warrington), Secondary Care Doctor, 
Chief Finance Officer (or nominated deputy), Chief Nurse (or nominated deputy), and one other member of the 
Integrated Management Team.  

The Urgent Issues Committee met twice during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 78%. 
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The Legacy Issues Committee 

The Legacy Issues Committee was established to support transitional arrangements arising from the closedown 
of both CCGs. The Quality Committee and Finance and Performance Committee had been disestablished 
following approval by each Governing Body to delegate duties and functions to the Joint Committee of CCGs.  

The Legacy Committee supports any urgent decision making or oversight not covered by the Joint Committee of 
CCGs or groups established at the place base in either Halton or Warrington. 

Membership includes all Lay Member representatives (one of whom will chair the meeting), one GP Governing 
Body Member (Halton), one GP Governing Body Member (Warrington), Secondary Care Doctor, Chief Finance 
Officer (or nominated deputy), Chief Nurse (or nominated deputy), and one other member of the Integrated 
Management team. 

The Legacy Issues Committee met three times during 2021/22 and the average attendance was 93%. 

Joint Committee of Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs 

The overarching role of the Joint Committee is to enable the Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs to work effectively 
together and make binding decisions on agreed service areas, for the benefit of the both the resident population 
and population registered with a GP practice in Cheshire and Merseyside. 

Decisions will be taken by members of the Joint Committee in accordance with the delegated authority granted to 
them from each of their respective CCGs. As Joint Committee Members, individuals will represent the whole 
Cheshire and Merseyside population and make decisions in the interests of all patients. 

The membership of the Joint Committee includes, per CCG – one member with statutory duties (either the 
Accountable Officer or Chief Finance Officer), one Chair, one Vice Chair, four Clinical Leads, one Secondary 
Care Doctor, one Registered Nurse, one Lay Member – audit and governance, one Lay member – PPI, and one 
Quality Lead. The representatives for NHS Halton CCG and NHS Warrington CCG are Dr Andrew Davies, David 
Cooper and Michelle Creed.  

The Joint Committee of Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs met three times in 2021/22 and was quorate for all 
meetings. 
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Quality Sub-Committee 

The Quality Sub-Committee will provide assurance that effective quality, safety and experience arrangements 
underpin all services provided and commissioned on behalf of the CCGs. The Sub-Committee will ensure that all 
regulatory requirements are being met and patient safety is continually improved to deliver a better patient 
experience. 

In particular, the Sub-Committee will provide assurance to the Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs Joint Committee 
and the CCGs’ Governing Bodies: 

• that effective quality arrangements underpin all services provided and commissioned on behalf of the 
CCGs. The Sub-Committee will ensure that all regulatory requirements are met and quality and patient 
safety is continually improved to deliver a better patient experience 

• that commissioning decisions are based on evidence of clinical effectiveness and influenced by patient 
experience, feedback and need; and in so doing, promote patient safety and a positive patient experience, 
in line with the principles of the NHS Constitution, the CCGs’ values and the requirements of the Care 
Quality Commission 

• the CCGs will seek assurance from providers, raise formal queries and refer issues to the Joint Committee 
where there are significant concerns, which may compromise quality and patient safety 

• that CCGs will ensure that a clearly defined escalation process is in place for safety and quality measures, 
taking action as required to ensure that improvements in quality are implemented where necessary 

• that CCGs can satisfy themselves that children, Looked After Children, special educational needs and 
disability (SEND) requirements and adult’s safeguarding duties are being met and that robust actions are 
taken to address concerns. 

The Sub-Committee Membership will be composed of, as a minimum, at least one Cheshire and Merseyside 
CCG Accountable/Chief Officer, at least one CCG Chair, at least one secondary care doctor, Chief Nurses / 
Executive leads for Quality and Safeguarding from all Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs (or nominated deputies), 
at least three Independent Governing Body Members and at least three Governing Body GP representatives. 

The Quality Sub-Committee met three times during 2021/22 and all meetings were quorate. 
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Finance and Resources Sub-Committee 

The Sub-Committee will provide a focus on financial performance and delivery of financial recovery plans to 
ensure delivery of the Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs’ strategic and operational plans are achieved within 
financial allocations. It provides a focus on financial performance and delivery of financial recovery plans and will 
support the development of reporting across a number of footprints. 

In particular, the Sub-Committee will provide assurance to the Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs Joint Committee 
and the CCGs Governing Bodies on the delivery of: 

• duty as to effectiveness and efficiency 

• workforce performance and dashboards for respective CCGs. 

The Sub-Committee Membership will be composed of, as a minimum, at least one lay member (as sub-
committee chair), at least one CCG Chair, Cheshire and Merseyside CCG Accountable/Chief Officer, executive 
leads/Directors of Finance and Contracting, at least three Independent Governing Body Members, and at least 
three Governing Body GP representatives. 

The Finance and Resources Sub-Committee met four times during 2021/22 and all meetings were quorate. 

Performance Sub-Committee 

The Sub-Committee will support the Cheshire and Merseyside CCG’s Joint Committee by ensuring there 
remains a robust performance management framework in place across the system demonstrating that 
constitutional targets are met and there is compliance with regulatory requirements. 

In particular the Sub-Committee will: 

• review and scrutinise the integrated performance reports for each CCG area 

• ensure that contract performance is monitored appropriately 

• explore and test explanations for significant variations of KPIs 

• test the appropriateness and robustness of any correcting actions 

• ensure that actual and forecast contract over-performance or under-performance is quantified in both 
financial and activity terms 

• benchmark recovery plans against trajectories 
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• ensure implantation of priorities as set-out in the operational plan 

• oversee that the delivery of procurements in line with statutory requirements 

• undertake ‘deep dive’ reviews when required. 

As a minimum, the membership will include a Chair, at least one Cheshire and Merseyside CCG 
Accountable/Chief Officer, at least one CCG Chair, Executive leads/Director for Performance and/or Contracting, 
at least three Independent Governing Body Members and at least three Governing Body GP representatives. 

The Performance Sub-Committee met three times during 2021/22. These meetings were not quorate, however 
as there were no decisions required, the discussions continued. 

UK Corporate Governance Code 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. However, 
we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice 
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be 
relevant to NHS Warrington CCG. 

Discharge of statutory functions 
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory 
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear 
about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.  

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates have confirmed 
that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s statutory duties.  
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 
The CCG Risk Management Policy, Process and Toolkit is a shared policy with NHS Halton 
CCG. This was fully updated and ratified by each Governing Body in March 2019. 

The Policy describes the CCGs approach to risk management as recognising that a key factor in driving its’ 
priorities is to ensure that effective risk management arrangements are in place and embedded in the 
organisations’ practices and processes. Effective risk management arrangements will, in addition to helping 
ensure goals and objectives are met, help ensure compliance with statutory, mandatory and best practice 
requirements. 

Every activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake, brings with it some element of risk 
that has the potential to threaten or prevent the CCG achieving its strategic objectives. 

A sound system of internal control is required to support the achievement of the CCG policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding public funds and assets. 

The processes for management of risk, risk registers and AF reflect the risk management principles from 
International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) 31000 and also adopt the ‘three lines of defence model’ 
including local management, monitoring and compliance and internal audit. The CCG uses a risk grading matrix 
that gives equal weighting to both the impact and likelihood of the risk occurring (based on a five x five scoring 
system). This provides a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the risk and is used to assess the severity of the 
risk from all sources.  

Risk reports are presented to each ‘assurance’ committee to reflect the risks aligned to the committee and to 
ensure they reflect the relevant business associated with the committee. They also provide oversight of the 
management of the risk and to identify any challenges or areas of escalation that need further scrutiny. The 
Corporate Risk Register is presented to the Integrated Management Team (IMT) on a monthly basis for further 
review and scrutiny as an additional control. The register is then presented to Audit Committee on at least an 
annual basis for assurance purposes. 
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The AF is presented to each Audit Committee for scrutiny prior to being presented to the Governing Body. The 
Governing Body receives assurance from the Audit Committee that the risk management process is operating 
effectively. 

The CCG aims to create an environment in which risk is considered as a matter of course, appropriately 
identified and controlled by elimination, or reduction to an acceptable level and at acceptable cost. The CCG has 
developed its risk appetite using the matrix developed by the Good Governance Institute. It is recognised that 
further work is required to embed the risk appetite throughout all risk management processes as an area of 
improvement. 
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The Internal Audit review for 2021/22 concludes that an Assurance Framework has been established as follows: 

Phase one opinion   

Structure The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.  

Engagement There could be greater visibility of the use of the AF by the Governing Body.  

 

Opinion   

Structure The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.  

Engagement The AF is visibly used by the organisation.  

Quality and alignment The AF clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Board.  
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An overall opinion for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 is: 

High Assurance can be given that there is a strong system of internal control which has been effectively 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are consistently applied in all areas reviewed. 

Substantial Assurance can be given that that there is a good system of internal control designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. 

Moderate Assurance can be given that there is an adequate system of internal control, however, in some 
areas weaknesses in design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of some of the 
organisation’s objectives at risk. 

Limited Assurance can be given that there is a compromised system of internal control as weaknesses in the 
design and/or inconsistent application of controls impacts on the overall system of internal control and puts the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk. 

No Assurance can be given that there is an inadequate system of internal control as weaknesses in control, 
and/or consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in failure to achieve the organisation’s 
objectives. 
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Capacity to handle risk 

As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management and the arrangements to support this 
are clearly articulated to all staff through the AF and Risk Management Framework. 

The management of governance and risk is delegated to the Corporate Governance team, under the 
management of the Head of Assurance and Risk, reporting to the Chief Finance Officer. However, the 
management of risk is embedded throughout the organisation and leadership is secured by review of the risk 
register and AF as previously described, including at Governing Body and senior management level. 

Staff are trained in risk management where required and are equipped to manage risk appropriate to their 
authority and duties. The CCG operates an open, learning culture and all staff are encouraged to openly discuss 
and share concerns and examples of good practice that may relates to risks, incidents and near misses. 

Risk assessment 

The arrangements for leadership of the risk management process are set out in the Risk Management Policy, 
Process and Toolkit. The CCG has identified its risk appetite within the Policy. 

The CCG has successfully managed its finances throughout 2021/22 and met all financial duties and targets. 
This position was supported by non-recurrent central resource to fund the local response to the COVID-19 
pandemic through the Hospital Discharge Programme. All risks associated with finance have been monitored by 
the Joint Finance and Performance Committee, Joint Urgent Issues Committee, Joint Legacy Issues Committee, 
Joint Audit Committee, Joint Governing Body, and Cheshire and Merseyside Finance and Resources Sub-
Committee. 

As of 31 March 2022, there are several highly rated risks facing the CCG. In addition to the continuing impact 
from the COVID-19 pandemic and the CCG’s capacity to respond to manage the adverse effects on the local 
population, an additional risk has been managed to ensure the due diligence, safe transition and close down of 
the CCG. 

The high rated operational risks identified, managed and mitigated throughout the year are as follows: 
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• Potential breach of contract caused by an immediate closure of a GP practice, resulting in reduced patient 
experience. Work was completed to ensure relevant arrangements were in place to monitor and oversee 
potential issues 

• Possible risk to the delivery of CCG objectives in terms of patient and public engagement, as a result of 
changes to the commissioning landscape and transition to Integrated Care Systems (ICS). Work is 
ongoing to mitigate this risk, particularly in respect of work at place-bases 

• Risk of loss of financial authority as a result of temporary financial arrangements. This risk has been 
closed in year following the establishment of robust arrangements including the development of a financial 
strategy and plan 

• Long-term absence has created a risk to the delivery of the CCG statutory function in relation to 
safeguarding. This risk remains open and under close surveillance and has been acknowledged to be a 
wider issue across CCGs in the Cheshire and Merseyside area 

• The recovery of elective activity to address lengthy waiting lists, following the declaration of the pandemic 
has increased the risk in avoidable harm and deterioration in patient’s conditions. This risk has been 
closed in year as is now closely monitored via relevant contract and quality group meetings with 
performance data regularly reported to the relevant committees 

• There is a continuing risk that there will not be sufficient capacity to support the CCG-related business 
with an ability to recruit and retain staff due to the transition from CCG to the Integrated Care Board (ICB). 
This risk remains open and is actively monitored and reported on 

• A potential risk exists relating to data errors or misinformation for staff on the Electronic Staff Record 
(ESR). This risk remains open and is being reviewed and managed as part of the transition and close-
down arrangements in the CCG.  

The Governing Body has strong reporting lines from each of its ‘assurance’ committees via a key issues report, 
including the reporting and escalation of key risks. This, along with robust governance processes and other 
reporting arrangements, ensures that the CCG Governing Body has the appropriate degree of rigour and 
oversight of the CCG’s management of risk. 

  



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

147 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 

Other sources of assurance 

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to ensure it delivers its 
policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised and to manage them effectively, efficiently and 
economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

As described in the Policy, the CCG uses a consistent five x five scoring matrix with equal weighting being given 
to both the impact and the likelihood. Both qualitative and quantitative analysis is used to assess the severity of 
risk which considers the existing score, with any existing controls and assurances and the target score following 
mitigating action. All identified risks are owned, scored and assigned to a strategic objective. 

Local or project risk registers are maintained by the Project Management Office (PMO) where risks are escalated 
to the Corporate Risk Register, should they become wider than the local project. 
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 

As required by NHS England’s Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs (June 
2017), an audit of conflicts of interest was completed following the prescribed framework issued by NHS 
England.  

The following compliance levels were assigned to each scope area: 

Scope Area Compliance Level RAG rating 

1. Governance Arrangements Partially Compliant Amber 

2. Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality Partially Compliant Amber 

3. Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and 
procurement decisions 

Fully Compliant Green 

4. Decision making processes and contract monitoring Fully Compliant Green 

5. Reporting concerns and identifying and managing 
breaches / non compliance 

Fully Compliant Green 

Two recommendations were made to address the partial compliance areas. These have been captured as part of 
the risk register process and are monitored through to closure via reports to the Audit Committee. 
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Data quality 

NHS Warrington CCG’s Governing Body and committees, as decision making functions, rely on good data 
quality in order to support and inform good decision making. NHS Warrington CCG takes steps to ensure that the 
level of data quality is acceptable through internal review, scrutiny and challenge and by holding to account those 
external bodies providing NHS Warrington CCG with data. 

Data Quality assurance is provided by Data Services for Commissioners Regional Offices (DSCRO), Arden and 
Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit, for our secondary care data reports and Midlands and 
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit for our primary care data reports. DSCRO undertake a validation and 
reconciliation process of all Secondary Uses Services (SUS) and Service Level Agreement Modelling (SLAM) 
data against a set of control algorithms and in line with NHS Digital and the NHS standards contract 
requirements.  

NHS Warrington CCG receives alerts and monthly reports demonstrating any related data quality issues. Any 
significant unresolved issues identified relating to the quality of data is risk assessed and discussed at Governing 
Body if relevant. 

Information governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles 
information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information. The NHS Information 
Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and processes in place 
to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an information governance management 
framework and have developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the Data Security 
and Protection Toolkit (DSPT). We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and 
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information 
governance roles and responsibilities. 

This year, there have been no reportable information governance incidents.  
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Business critical models 

The data and intelligence provided through NHS Warrington CCG’s commissioning support provider to inform 
needs analysis and service commissioning is subject to robust quality assurance both internally by the provider 
and by NHS Warrington CCG. NHS Warrington CCG plans and forecasts are also subject to external scrutiny 
and sign off by NHS England. 

Third party assurances 

We receive a level of commissioning support offer through the local Commissioning Support Unit (Midlands and 
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit). The services provided are delivered in line with a clear service 
specification and performance is monitored and managed through a lead manager and local managerial links. 
Performance reviews and communication meetings enable us to ensure the effectiveness of the provision. 
Significant work continued into 2021/22 to review the service offers in line with business requirements and to 
ensure that the arrangements are fit for purpose. This work remains under review via the lead manager with 
regular reporting to the Integrated Management Team. There are no identified issues currently. 

The International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3402 Service Audit Type II reports have been 
received which assess the state of the control environment for the period 01 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 for the 
following services used by the CCG: 

a. Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 

b. NHS Shared Business Service Limited: Finance and Accounting Services 

c. NHS Shared Business Service Limited: Employment Services 

d. The Electronic Staff Record Programme 

e. NHS Business Services Authority: Prescription Payments 

f. Capita Primary Care Support Services. 

All of the above reports provide assurances to the CCG of improvements within the control environments for 
each entity. Where qualifications are outlined, these are relevant to controls operating at the third party and not 
the CCG. 
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The Management response provided is that the ISAE3402 Service Auditor Reports are routinely shared with the 
CCG Audit Committee. Any risk highlighted within the reports are assessed for their potential impact locally. 
These findings are considered alongside internal auditors assessment of internal controls, to inform any required 
action plans. These plans are subsequently managed using the CCG Risk Management Framework to ensure 
routine evaluation. 

Control issues 
No significant control issues have been identified during 2021/22. However, it has been reported to NHSE/I, as 
part of the month nine governance statement return, that there is a Constitution matter relating to the CCG Chair 
as follows: 

• The CCG Chair is no longer a registered GP with a patient list, as required in the Constitution. The Chair 
deregistered in August 2021. Collaboration with the Local Medical Committee (LMC) and member 
practices took place whereby it was agreed that the Chair would remain in post until the closedown of the 
CCG.   
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources 
We have in place a robust decision-making framework that enables robust review and scrutiny of 
the way the CCG’s resource allocation is utilised. All proposals to change commissioned 
services or pathways are initially considered by the Commissioning Oversight Group (COG), a 
multi-disciplinary forum that provides a management review of the case for change, the evidence 
base, the link to our strategic objectives as well a critical analysis of what is being proposed. 
Lead commissioners develop the business case with input from the appropriate clinical lead and 
ensuring input from all other relevant commissioning support functions (e.g. business 
intelligence, finance, procurement, contracting, quality and legal).  

All business cases are subject to equality, quality and data privacy impact assessments. The full business case 
is then submitted for approval of the clinical model, to the Commissioning and Service Development Group 
(CSDG), which includes multi-disciplinary clinical representation. Where investment is required and in line with 
the CCG Standing Financial Instructions (SFIs), dependant on the level of investment the business case will then 
be submitted to the Finance and Performance Committee, and more recently the Legacy Issues Committee. 
Within the financial limits delegated by the Governing Body, the Finance and Performance Committee is 
responsible for prioritising investments based on affordability and the anticipated return on investment to ensure 
we can secure the greatest outcomes from the limited resources available. Business cases requiring funding in 
excess of the Committee’s delegated financial limits are reserved solely for the Governing Body. 

The Finance and Performance Committee provides assurances to the Governing Body that the arrangements in 
place are appropriate to ensure that the CCG manages its resources in an effective manner. 

NHS Warrington CCG leads monthly provider contract meetings to ensure that providers are delivering as per 
the services specified in the contract and activity is in-line with agreed finance and activity planning schedules. In 
the event of unplanned overperformance, activity management plans are requested in line with contract 
requirements and these are routinely reported to the Finance and Performance Committee and Governing Body 
for assurance and oversight. 
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The Governing Body also has clear oversight of performance matters through bi-monthly corporate performance 
reports that track our progress against NHS Constitutional Standards, the Improvement and Assessment 
Framework indicators, the quality of leadership assessment and other organisational priorities. This is also 
supported by detailed financial reports to each Governing Body meeting, along with key issues reports from each 
of the Governing Body’s sub-committees. 

The most recent CCG year-end assessment continues to relate to 2019/20, pre-pandemic, performance rating 
produced using the, then, new single NHS Oversight Framework. Performance indicators are aggregated at CCG 
level into three separate domains: Quality of Leadership (25%), Finance (25%), and the remaining performance 
indicators (50%). CCGs are ranked by their overall scores and divided into four distinct categories: 

• Outstanding 

• Good 

• Requires improvement 

• Inadequate. 

NHS Warrington CCG’s 2019/20 assessment rating was ‘Requires improvement’. Note: the scores that justify the 
ratings are not made available. 

NHS Warrington CCG’s financial position in 2019/20 was understood to have had a significant bearing on the 
assessment rating. NHS Warrington CCG has been working with system partners, building on the principles of 
the NHS England Capped Expenditure Programme (CEP) to develop a shared system recovery plan. This 
recovery plan set out an agreed approach and suite of activities the system has committed to implement to 
redress the health economy’s financial challenge over the next five years. This plan is aimed to deliver clinically 
and financially sustainable health care services for the population of Warrington over the medium term.  The 
financial regime, introduced to support the COVID-19 pandemic response, has clearly had an impact of delaying 
some of the objectives outlined within the recovery plan, however CEP principles have underpinned the local 
strategic approach for service response requirements.   
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Delegation of functions 
Other service organisations are commissioned to carry out certain business functions on behalf 
of the CCG. Examples include Human Resources and Payroll service delivery. Assurance over 
the internal controls and procedures operated by these services is provided through a Service 
Auditor Report (prepared in accordance with International Standards on Assurance 
Engagements). 

An accredited Anti-Fraud Specialist, contracted from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) supports the CCG 
with its counter fraud duties and responsibilities. An annual plan of anti-fraud activity is agreed at the beginning of 
each financial year and the Anti-Fraud Specialist completes the work to meet the NHS Counter Fraud Authority 
(formally NHS Protect) Standards for Commissioners. The work is regularly monitored by the CCG’s Audit 
Committee via progress reports and, at financial year-end, via the Annual Anti-Fraud Report. 

Counter fraud arrangements 
We have anti-fraud arrangements in place in line with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority 
Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. 

The key features of our arrangements are: 

• An Accredited Anti-Fraud Specialist is contracted from Mersey Internal Audit Agency to undertake anti-
fraud work that is proportionate to identified risks contained within the Annual Plan for the financial year 

• Our Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards for Commissioners annually. There 
is executive support from the Governing Body via the Deputy Chief Finance Officer, local Fraud 
Champion, for a proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks that demonstrate corporate 
responsibility for tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption 

• During 2021/22 and 2020/21, NHS Warrington CCG has not had to undertake any NHS Counter Fraud 
Authority Quality Assurance Inspections. Therefore, there have been no recommendations outlined for 
implementation or review. 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion: Issued by Mersey Internal 
Audit Agency (MIAA) 
The purpose of this Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to 
the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own 
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion will 
assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS), along 
with considerations of organisational performance, regulatory compliance, the wider operating 
environment and health and social care transformation.  

This opinion is provided in the context that the CCG is in the process of transition to an ICB and like other 
organisations across the NHS has continued to face unprecedented challenges due to COVID-19. 

Our overall opinion for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 is: Substantial Assurance, that there is a good 
system of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being 
applied consistently. 

Key Area  Summary  

Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion  

The overall opinion for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 provides Substantial 
Assurance, that that there is a good system of internal control designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently.  

Planned Audit 
Coverage and 
Outputs  

The 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan has been delivered with the focus on the provision of 
your Head of Internal Audit Opinion. This position has been reported within the 
progress reports across the financial year. Review coverage has been focused on:  

• the organisation’s Assurance Framework  

• core and mandated reviews, including follow up 
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• a range of individual risk based assurance reviews 

• CCG Closedown/ICB Transition support.  

MIAA Quality of 
Service Indicators  

MIAA operate systems to ISO Quality Standards. The External Quality Assessment, 
undertaken by CIPFA (2020), provides assurance of MIAA’s full compliance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  

Basis for the Opinion 

The basis for forming the opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and supporting 
processes 

2. An assessment of the range of individual assurances arising from our risk-based internal audit 
assignments that have been reported throughout the period. This assessment has taken account the 
relative materiality of systems reviewed and management’s progress in respect of addressing control 
weaknesses identified 

3. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations, and the extent to which 
they have been implemented.  
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Overall Opinion 

High Assurance can be given that there is a strong system of internal control which has been effectively 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are consistently applied in all areas reviewed. 

Substantial Assurance can be given that that there is a good system of internal control designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. 

Moderate Assurance can be given that there is an adequate system of internal control, however, in some 
areas weaknesses in design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of some of the 
organisation’s objectives at risk. 

Limited Assurance can be given that there is a compromised system of internal control as weaknesses in the 
design and/or inconsistent application of controls impacts on the overall system of internal control and puts the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk. 

No Assurance can be given that there is an inadequate system of internal control as weaknesses in control, 
and/or consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in failure to achieve the organisation’s 
objectives. 

The commentary below provides the context for the opinion and together with the opinion should be read in its 
entirety. 
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Assurance Framework 

Phase one opinion   

Structure The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.  

Engagement There could be greater visibility of the use of the AF by the Governing Body.  

 

Opinion   

Structure The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.  

Engagement The AF is visibly used by the organisation.  

Quality and alignment The AF clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Board.  
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Core and risk-based reviews issued 

Opinion  Objective 

1 high assurance opinion: 
Key Financial Controls 

The overall objective of the review was to provide assurance that the most 
significant key controls in relation to general ledger, budgetary control, 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and treasury management are 
appropriately designed and operating effectively in practice. 

1 substantial assurance 
opinion: Data Security and 
Protection Toolkit (DSPT)  

The overall objective of this review was to provide a high-level assessment of 
the CCG’s intended DSPT submission and supporting evidence.  

0 moderate assurance 
opinions 

 

0 limited assurance opinions  

0 no assurance opinions  
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Conflicts of Interest 

As required by NHS England’s Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs (June 
2017), an audit of conflicts of interest was completed following the prescribed framework issued by NHS 
England.  

The following compliance levels were assigned to each scope area: 

Scope Area Compliance Level RAG rating 

1. Governance Arrangements Partially Compliant Amber 

2. Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality Partially Compliant Amber 

3. Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and 
procurement decisions 

Fully Compliant Green 

4. Decision making processes and contract monitoring Fully Compliant Green 

5. Reporting concerns and identifying and managing 
breaches / non compliance 

Fully Compliant Green 
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Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting 

The Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting Internal Audit Framework for Delegated CCGs was 
issued in August 2018. NHSE require an internal audit of delegated CCGs primary medical care commissioning 
arrangements. The purpose of this is to provide information to CCG’s that they are discharging NHSE’s statutory 
primary medical care functions effectively, and in turn to provide aggregate assurance to NHSE and facilitate 
NHSE’s engagement with CCGs to support improvement. 

The 2020/21 Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting review focused upon commissioning and 
procurement and provided Full Assurance (assurance rating provided as per the NHSE guidance).  

CCG transition – system support 

The following system support, covering a number of transition elements and workstreams, has been undertaken 
in-year. This work complements and supports local transition work.  

Cheshire and Merseyside  

• Audit Committee Engagement Events: Briefing sessions facilitated for Audit Committee members on 
CCG Transformation and ICB Establishment 

• SBS Project Board: MIAA are undertaking a project assurance role supporting the SBS Project Board in 
the implementation of the ICS ledger 

• Contracting: Review on ‘implied contracts’ (ongoing) 

• Delegated Duties: Undertaking of a review on the transfer of delegated duties at CCG level and the 
operational effectiveness of the Joint Committees who have received the delegated duties. MIAA have 
also been requested to support the planned Audit Chairs session risk and governance regarding 
effectiveness of the operation of the Joint Committees 

• Governing Body Assurance Framework risks: Provision of support to the workstream lead 

• System Group Representation and Reporting: Attendance and contribution at Finance Workstream 
Group and Governance Leads Workstream Group. 
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CCG transition – local support 
Timeline: CCG closedown to ICB 

• September 2021 onwards: We are working with the individual CCGs and with the ICB to collate the key 
themes from our work as part of our risk assessment process to develop a draft ICB Internal Audit plan. 
Internal Audit work will be prioritised both before and after the establishment of the ICB based on this risk 
assessment 

o Ongoing MIAA support to your transition working groups 

• October 2021 onwards: Provision of assurance at both an individual CCG level (each individual CCG 
Audit Committee) and ICB (shadow Audit Committee when established) as to the effectiveness of the 
transition process 

o MIAA will seek involvement to enable us to support the development and implementation of new 
systems and ongoing audit of systems following implementation 

• December 2021 onwards: MIAA will make arrangements to ensure that each individual Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion is signed and issued in line with reporting timeframes. We will compile a schedule of all 
relevant outstanding actions from our work with the individual CCGs and will also work with the ICB to 
ensure the seamless and effective transfer of responsibilities 

o We will work with the ICB to undertake a detailed risk assessment to help inform the planning 
process. 

To enable us to comment on the processes in place regarding the adequacy of transition plans, we have 
undertaken a number of activities including:  

• Transition working group attendance  

• Assessing the governance processes for the completion, monitoring and sign off of the CCG’s Due 
Diligence Checklist.  

We can provide assurance that effective processes have been established for the completion and 
monitoring of the Due Diligence Checklists.  

Note: the assurance provided above does not provide confirmation of the accuracy and completeness of the Due 
Diligence Checklist.  
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Follow-up 

During the course of the year we have undertaken follow-up reviews and can conclude that the organisation has 
made good progress with regards to the implementation of recommendations. We will continue to track and 
follow up outstanding actions.  

We have raised four recommendations as part of the reviews undertaken during 2021/22. All recommendations 
raised by MIAA have been accepted by management. Of these recommendations: none were critical or high risk 
recommendations.  

Internal Audit Coverage and Outputs 

The 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan has been delivered with the focus on the provision of your Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion. This position has been reported within the progress reports across the financial year.  

Of the reviews completed in the year, assurance ratings were given in three cases. Assurance ratings were not 
applicable in three reviews, due to the nature of this work. The audit assignment element of the Opinion is limited 
to the scope and objectives of each of the individual reviews. Detailed information on the limitations (including 
scope and coverage) to the reviews has been provided within the individual audit reports and through the Audit 
Committee Progress Reports throughout the year.  

A summary of the reviews performed in the year is provided on the following page 
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Review Assurance 
opinion 

Recommendations raised 

  Critical High Medium Low Total 

1. Key Financial Systems High  -  -  -  1  1  

2. Primary Care Framework: 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

Full  -  -  -  1  1  

3. DSPT Substantial  -  -  -  -  -  

4. Assurance Framework N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

5. Transition Review N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

6. Conflict of Interest N/A  -  -  2  -  2  

Total  - - 2 2 4 
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Contribution to governance, risk management and internal control enhancements: 
Additional areas where MIAA have provided added value contributions 

Detailed insight into the overall Governance and Assurance processes gained from liaison throughout the year 
with the Senior Management Team, regular review of Governing Body papers.  

Involvement and relationship with the organisation (for example attendance and contribution to the Due 
Diligence, Transition and Closedown Group).  

Ongoing discussion with lead officers, managers and lay members throughout the year.  

Engagement with MIAA Insights benchmarking, best practice and outcome reporting.  

Opportunities/ Involvement through MIAA events. Including the Learning Series, Audit Committee Members 
Network events, and Quality Improvement Network. 

Wider organisation context 

This opinion is provided in the context that the Governing Body like other organisations across the NHS is facing 
a number of challenging issues and wider organisational factors particularly with regards to the ongoing 
pandemic response and ICB transition processes. The challenges for organisations have included continuing to 
ensure an effective pandemic response, delivering business as usual requirements and implementing and 
managing a transition process for the establishment of ICBs.  

During the COVID-19 response, there has been an increased collaboration between organisations as they have 
come together to develop new ways of delivering services safely and to coordinate their responses to the 
pandemic. This focus on collaboration will continue as the NHS progresses on its journey towards integrated 
care systems.  

In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of internal audit (as set out in your 
Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional standards. I also confirm organisational independence of 
the audit activity and that this has been free from interference in respect of scoping, delivery and reporting. 

Steve Connor 
Managing Director, MIAA  
March 2022   

Louise Cobain  
Assurance Director, MIAA  
March 2022 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit 
letter and other reports. 

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the 
clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by: 

• The Governing Body 

• The Audit Committee 

• The Remuneration Committee 

• Cheshire and Merseyside Joint Committee of CCGs (and associated sub-committees) 

• The Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

• The Joint Finance and Performance Committee 

• The Joint Quality Committee  

• The Joint Urgent Issues Committee 

• The Legacy Issues Committee 

• The Integrated Management Team 

• Internal audit 

• Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms outlined in the report. 

This report describes in detail the CCG’s approach to its governance structure, risk management and the 
systems of internal control. I can also confirm: 

• The Governing Body and Audit Committee have provided regular feedback on the completeness and 
effectiveness of the systems of internal control though the Governing Body Assurance Framework 
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• Internal controls are subject to review and have been included in the Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 

• The Quality Committee, Finance and Performance Committee, Urgent Issues Committee and Legacy 
Issues Committee have joint arrangements in place with NHS Halton CCG, with appropriate terms of 
reference 

• An additional Due Diligence, Transition and Close Down Group has been formed jointly with NHS Halton 
CCG to ensure robust due diligence and governance arrangements are in place leading up to the 
transition to the Integrated Care Board implementation 

• The Governing Body and Primary Care Commissioning Committee meet regularly in public. 

Conclusion 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and Quality Committee. Plans are in place to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

In conclusion, there are no significant internal control issues that have been identified. 

Dr Andrew Davies 
Accountable Officer 
NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 
22 June 2022 
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Remuneration Committee 
Our Governing Body must have a Remuneration Committee drawn from the Governing Body, of 
whom one member should act as its chair. The Committee should not include fulltime employees 
or individuals who claim a significant proportion of their income from the organisation. Member 
practices should not be in the majority. The Remuneration Committee will make 
recommendations to the Governing Body as to the determination of remuneration, fees, pension 
and allowances payable to the employees of the organisation. 

Our Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body in respect of the remuneration 
and terms of service for the Clinical Chief Officer, Chair, Chief Finance Officer and members of the Management 
Team to ensure they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the organisation.   

These recommendations are in accordance with the requirements of the nationally developed framework for Very 
Senior Managers. Advice to the Governing Body on such remuneration includes all aspects of salary, provisions 
for other benefits including pensions as well as arrangements for termination of employment and other 
contractual terms.   

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee: 

• make recommendations to the Governing Body on the remuneration, allowances and terms of service of 
other officer members to ensure they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the organisation 

• monitor and evaluate the performance of individual and other members of the Senior Management Team 

• advise on, and oversee, appropriate contractual arrangements for such staff including the proper 
calculation and scrutiny of termination payments taking account of such national guidance as is 
appropriate. 

Our Remuneration Committee must always: 

• observe the highest standards of propriety involving impartiality, integrity, and objectivity in relation to the 
stewardship of public funds and the management of the bodies concerned 
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• maximise value for money by ensuring that services are delivered in the most efficient and economical 
way, within available resources and with independent validation of performance achieved, wherever 
practicable 

• be accountable to Parliament, to users of services, to individual citizens and to staff for the activities of the 
bodies concerned, for their stewardship of public funds and the extent to which key performance targets 
and objectives have been met 

• comply fully with the principles of the Citizen’s Charter and the Code of Practice on Access to Government 
Information, in accordance with Government policy on openness 

• bear in mind the necessity of keeping comprehensive written records of their dealings, in line with general 
good practice in corporate governance. 

The Remuneration Committee met three times during 2021/22. 

The Remuneration Committee meeting of 1 March 2022 was inquorate. In response to this, members were sent a 
summary of discussions and asked to provide comments for inclusion in the report to the Governing Body.  

Composition and membership of the Remuneration Committee 

The Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee were reviewed and updated by the 
Committee in September 2020 and approved by the Governing Body in October 2020.  

The review was in line with best practice arrangements and the membership of the Committee comprises of: 

• two Lay Members (in the roles of Chair and Deputy Chair) 

• Secondary Care Doctor 

• one Governing Body GP (who will not be the Clinical Chair). 

During 2021/22, the members of Remuneration Committee were: 

• Nick Atkin, Governing Body Lay Member (Chair of Remuneration Committee)  

• Gareth Hall, Governing Body Lay Member  

• Ruth Austen-Vincent, Governing Body Lay Member  

• Julie Langton, Governing Body Secondary Care Doctor 

• Dr Claire Forde, Governing Body GP. 
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Policy on the remuneration of senior managers 

Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject to six 
months’ notice. 

Amendments to salary are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Governing Body. When 
required the Remuneration Committee can access professional advice from MLCSU’s HR team and the CCG 
legal advisers. In setting policy for current and future years, the Committee has access to the latest guidance, 
best practice and benchmarking information from comparative CCGs, such as those in the ‘core cities’ group. 

Senior Manager performance is monitored through the formal appraisal process, based on organisational and 
individual objectives. Senior Managers are not subject to an element of performance-related pay as part of their 
remuneration packages. 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

The level of remuneration for the roles of Clinical Chief Officer and Clinical Chair has been set by 
the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the requirements of the DH Pay Framework for 
Very Senior Managers (2013) and Hay Group recommendations. The remuneration for these 
roles, pro-rata, exceeds £150,000. 
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Senior manager remuneration 2021/22 (including salary and pension entitlements) (subject to audit) 

Name  Title  

Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Expense 
payments 
(rounded 
to  
the nearest 
£00) 
£'00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Long term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500) 
£'000 

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Dr A Davies 
Chief Clinical 
Officer 

85-90 0 0 0 45-47.5 130-135 

D Cooper 
Chief Finance 
Officer 

50-55 0 0 0 0 50-55 

M Creed  Chief Nurse 70-75 6200 0 0 175.5-180 255-260 

I Watson Chair 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70 

Dr S 
Steevart 

GP 
Representative 

25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 

Dr A Rao 
GP 
Representative 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Dr L Sakhi 
GP 
Representative 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

G Hall Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

D Quinlan Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr G 
Chowdury 

GP 
Representative 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

N Atkin Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Notes: 

1. Andrew Davies is a shared Clinical Accountable Officer with NHS Halton CCG ( FTE salary is £170,000 -  
£175,000). The Pension related Benefits show the full Benefit from NHS Warrington CCG 

2. David Cooper is the Shared Chief Finance Officer with NHS Halton CCG (FTE with Warrington £120,000 - 
£125,000)  
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3. Michelle Creed is the shared Chief Nurse with NHS Halton CCG. Her salary is shown as the salary charge 
to NHS Warrington CCG (FTE with NHS Halton CCG is within £110,000 - £115,000 salary range). 
 

Information for the previous year 2020/21 is below, as required, to allow for comparison. 

Senior manager remuneration 2020/21 (including salary and pension entitlements)  

Name  Title  

Salary 
(bands 
of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Expense 
payments 
(rounded 
to  
the 
nearest 
£00) 
£'00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Long term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

All 
pension- 
related 
benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500) 
£'000 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£'000 

Dr A Davies 
Chief Clinical 
Officer 

85-90 0 0 0 40-42.5 125-130 

D Cooper 
Chief Finance 
Officer 

45-50 0 0 0 0 45-50 

B Webb 
Acting Chief 
Finance Officer 

15-20 0 0 0 10-12.5 25-30 

M Creed  Chief Nurse 45-50 5300 0 0 0 50-55 

I Watson Chair 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70 

Dr S 
Steevart 

GP Representative 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 

Dr A Rao GP Representative 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Dr L Sakhi GP Representative 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

G Hall Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

D Quinlan Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr G 
Chowdury 

GP Representative 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

N Atkin Lay Member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Notes: 
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1. Dr Andrew Davies is the Clinical Chief Officer shared with NHS Halton CCG. His salary is shown as net of 
the value recharged to NHS Halton CCG (FTE with NHS Warrington CCG is within £170,000 - £175,000 
salary range). The Pension Related Benefits show the full benefit from NHS Warrington CCG. 

2. Mr David Cooper is the Chief Finance Officer shared with NHS Halton CCG. His salary is shown net of the 
value of the recharge to NHS Halton CCG (FTE with NHS Warrington CCG is within £120,000 - £125,000 
salary range). 

3. Mr Bryan Webb was Acting Chief Finance Officer from 31 March 2020 to 30 June 2020 (FTE with 
Warrington £120,000 - £125,000). 

4. Mrs Michelle Creed is the Chief Nurse shared with NHS Halton CCG. Her salary is shown at the value of 
the recharge from NHS Halton CCG to NHS Warrington CCG (FTE with NHS Halton CCG is within 
£110,000 - £115,000 salary range). 

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2022 (subject to audit) 

Name  Title  

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
at 
pension 
age 
(bands 
of 
£2,500) 
£'000 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
(bands 
of 
£2,500) 
£'000 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 
pension 
age at 
31 
March 
2022 
(bands 
of  
£5,000) 
£'000 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 
age 
related 
to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2021 
(bands 
of  
£5,000) 
£'000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2021 
£'000 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 
£'000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 
March 
2022 
£'000 

Employer's 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 
£'000 

M Creed Chief Nurse  5-10   25-27.5  45-50 
 140-
145  

                    
-  

                    
-  

                        
-  

0  

Dr A 
Davies 

Accountable 
Officer 

 0   0  10-15 35-40 
              
248 

                   
10 

                   
258  

0  
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Dr A 
Davies 

Accountable 
Officer 

 2.5-5   -  20-25   
              
251 

                 
53 

                   
304  

0  

Pension costs 

The pension entitlement above is the total pension entitlement for each Director, is not split 
across other organisations and may have been partly accrued in a non-senior manager capacity. 

The CETV value doesn’t show on reaching pensionable age. 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website. 

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other 
bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the schemes are accounted as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body in 
participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FreM) requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. 

An outline of these follows: 

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous 
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period and 
is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021 updated to 31 March 2022 with 
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summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury has also 
been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which 
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year 
ending 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 
20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the scheme relative 
to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the government announced 
a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits 
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud Case. 

The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control 
element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the 
discrimination will be included in this process. Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) valuation directions will set out the 
technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process. The Government has also 
confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced in 
2018). 

The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives 
and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the 
aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial 
valuations. 
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Cash equivalent transfer values (CETV) 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued 
are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the 
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  

The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
membership of the pension scheme. This may be for more than just their service in a senior capacity to which 
disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table).  

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional 
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own costs. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute 
and Faculty of Actuaries. 

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued 
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from 
another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to 
audit) 

There was no compensation for loss of office in 2021/22. 

Payments to past members (subject to audit) 

There were no payments to past members in 2021/22. 
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Pay multiples (subject to audit) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director / member in their organisation against the 25th percentile, median and 75th 
percentile of remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  

Total remuneration is further broken down to show the relationship between the highest paid director's salary 
component of their total remuneration against the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile of salary 
components of the organisation’s workforce. 

The relationship to the remuneration of the organisation's workforce is disclosed in the below table. 

Year 

75th 
percentile 
total 
remuneration 
ratio 

75th 
percentile 
salary 
ratio 

Median total 
remuneration 
ratio 

Median 
salary 
ratio 

25th 
percentile 
total 
remuneration 
ratio 

25th 
percentile 
salary 
ratio 

2021/22 4.42 4.42 3.76 3.76 2.63 2.63 

2020/21     4.13 4.13     

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid member of the Governing Body in NHS Warrington CCG in 
2021/22 was £170,000 - £175,000.  (2020/21 £170,000 - £175,000). This was 3.76 times (2020/21 4.13 times) 
the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £45,839 (2020/21 £42,121). In 2021/22 no employees 
received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid member of the Governing Body. Total remuneration includes 
salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, 
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

As at 31 March 2022, remuneration ranged from £5,000-£10,000 salary range to £170,000 - £175,000 salary 
range (0% change against 2020/21: £5,000 - £10,000 to £170,000 - £175,000) based on annualised, full-time 
equivalent remuneration of all staff (including temporary and agency staff). Total remuneration includes salary, 
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non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include 
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. There were no non-
consolidated performance-related pay or benefits-in-kind paid during 2021/22 (2020/21: nil). 

The remuneration of the employee at the 75th percentile, median and 25th percentile is set out below: 

  
75th 
percentile 

Median 
25th 
percentile 

2021/22 39,027 45,839 65,664 

The calculation of the ratio between the remuneration of the highest paid director and the 25th percentile, 
median, and 75th percentile remuneration of the workforce is based on full time equivalent employees in post at 
31 March 2022 on an annualised basis. This includes staff that are paid through the payroll system and agency 
workers. As the CCG is not party to the actual amount earned by agency workers, an estimate of their salary 
based upon the charge out rate from the agency on an annualised basis using 220 working days, has been 
included for this calculation.  

The median remuneration is the total remuneration of each staff member at mid-point of their respective salary 
range, excluding the highest paid Director, and ranked for the purpose of this exercise. A median will not be 
significantly affected by exceptional salaries (large or small) that may influence an average (mean) calculation – 
hence it is more transparent in highlighting whether a Director is being paid significantly more than the middle 
(ranked) staff member’s remuneration within the organisation.       
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Our people are our most valuable assets, and our staff remain at the centre of what we do. 
During the year we have strengthened our staff engagement processes to support staff wellbeing 
as staff have continued to work from home in the main, although we were pleased to be able to 
reopen our offices in early 2022 in line with national guidance. 

To support staff, we have continued to undertake regular one-to-one Health and Wellbeing conversations in 
addition to the working from home Risk Assessments. This ensured that staff were provided with support and 
that adjustments could be made where required.  

A virtual whole CCG staff brief takes place weekly, led by the Clinical Chief Officer, where staff receive an update 
from the Integrated Management Team, in addition to the latest information regarding the transition to the 
Integrated Care Board and team updates. 

A weekly staff e-bulletin is also produced to keep everyone informed and includes the Integrated Management 
Team update and key updates in terms of policies, guidelines and other key information. The CCG monthly 
development sessions have continued to take place and have been focussed on supporting staff during the 
transition to the Integrated Care Board. 

We continue to gauge the views of our staff via the regular We Are One, Cheshire and Merseyside Staff Surveys, 
putting in place actions in response to any concerns or issues raised by our staff. 

All staff are able to continue to work from home if they wish to do so, and have been provided with IT equipment 
and other support as identified through the risk assessments and health and wellbeing conversations. We also 
continue to offer flexible/agile working to support work life balance. 

Occupational health services are key in supporting staff when needed and all staff have access to a full range of 
occupational health support and other wellbeing packages. 

Number of senior managers 
For the number of senior managers, please see the staff composition section. 
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Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit) 
We directly employ 108 people ranging from senior managers to support staff. 

We pride ourselves on looking after our people and have a range of staff support policies, including flexible 
working and carers leave. In addition, our approach to agile/flexible working supports our staff to achieve work 
life balance. 

For a detailed breakdown on staff numbers, please see note four of the Annual Accounts at the end of this 
Annual Report. 

For information on Staff Engagement and Wellbeing, see the Staff Report. 

Staff composition  
As at 31 March 2022, our gender analysis is as follows: 

 Headcount by Gender 
  

% by Gender 

Staff Grouping Female Male Totals 
 

Female Male 

Governing Body 6 7 13 
 

46.2% 53.8% 

Other Senior Management (Band 
8C+) 

10 9 19 

 

52.6% 47.4% 

All other employees 63 13 76 
 

82.9% 17.1% 

Grand total 79 29 108 
 

73.15% 26.85% 
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Senior Staff Analysis by Band (based on staffing at 31.03.2022 - Extracted from ESR 20.04.2022) 

Pay Band Headcount 

Apprentice 0 

Band 1 0 

Band 2 0 

Band 3 2 

Band 4 3 

Band 5 14 

Band 6 17 

Band 7 22 

Band 8 - Range A 10 

Band 8 - Range B 8 

Band 8 - Range C 5 

Band 8 - Range D 4 

Band 9 1 

Medical 15 

VSM 7 

Gov Body (off payroll) 0 

Grand total 108 
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Sickness absence data 
The sickness absence data for the CCG in 2021 was whole time equivalent (WTE) days 
available of 19,079.14 and WTE days lost to sickness absence of 399.21 and average working 
days lost per employee was 4.71 which was managed through the absence management policy. 

Staff sickness absence 2021 2021 number 

Total days lost 399.21  

Total staff years 84.80  

Average working days lost 4.71  

Staff turnover percentages 

The CCG Staff Turnover Rate for 2021/22 has been calculated by dividing the total FTE Leavers 
in-year by the average FTE Staff in Post during the year. The CCG's Total FTE Leavers in year 
was 17.51. The CCG's Average FTE Staff in Post during the year was 83.85. The CCG Staff 
Turnover Rate for the year was 20.89%. 

CCG staff turnover 2021/22 2021/22 number 

Average FTE employed 2021/22 83.85  

Total FTE leavers 2021/22 17.51  

Turnover Rate 20.89% 
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Staff engagement percentages 
NHS Warrington CCG did not participate in the Civil Service People Survey or the NHS Staff 
Survey during 2021/22. 

Staff policies 
We are committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces diversity in its 
performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance requirements and 
mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its policies, procedures and processes. 
To ensure that our policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the requirements of 
The Equality Act 2010, policies are equality impact assessed during the policy development 
processes. We will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or unwarranted 
disparities and monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure that employment policies 
are fairly implemented. 

We are committed to ensuring that staff receive appropriate awareness training in equality and diversity to 
undertake their role. Equality and diversity training is mandatory for all staff and is appropriate for the duties that 
they are required to undertake. 

We operate a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on individual skills, abilities and 
experience. This enables a full diversity of people to demonstrate their ability to do a job. Selection criteria 
contained within our job descriptions and person specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are 
justifiable and so do not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential for the effective performance 
of the role. We offer a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet our essential selection 
criteria. We are a ‘Disability Confident Committed’ employer. We are committed to making reasonable 
adjustments in the workplace, including appropriate training, to support the continuation of employment. 

We strive to enable all staff to achieve their full potential in an environment of dignity and mutual respect. This is 
underpinned by ensuring that every employee is annually appraised in a Performance Development Review 
(PDR). 
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Regardless of the challenges of the past two years, we have continued to strive to encourage all employees to 
develop the skills and abilities they require to carry out their current and any likely future role in the organisation. 

Policies applied during the year 

All operational polices were applied during the year, these include: 

• Annual leave 

• Managing absence 

• Maternity leave 

• Grievance 

• Disciplinary 

• Freedom to Speak Up (whistleblowing) 

No formal action in line with HR polices was applied during the year. 

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements 
In compliance with the above Regulations the following information is provided:  

Number of your employees who 
were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period 

Full time equivalent number 

0 0 
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Other employee matters 
We are wholly supportive of partnership working and as such we are an active participant in the 
Staff Partnership Forum facilitated by NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support 
Unit (MLCSU). 

We utilise this forum as a vehicle and mechanism to support proactive staff engagement, consultation and, 
where appropriate, negotiation. 

We do not employ anyone who undertakes relevant union official duties as outlined in the Trade Union (TU) 
Facility Time Publication Requirements Regulations 2017 and therefore no time is released from this employer in 
relation to official duties.  

We liaise and work with MLCSU TU representatives and area/regional representatives from those recognised 
unions whose time will be recorded with their employing authority. 

Expenditure on consultancy 
There was no expenditure on consultancy during 2021/22. 
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Off-payroll engagements 
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than six months 

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2022 for more than £245 per day and that last longer than six 
months: 

  Main 
department 

Agencies ALBs 

No. of existing engagements as at 31 March 2022 0 0 0 

Of which...       

No. that have existed for less than one year at time 
of reporting. 

0 0 0 

No. that have existed for between one and two 
years at time of reporting. 

0 0 0 

No. that have existed for between two and three 
years at time of reporting. 

0 0 0 

No. that have existed for between three and four 
years at time of reporting. 

0 0 0 

No. that have existed for four or more years at time 
of reporting. 

0 0 0 
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Table 2: New off-payroll engagements 

Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all new off-payroll 
engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, for more 
than £245 per day and that last for longer than six months: 

  Main 
department 

Agencies ALBs 

No. of new engagements, or those that reached 
six months in duration, between 1 April 2021 
and 31 March 2022 

0 0 0 

Of which...       

No. assessed as caught by IR35 0 0 0 

No. assessed as not caught by IR35 0 0 0 

No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to 
department) and are on the departmental 
payroll 

0 0 0 

No. of engagements reassessed for 
consistency / assurance purposes during the 
year. 

0 0 0 

No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 
status following the consistency review. 

0 0 0 
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Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022. 

  Main 
department 

Agencies ALBs 

No. of off-payroll engagements of board 
members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, during the 
financial year. (1) 

0 0 0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-
payroll that have been deemed “board 
members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the 
financial year. (2) 

12 0 0 

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 
(subject to audit) 
Table 1 – Exit packages 

There were no exit packages in 2021/22. 

Table 2 – Analysis of other departures 

There were no other departures in 2021/22.  
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Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit) 

 

Dr Andrew Davies 
Accountable Officer 
NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 
22 June 2022 

NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

2. Employee benefits and staff numbers

2.1.1 Employee benefits

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 1,513 - 1,513 2,064 41 2,106 3,577 41

Social security costs 329 - 329 220 - 220 549 -

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 539 - 539 181 - 181 720 -

Apprenticeship Levy 10 - 10 - - - 10 -

Termination benefits - - - 8 - 8 8 -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,391 - 2,391 2,472 41 2,514 4,864 41

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) - - - - - - - -

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 2,391 - 2,391 2,472 41 2,514 4,864 41

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - - - - - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 2,391 - 2,391 2,472 41 2,514 4,864 41

2.1.2 Employee benefits

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 1,419 - 1,419 2,514 - 2,514 3,933 -

Social security costs 283 - 283 245 - 245 528 -

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 441 - 441 215 - 215 655 -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,143 - 2,143 2,974 - 2,974 5,117 -

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) - - - - - - - -

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 2,143 - 2,143 2,974 - 2,974 5,117 -

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - - - - - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 2,143 - 2,143 2,974 - 2,974 5,117 -

Total

TotalAdmin Programme

Admin Programme
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Report 
NHS Warrington CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit 
Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees 
and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this Annual Report. An audit 
certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report. 
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Entity name: NHS WARRINGTON CCG

This year 2021-22

Last year 2020-21

This year ended 31-March-2022

Last year ended 31-March-2021

This year commencing: 01-April-2021

Last year commencing: 01-April-2020
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2022

2021-22 2020-21

Note £'000 £'000

Staff costs 2 4,905 5,117

Purchase of goods and services 4 381,477 364,864

Depreciation and impairment charges 4 110 146

Other Operating Expenditure 4 122 108

Total operating expenditure 386,614 370,235

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 386,614 370,235
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2022

2021-22 2020-21

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 232 289

Intangible assets 14 4 57

Total non-current assets 236 345

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 8 2,274 4,979

Cash and cash equivalents 9 53 49

Total current assets 2,327 5,028

Total assets 2,563 5,373

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 (39,421) (38,897)

Total current liabilities (39,421) (38,897)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (36,858) (33,524)

Assets less Liabilities (36,859) (33,524)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (36,859) (33,524)

Total taxpayers' equity: (36,859) (33,524)

The notes on pages 2 to 16 form part of this statement

Dr Andrew Davies

Clinical Chief Accountable Officer

The financial statements were approved by the Governing Body on 15th June and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2022 General fund

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22

Balance at 01 April 2021 (33,524) (33,524)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2021 (33,524) (33,524)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (386,614) (386,614)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year (386,614) (386,614)

Net funding 383,279 383,279

Balance at 31 March 2022 (36,859) (36,859)

General fund

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Balance at 01 April 2020 (27,337) (27,337)

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies 0 0

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2021 (27,337) (27,337)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Net operating costs for the financial year (370,235) (370,235)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (370,235) (370,235)

Net funding 364,048 364,048

Balance at 31 March 2021 (33,524) (33,524)

The notes on pages 2 to 16 form part of this statement
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2022

2021-22 2020-21

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (386,614) (370,235)

Depreciation and amortisation 4 110 146

decrease in trade & other receivables 9 2,705 (442)

Increase in trade & other payables 11 524 6,649

Provisions utilised 0 (151)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (383,275) (364,033)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 0 (18)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 (18)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (383,275) (364,051)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 383,279 364,048

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 383,279 364,048

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 4 (3)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 49 52

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 53 49

Notes 1 to 16  form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements  
 
1 Accounting Policies 
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG's) shall meet 
the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual (GAM) issued by the Department of Health and 
Social Care (DHSC). Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the GAM 2021-22 issued by the DHSC. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCG's, as determined by 
HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the GAM  permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the 
CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the accounts. 
1.1 Going Concern 
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Health and Social Care Bill was introduced 
to the House of Commons on 6th July 2021 this proposed legislation that would lead to the restructuring of the 
NHS and the abolition of CCGs.the services undertaken and commissioned by the CCG, together with the 
assets, liabilities and staff will be transferred to a new organisation NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated 
Care Board. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a 
service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published 
documents. Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided 
(using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 
concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements 
are prepared on the going concern basis as at 31 March 2022 
1.2 Accounting Convention 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 
1.3 Joint arrangements  
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"Arrangements over which the CCG has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint 
arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement 
is either a joint operation or a joint venture. 
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where  the CCG is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts." 
1.4 Pooled Budgets 
"The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Halton Borough Council  in accordance with 
section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled for the provision of Adult's Learning 
Disability, Mental Health, Community Support Services and the Better Care Fund. The pooled budget note in the 
accounts provides details of the income and expenditure. 
The pool is hosted by Halton Borough Council The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget 
agreement, this is shown on Note 14 of the Accounts." 
1.5 Operating Segments 
The CCG considers that it only has one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services. 
1.6 Revenue 
"In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. 
These are as follows: 
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the CCG will not disclose information regarding performance obligations 
part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less, 
• The CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient 
offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the 
performance completed to date. 
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires 
the CCG to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application. 
The main source of funding for the CCG is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general 
fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received. 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by 
transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated 
to that performance obligation. 
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Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that 
income is deferred. 
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. 
The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service 
are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are 
paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense 
are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded." 
1.7 Employee Benefits 
1,7,1 Short-term Employee Benefits 
"Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, 
are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not 
yet taken. 
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period." 
1.7.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 
"Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are 
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in 
these accounts represents the contributions payable for the year. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year. 
Following the government's introduction of automatic pension enrolment, the CCG joined the government-
operated National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) pension scheme in July 2017. Since July 2017, a minority 
of CCG employees (less than 5%) have joined the scheme. As a defined contribution scheme, the cost to the 
CCG of participating in the NEST scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period." 
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1.7.3 Other Expenses 
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been 
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 
1.8 Grants Payable 
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific 
period, the CCG recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are 
accounted for on an accruals basis. 
1.9 Property, Plant & Equipment 
1.9.1 Recognition 
 "Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the CCG; 
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more 
than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 
·               Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective 
of their individual or collective cost. 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives." 
1.9.2 Measurement 
"All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to 
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in 
existing use.  Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair 
value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date. 
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Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different 
from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are 
determined as follows: 
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and, 
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost. 
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses 
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation 
commences when they are brought into use. 
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational 
use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or 
both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for 
the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of 
the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic 
value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that 
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from 
a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the 
revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure." 
1.9.3 Subsequent Expenditure 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost 
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is 
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 
1.10 Intangible Assets 
1.10.1 Recognition 
"Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately 
from the rest of the CCG's business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised 
only: 
·          When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the CCG; 
·          Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and, 
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·                Where the cost is at least £5,000. 
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for 
example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but 
is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 
·                The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use; 
·                The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
·                The ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 
·                How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential; 
·                The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset 
and sell or use it; and, the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development." 
 
1.10.2 Measurement 
"Intangible assets acquired separately are intially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for 
internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria 
above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is 
recognised in the period in which it is incurred. 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active 
market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where 
the asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing 
effects of increases in development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated 
in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment." 
1.10.3 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 
 "Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated. 
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated 
useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential 
from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated 
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useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a 
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful life. 
At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and 
equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an 
impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss 
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually. 
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as 
an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the 
asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit 
are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been 
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to 
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve." 
1.11 Leases 
 Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
1.11.1 The CCG as Lessee 
 "Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the 
lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for 
the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in calculating the CCG’s surplus/deficit. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually 
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases." 
1.12 Cash & Cash Equivalents 
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"Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management." 
1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs 
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS 
Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. 
Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with CCG. 
1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 
The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 
1.15 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme 
 "The Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport 
CO2 emissions. The CCG is registered with the CRC scheme, and is therefore required to surrender to the 
Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 it emits during the financial year. A liability and related 
expense is recognised in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are made. 
The carrying amount of the liability at the financial year end will therefore reflect the CO2 emissions that have 
been made during that financial year, less the allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial 
year in respect of that financial year. 
The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in settling the obligation. This will be the cost 
of the number of allowances required to settle the obligation. 
Allowances acquired under the scheme are recognised as intangible assets." 
1.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 "A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will 
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be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A 
contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their 
present value." 
1.17 Financial Assets 
"Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the 
case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
·                Financial assets at amortised cost; 
·                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and; 
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as 
set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition." 
1.18.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by collecting contractual cash flows  and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This 
includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 
1.18.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 
1.18.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
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Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.  This includes derivatives and financial assets 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 
1.19 Impairment 
"For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except 
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract 
assets, the CCG recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset. 
The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss 
allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 
2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1). 
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments 
against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and 
Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The CCG therefore does not 
recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally DHSC provides 
a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the CCG does not 
recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at 
the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any 
adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss." 
1.20 Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired. 
1.20.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 
"Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and, 
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The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets." 
1.20.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the CCG’s 
surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability. 
1.20.3 Other Financial Liabilities 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from DHSC, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 
1.21 Value Added Tax 
 Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
1.23 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the CCG's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, 
estimates and assumptions.  These are regularly reviewed. 
1.24 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
"The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2021-22. 
These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 
2022/23, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases – IFRS 16 Leases has been deferred until 1 April 2022, but CCGs will still need to provide 
adequate disclosure on the impact of the new standard.  HM Treasury have issued application guidance which 
will assist entities in assessing the impact and this can be found at 
IFRS_16_Application_Guidance_December_2020.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk). 
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IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and 
other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2022.  The standard 
provides a single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement 
of financial position for most leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients 
explained below. For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the 
remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For 
lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely 
unchanged. 
 
IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The CCG will apply this definition to 
new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts 
contain a lease. 
 
On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the CCG will apply the standard retrospectively without restatement and 
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at 
that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying 
asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments 
discounted on transition at the CCG’s incremental borrowing rate. The CCG’s incremental borrowing rate will be 
a rate defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of use asset will be measured 
equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. No adjustments will be made on 1 
April 2022 for existing finance leases. 
 
For leases commencing in 2022/23, the CCG will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term 
leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets 
will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the 
lease term. 
The CCG has completed an assessment of the impact of the standard should it have been adopted in 2021-22, 
reviewing all leases and contracts to ascertain if they do contain a lease.  There is one lease which would fall 
within the scope of IFRS 16, the CCG's Headquarers at Lakeside Warrington. 
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 
Standard is not yet adopted by the FReM which is expected to be April 2023: early adoption is not therefore 
permitted." 
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

2. Employee benefits and staff numbers

2.1.1 Employee benefits 2021-22

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total Number Number Number

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,577 41 3,618

Social security costs 549 0 549

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 720 0 720

Apprenticeship Levy 10 0 10

Termination benefits 8 0 8

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,864 41 4,905 82.98 4.68 87.66

 Exit packages agreed in the financial year Number Value

£'000

1 8

2.1.2 Employee benefits 2020-21

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total Number Number Number

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,933 0 3,933

Social security costs 528 0 528

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 655 0 655

Gross employee benefits expenditure 5,117 0 5,117 88.92 0.00 88.92

Total

Total
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22 
 
PENSION COSTS  
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their 
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a 
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An 
outline of these follows: 
 
a) Accounting valuation 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous 
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, 
and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with 
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also 
been used. 
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The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which 
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
 
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The 
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.  
 
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set 
following the 2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due 
to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.  
 
HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set out the 
technical detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process.  Following these 
directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost control element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS 
Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member contributions are required.  The 2016 
valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-
scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports. 
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

4. Operating expenses

2021-22 2020-21

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,884 2,511

Services from foundation trusts 213,592 212,447

Services from other NHS trusts 18,758 18,055

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 64,481 52,071

Purchase of social care 10,088 4,688

Prescribing costs 35,811 37,088

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 32,402 29,037

Supplies and services – clinical - 13

Supplies and services – general 1,307 4,016

Consultancy services - 3

Establishment 487 2,111

Transport - 66

Premises 1,972 2,014

Audit fees 64 61

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Other services 28 16

Other professional fees 374 498

Legal fees 152 29

Education, training and conferences 77 140

 Total Purchase of goods and services 381,477 364,864

Depreciation and impairment charges

Depreciation 57 123

Amortisation 53 23

Total Depreciation and impairment charges 110 146

Other Operating Expenditure

Chair and Non Executive Members 122 108

Grants to Other bodies - -

Total Other Operating Expenditure 122 108

Total operating expenditure 381,709 365,118

Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Services are provided by MIAA ( hosted by Liverpool University Hospitals Foundation Trust

The Cost shown in Audit Fees relate to our External audit Fees. In accordance with SI 2008 no 489. the Companies ( Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability

Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its auditors provides for a limitation of the auditors liability the principal terms

of this limitation must be disclosed. The CCG's contact with its external auditor with the absolute liability of both parties being capped at 2 miliion ( 2020-21 2 million) 

This is in line with the Standard Consultancy one approach and the external auditors standard terms and conditions. The Audit fees are shown gross of Vat

Included within Other Audit fees is the Mental Health Investment Standard Audit Fee
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

5.0 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 8,928 105,510 8,710 90,179

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 8,571 100,456 8,276 81,936

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 96.00% 95.21% 95.02% 90.86%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 502 245,368 1,181 238,723

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 488 242,488 1,154 236,983

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 97.21% 98.83% 97.71% 99.27%
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

6. Operating Leases

6.1.1 As lessee

The Majority of Leases in 2020-21 related to Payments to NHS property Services 

and Community Health partnerships. With the introduction of IFRS16 as Halton 

CCG doesn’t have any leases we have now coded these Invoices to Premises 

which is the appropriate place for these transactions

6.1.2 2021-22 2020-21

Buildings Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 125 1,318 3 1,321

Total 125 1,318 3 1,321

2021-22 2020-21

6.1.3

Buildings Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 65 - 3 3

Total 65 - 3 3
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

7 Property, plant and equipment

2021-22

Buildings excluding 

dwellings

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2021 356 118 20 494

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2022 356 118 20 494

Depreciation 01 April 2021 70 115 20 205

Charged during the year 53 4 - 57

Depreciation at 31 March 2022 123 119 20 261

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022 233 (1) (0) 232

Purchased 233 (1) (0) 232

Total at 31 March 2022 233 (1) (0) 232

Asset financing:

Owned - (1) (0) (1)

Held on finance lease 233 - - 233

Total at 31 March 2022 233 (1) (0) 232

Economic Lives Minimum Life (years) Maximum Life Years

Buildings excluding dwellings 0 2

Information technology 0 1

Furniture & fittings 0 1
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

8 Intangible non-current assets

2021-22

Computer Software: 

Purchased Total 

£'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2021 231 231

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2022 231 231

Amortisation 01 April 2021 174 174

Charged during the year 53 53

Amortisation At 31 March 2022 227 227

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022 4 4

Purchased 4 4

Total at 31 March 2022 4 4

Economic Lives Maximum Life Years Minimum Life (years)

Computer software: purchased 0 1
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

9.1  Trade and other receivables Current Current

2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,110 3,273

NHS prepayments - 15

NHS accrued income 30 55

NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) - 155

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 895 687

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 127 745

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 80 -

VAT 32 47

Other receivables and accruals - 2

Total Trade & other receivables 2,274 4,979

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC Group 

Bodies

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC Group 

Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

By up to three months 380 18 441 334

By three to six months 5 13 357 -

By more than six months 8 664 369 199

Total 393 695 1,167 533

Of the Receivables amount above £690,150 has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial position date

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables as at 31 March 2021-22

After reviewing the outstanding debt it was deemed unecessary to provide for an expected credit loss
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

10 Cash and cash equivalents

2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2021 49 52

Net change in year 4 (3)

Balance at 31 March 2022 53 49

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 53 49

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 53 49

Balance at 31 March 2022 53 49
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

Current Current

2021-22 2020-21

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 1,814 1,687

NHS accruals 4,181 4,586

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 2,831 6,536

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 10,753 6,281

Social security costs 64 67

Tax 60 78

Other payables and accruals 19,718 19,663

Total Trade & Other Payables 39,421 38,897

Total current and non-current 39,421 38,897

Other payables include £420k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021 £336k)

11 Trade and other payables
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

12 Financial instruments cont'd

12.1 Financial assets

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

2021-22

£'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 1,123

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 313

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 678

Cash and cash equivalents 53

Total at 31 March 2022 2,167

12.2 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

2021-22

£'000

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 2,022

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 4,352

Trade and other payables with external bodies 32,922

Total at 31 March 2022 39,296
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

13 Operating segments

The CCG considers that is only has one operating segment, the commissioning of Healthcare Services

14. Events after the Reporting Period

On the 12 February 2021, the Government issued a White paper 

proposing legislation that would lead to the restructuring of the NHS 

and the abolition of CCG's. It is indended that this abolition occurs 

on 30 June 2022. in the white paper and subsequent guidance, the 

Government has made an employment committment to staff below 

Board level that their jobs are secure. Certain Board level members 

of staff are not covered by the employment guarantee and have 

been notified that there is a risk of redundancy. Management have 

confirmed, in accordance with National Policy and guidance, that it 

is intended to retain talent within the system and therefore theses 

Board level staff will transfer to NHS Cheshire and Merseyside 

Integrated  Care Board on 1 July 2022 and suitable alternative 

employment will be sought within the system and the NHS. The 

clinical commisssion group considers that no legal or constructive 

obligation was created that mght require a provision or contingent 

liability to be include or disclosed in the financial statements.
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15 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

15.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement
Parties to the 

arrangement

Description of 

principal 

activities

Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Better Care Fund

Warrington CCG 

and Warrington 

Borough Council

Integration of 

Health & Social 

Care

0 0 0 21267 0 0 0 20979

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLYAmounts recognised in Entities books ONLY
2021-22 2020-21



NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

224 | Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

• Welcome 

• Highlights and 
Achievements 
of the Year 

• Performance 
Report 

• Accountability 
Report 

• Governance 
Statement  

• Remuneration 
Report 

• Staff Report 

• Parliamentary 
Accountability 
and Audit 
Report 

• Annual 
Accounts 

• Acronyms 

Annual Report  
2021/22 
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16 Related party transactions

Related Party Name ROLE IN CCG ROLE IN RELATED PARTY Related Party Name

Payments to Related Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Dr Andrew Davies Clinical Chief Officer Clinical Chief Officer NHS Halton CCG 3,677 (3,235) 1,047 (320) 

Dr Andrew Davies Clinical Chief Officer

Wife is employed as ward Sister at 

Fairfield independent hospital.  

Ongoing interest previously 

declared on paper system. Fairfield Independent Hospital 239 nil nil nil

Mr David Cooper Chief Finance Officer Chief Finance Officer NHS Halton CCG 3,677 (3,235) 1,047 (320) 

Dr Ian Watson Chair
Dermatology GP with special 

interest

Bridgewater Community Healthcare 

NHS FT 24,524 nil 1,213 nil

Dr Ian Watson
Chair

GP Partner Fearnhead Cross Medical Centre
2,156 nil nil nil

Gareth Hall Lay Member
Lay member/ Audit Chair and 

Conflicts of interest Guardian
NHS Halton CCG

3,677 -3,235 1,047 -320

Dr Lalit Sakhi Governing Body GP Trainer Go To Doctors Ltd 151 0 4 0

Dr Lalit Sakhi Governing Body GP

Honorary contract to provide long 

covid services for patients  across 

the trust

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS 

foundation trust 
141,316 0 2,058 0

Dr Lalit Sakhi Governing Body GP
Practice is a member of a 

Warrington pcn
Centre and west warrington PCN

65 nil 33 nil

Dr Aparna Rao Governing Body GP GP Partner Brookfield Surgery 1,215 0 44 0

Dr Sangeetha Steevart Velayutham CCG Clinical Lead Central West Warrington PCN 65 nil 33 nil

Michelle Creed Chief Nurse Chief Nurse NHS Halton CCG 3,677 -3,235 1,047 -320

D Quinlan Lay Member CCG Audit Committee Lay Member NHS Wirral CCG 902 -1,079 657 -171

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party, during the year Halton CCG had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the department is regarded as the parent department

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
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NHS WARRINGTON CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22

16 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21

Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 386,681 382,348 370,271 370,235

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - -

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 386,681 382,348 370,271 370,235

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - -

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - -

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 4,280 4,266 4,321 4,056
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A&E Accident and Emergency 

ADHD Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

AF Assurance Framework 

AHT Abusive Head Trauma 

AMHES Advancing Mental Health Equalities 
Strategy 

AGM Annual General Meeting 

AGS Annual Governance Statement 

AMR Anti Microbial Resistance 

BAME Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic 

BCHFT Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

BMA British Medical Association 

BPAS British Pregnancy Advisory Service 

CAB Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

CAS Clinical Assessment Service 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel 

CETV Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 

CHC Continuing Healthcare 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy 

CMHCP Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care 
Partnership 

COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 

COG Commissioning Oversight Group 

COVID-19 Coronavirus 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQPG Clinical Quality Focus Group 

CQUIN Commissioning Quality and Innovation 

CSDG Commissioning and Service Development 
Group 

CSG Collaborative Sustainability Group 

CT Computerised Tomography 

CTPA CT Pulmonary Angiogram 

CTRs Care and Treatment Reviews 

CUES COVID-19 Urgent Eyecare service 

DCO Designated Clinical Officer 

DES Directed Enhanced Services 

DMO Designated Medical Officer 

DNA Did not attend 

DSCRO Data Services for Commissioners Regional 
Offices 
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DSPT Data Security and Protection Toolkit 

ED Emergency Department 

EDS2 The Equality Delivery System 

eFI Electronic Frailty Index 

EIA Equality Impact Assessment 

eRS e-Referral Service 

ESR Electronic Staff Record 

EU European Union 

FIT Faecal Immunochemical Test 

FReM Financial Reporting Manual 

FTE Full time equivalent 

GAM Group Accounting Manual 

GAU Gynaecology Assessment Unit 

GNBSI Gram Negative Bloodstream Infection 

GP General Practitioner 

HCCG Halton Clinical Commissioning Group 

HMT Her Majesty’s Treasury 

HR Human Resources 

IAF Improvement and Assurance Framework 

IASAB Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board 

ICC Incident Co-ordination Centre 

ICS Integrated Care System 

ICTB Integrated Commissioning and Transformation 
Board 

IMT Integrated Management Team 

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation 

JCVI Joint Committee on Vaccination and 
Immunisation 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

IUC Integrated Urgent Care 

LD Learning Disability 

LeDeR Learning Disabilities Mortality Review 

LES Locally Enhanced Services 

LMC Local Medical Committee 

LPS Liberty Protection Safeguards 

MCA Mental Capacity Act 

MIAA Mersey Internal Audit Agency 

MLCSU Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning 
Support Unit 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding 

MRSA Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus 

MSA Mixed sex accommodation 

MSK Musculoskeletal 

NHS National Health Service 

NHSE NHS England 
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NHSE/I NHS England and Improvement 

NICE National Institute for Care and Excellence 

NIMS National Immunisation Management Service 

NWBHFT North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

OCATS Orthopaedic Clinical Assessment Treatment 
Service 

PCCC Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

PCN Primary Care Network 

PDP Personal Development Plan 

PDR Performance Development Review 

PE Pulmonary Embolism 

PIFU Patient Initiated Follow Up 

PLT Protected Learning Times 

PMO Programme Management Office 

PPE Personal Protective Equipment 

PPG Patient Participation Group 

PSED Public Sector Equality Duty 

PSIAS Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

QOF Quality and Outcomes Framework 

RAS Referral Assessment Service 

RTT Referral to Treatment Times 

SDEC Same Day Emergency Care 

SEG Staff Engagement Group 

SEND Special Educational Needs and/or Disability 

SLAM Service Level Agreement Modelling 

SMI Severe mental illness 

SOP Standard Operating Procedure 

STOMP Stopping the Over-Prescribing of 
Psychotropic Medication 

SUS Secondary Uses Services 

TU Trade union 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 1981 

UCR Urgent Community Response 

VCFSE Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social 
Enterprise 

WCCG Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group 

WDP Warrington Disability Partnership 

WHHFT Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust 

WRES Workforce Race Equality Standard 

 


